ASSOCIATION OF DIETARY INTAKES WITH RISK OF COLORECTAL CANCER: RESULTS FROM A POPULATION-BASED CASE-CONTROL STUDY IN NEWFOLKIOLAND AND LABRADOR AND ONTARIO







Association of dietary intakes with risk of colorectal cancer: results from a population-based case-control study in Newfoundland and Labrador and Ontario

by

C Zhuoyu Sun

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Medicine

Division of Community Health Science and Humanities

Faculty of Medicine

Memorial University of Newfoundland

May 2010

St. John's

Newfoundland and Labrador

Abstract

Colorestal ancore (ERC) is the second leading cause of death from cancer in mm and women combined in Canada. Research to data suggests that CRC is a result of complex, greatic-arrvironmental interactions and diet has long been required as the most important environmental fainteractions and diet has long been required as the most important the role of dietary factors in the etiology of CRC. This thesis examined the effects of dietary factors on CRC risk using data from a large population-based cause-control atualy conducted in Newfoundland and Labrader (NL) and Ontario (NN) through three otherent papers. The first two papers were based on pooled data form he two powinces assessing the effects of value energy imaccontriction and selected micromutaries on CRC, respectively. Overall, findings from these two parts of the thesis suggested that diets high in energy increases the risk, whereas diets high in fibre, carbolydrate and protein reduced the risk of CRC. Significant protective effects on CRC were also observed for eaclium, vitumin D, vitumin C, ribedflavine effects effects on CRC were also observed for aclumin, vitumin D, vitumin C, there there were effect word as conducting to untiresting that datas further indicated that the protective effects varied accounting to micromise that the states further indicated that protective effects varied accounting to micromise that datas further indicated that protective effects varied accounting to micromise that datas further indicated that protective effects varied accounting to micromise instate states further indicated that protective effects varied accounting to micromise instate datas further indicated that protective effects varied accounting to micromise instate states further indicated that protective effects varied accounting to micromise instate datas further indicated that protective effects varied accounting to micromise instate states and there indicates that the protective effects varied accounting to micromise instate states and there

levels from foods. In addition, among individual supplement users, the protective effects were more pronounced in people with lower nutrients instalk from foods. Based on the findings from the first two papers, this thesis further compared the effects of calcium, vitamic D and dairy products on the occurrence of CRC risk between two provinces. While the results were consistent in both provinces, statistical associations were only observed in the ON population. Additionality, this study also found againficant yourguitice effects between testions and vitamic D tasks. In summers based on a larve roundation with the testistic based on the constraints of the testistic based on a larve providence. case-control study, this thesis comprehensively evaluates various microautrients and macroautrients in relation to CRC. This work corroborates and adds to the existing literature in many aspects. Findings from this thesis may have important public health implications, particularly for those with lower intakes for a number of selected nutrients, who can benefit gravity from superference induces.

Acknowledgments

This research project would not have been possible without the support of many people. First, I would like to express my garitude to my supervisor, Dr. Peter Wang, who was abundantly helpful and offered invaluable assistance, support and guidance through the duration of my studies. I appreciate his wast knowledge and skill in many areas, and his assistance in writing reports (i.e., scholarship applications, manuscripts and this thesis). Moreover, I would like to thank the other members of my supervisory committee, Dr. Barbara Roebofun, Dr. Sharon Buchler and Dr. Yanqing Yi for the assistance they provided at all loces of the research poster.

Special thanks also to all my graduate friends for sharing the literature and invaluable assistance. I also wish to thank the entire Community Health and Humanities staff. Without whose cooperation and help, this work would not have been possible.

Huge thanks to my family for the support they provided me through my entire life and in particular, I must acknowledge my husband, Zhenzhong Hu. Without his love, encouragement, understanding and patience, I would not have finished this thesis.

I would also like to convey thanks to the Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Applied Health Research for providing the financial support for my graduate study.

Table of Contents

Abstract
Acknowledgments
Abbreviations
List of Tables
List of Figures IX
Chapter 1: Introduction1
1.1 Study objectives
1.2 Involvement of author in thesis
1.3 Organization of the thesis
Chapter 2: Background
2.1 Colorectal cancer: the disease
2.2 The incidence and mortality of CRC
2.3 Factors associated with CRC 8
2.3.1 Hereditary factors
2.3.2 Environmental factors 9
2.3.2.1 Diet
2.3.2.1.1 Red meat and fat
2.3.2.1.2 Vegetables, fruits and fibres
2.3.2.1.3 Total energy and macronutrients
2.3.2.1.4 Micronutrients
2.3.2.1.5 Dairy products
2.3.2.2 Smoking
2.3.2.3 Alcohol drinking
2.3.2.4 Obesity
2.3.2.5 Physical activity
Chapter 3: Research methods
3.1 Collaborative data sources
3.2 Case ascertainment
3.3 Control ascertainment
3.4 Dietary information
3.5 Epidemiologic data collection
3.6 Response rates and counts
3.7 Data analyses

3.7.1	Nutrient analyses-energy adjusted
	Descriptive analyses
3.7.3	Odds ratios estimates
3.7.4	Potential covariates definition and selection

CI	hapter 4	: 1	Results	31	8
----	----------	-----	---------	----	---

	Paper 1. Association of total energy intake and macronutrient consumption	
col	orectal cancer risk: results from a large population-based case-control stud	ty in
No	wfoundland and Labrador and Ontario	
	4.1.1 Introduction	
	4.1.2 Materials and methods	
	4.1.2.1 Selection of cases and controls	
	4.1.2.2 Dietary and epidemiologic data collection	
	4.1.2.3 Statistical analyses	42
	4.1.3 Results	
	4.1.4 Discussion	
4.2	Paper 2. Association of selected micronutrient intakes with colorectal ca	ncer risk
	ults from a large population-based case-control study in Newfoundland an	
Lak	brador and Ontario	
	4.2.1 Introduction	
	4.2.2 Materials and methods	50
	4.2.2.1 Selection of cases and controls	
	4.2.2.2 Dietary and epidemiologic data collection	
	4.2.2.3 Statistical analyses	
	4.2.3 Results	
	4.2.4 Discussion	
4.3	Paper 3. Association of calcium, vitamin D and dairy products intakes w	ith
col	orectal cancer risk: results from a large population-based case-control stud	ly in
Ne	wfoundland and Labrador and Ontario	
	4.3.1 Introduction	
	4.3.2 Materials and Methods	
	4.3.2.1 Selection of cases and controls	
	4.3.2.2 Dietary and epidemiologic data collection	
	4.3.2.3 Statistical analyses.	
	4.3.3 Results	
	4.3.4 Discussion	
Chant	ter 5: Summary	102
Chapt	er 5. Summary	
5.1	Associations between dietary factors and colorectal cancer risk	102
	Associations between dietary factors and colorectal cancer risk	

Re		

Appendices	
	Personal history questionnaire used in Newfoundland and Labrador
Appendix B.	Food frequency questionnaire used in Newfoundland and Labrador 160 Food frequency questionnaire used in Onterio

.. 107

Abbreviations

- CRC colorectal cancer
- NL Newfoundland and Labrador
- ON Ontario
- CTCC Colorectal Cancer Interdisciplinary Health Research team in Colorectal Cancer
- NFCCR Newfoundland familial colorectal cancer registry
- OFCCR Ontario familial colorectal cancer registry
- CCFR Colon Cancer Familial Registries
- ICD international classification of disease
- FHQ family history questionnaire
- PHQ personal history questionnaire
- FFQ food frequency questionnaire
- NSAID nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug
- BMI body mass index
- HRT hormone replacement therapy
- METs metabolic equivalent hours
- RDA recommended dietary allowances
- OR odds ratios
- 95%CI 95% confidence interval

List of Tables

Table 4.1.1 Selected characteristics of subjects from CRC case-control study in NL and ON
Table 4.1.2 Mean intakes of total energy, macronutrients, and alcohol among subjects from CRC case-control study in NL and ON
Table 4.1.3 Associations (adjusted OR, 95%CI) of total energy, macronutrients, and alcohol intakes with CRC risk, CRC case-control study in NL and ON
Table 4.1.4 Associations (adjusted OR, 95%CI) of percentage of energy from macronutrients and alcohol with CRC risk, CRC case-control study in NL and ON
Table 4.2.1 Selected characteristics of subjects from CRC case-control study in NL and ON
Table 4.2.2 Comparison of mean intakes of selected micronutrients between cases and controls, CRC case-control study in NL and ON
Table 4.2.3 Adjusted OR, 95%CI of CRC risk according to selected micronutrients intakes from both food and supplement sources, CRC case-control study in NL and ON
Table 4.2.4 Adjusted OR, 95%CI of CRC risk according to selected micronutrients intakes from food source only, CRC case-control study in NL and ON77
Table 4.2.5 Adjusted OR, 95%CI of CRC risk according to individual supplement use and levels of micronutrient intakes from foods, CRC case-control study in NL and ON78
Table 4.3.1 Selected characteristics of cases and controls, stratified by province, CRC case-control study in NL and ON
Table 4.3.2 Mean intakes of foods and nutrients among cases and controls, stratified by province, CRC case-control study
Table 4.3.3 Associations (adjusted OR, 95%CI) of Calcium and Vitamin D with CRC risk among cases and controls, stratified by province, CRC case-control study97
Table 4.3.4 Associations (adjusted OR, 95%CI) of dairy products intakes with CRC risk among cases and controls, stratified by province, CRC case-control study
Table 4.3.5 Adjusted OR, 95%CI of CRC risk according to level of total calcium intake and total vitamin D intake

List of Figures

Figure 1	Anatomy of the colon and rectum
Figure 2	Sample size and response rates of Newfoundland and Labrador population27
Figure 3	Sample size and response rates of Ontario population
Figure 4	Caloric-adjusted nutrient intake 30

Chapter 1: Introduction

Die his long been regarded as ose of the most important environmental factors associated with the cause of colorestal cancer $(CRC)^{12}$, particularly when an unbalanced die is combined with weight gain, physical anticityris, and such hatelihy practices as smoking and consuming a great deal of alcohol^{1,34}. Several case-control studies investigating the influence of die on the risk for CRC have demonstrated a positive association between encer risk and total energy intake¹⁶. The association betweene CRC and total energy intake is an important imposed on the interpretation of distary data.

Thus, excess intake of any of the important energy-supplying macromative components of the diet (eg. proteins, fats, carbohydrates); oual contribute to a higher risk of CRC. However, whether or not individual energy-supplying macromatives, independent of their contribution to energy indice, are related to CRC risk remains controversial. A comprehensive report from the World Cancer Research Fund and the American Institute for Cancer Research³⁷ concluded that total energy has no simple relationship with CRC risk, that the data were inconsistent for carbohydrates, ebolesterol and proteins, and has the high in stall at lossobly increase risk. Therefore, the objective of the first component in this thesis is to identify the association between CRC risk and intakes of total energy, proteins, fats, earbohydrates (specifically including cholsteror), selected fatty acids and dietary flore, and alcohol using data from algo

Consistent with the theme of dietary intake's influence on CRC, the second component of this thesis is to examine the effects of selected micronutrients on the

occurrence of CRC. Recent epidemiologic studies suggest that calcium, vitamin D, folate, and some antioxidants are protective against cancer^{11,12}, whereas iron increases risk¹⁴. Calcium and vitamin Daw protect against concentral carcinogenetic by binding free faity acids and secondary bile acids in the small intentine, thereby protecting colonic epithelial cells from matagens¹². Folder may exert a protective effect on colorestal carcinogenesis as a co-factor in the methylation of thymislylate for DNA synthesis and the production of 3-shearbourschetisticing, the charge-mathylate the DNA's 3-B6 and folder may function as coentrymes in the synthesis of parines and thymislylate for DNA^{12,12}. Canctence and vitamins A, C, and II may decrease the risk through antioxidant mechanism^{20,23}. Finally, iron may increase the risk of CRC by generating fire radicals that attack DNA admage deremoscomes^{22,35}.

Depite the biological plausibility, epidemiological studies have been inconclusive in demonstrating the nole of the above microwatrients in the etiology of CRC. Prior to 1990, epidemiological suggested that edilower risk of coloriental advensma or cancer³³. In contrast, Ryan-Hanhmun³³ recently reviewed several case-control and prospective cohort studies and some clinical trials and concluded latt the widence of calcium and vatamic D being protective against CRC was stronger. The Alpha-Teccophenel, Backeto-controlled primury spectration trial and found no interaction between alpha-scoephenel and beta carstene with respect to the incidence of CRC³⁰. After four years, results from another aduels-blind three-year introvention with introductable. Those, alpha-to-controlled primury prerestions and the stress of the scoephenel and beta carstene with respect to be incidence of CRC³⁰. After four years, results from another aduels-blind three-year introvention with introductable. Those, alpha-to-control to prime years the scoephenel aduels to the scoephenel and beta carstene with respect to the incidence of CRC³⁰. After four years, results from another aduels-blind three-year introvention with introductable. Those years the scoephenel aduels the scoephenel and beta carstene with respect to the incidence of CRC³⁰.

selenium 101 microg) suggested a protective role of antioxidants on new adenoma formation. No effect was detected on the growth of adenomas and polyps²⁷.

There may be a number of reasons for these inconsistencies between studies, such as the potential selection bias and possibly recall bias that could have played a larger role in retrospective studies. If some micromatrients are beeneficial, whether or not diet alone can finish enough microaritients to have a substantially protective effect on CRC is a question. With the increasing frequency of using individual or multivitamin supplements by the Canadian population, whether or not supplement could exert a protective effect against CRC becomes a excital question. Therefore, the second component of this study examines potential relationships between selected micromatrients and the risk of CRC in population resulting in two Canadian provinces.

Based on the results from the second page we found protective effects of calcium and vitamin D on CRC risk. Dairy products contains large anneast of calcium and Witamin D hrough fortification. Whether we dairy products are protective again CRC is a question. Again, if dairy product insteas are associated with a lower risk of CRC, whether these associations can be explained by components of calcium and vitamin D. Recently, a prospective study by Jarvis net et al. ²⁸ indicated that individuals with high commungtion of milk have a rubuced risk of concease; however, the association does not appear to be due to instates of calcium and vitamin D. In contrast, it has been shown that calcium, appealarji in combinations as found in mill, effectively precipitate luminal crotoxius interfacture of the institution extension.²⁰

Given the high incidence rate of CRC in NL and ON, it is of great public health

importance to compare differences of these associations between the two provinces. To our knowledge, little lass been done in this area. Therefore, the purpose of third component of this study is to assess the effects of calcium, vitamin D and dairy products on the occurrence of CRC and compare differences of these associations between two provinces.

1.1 Study objectives

 To identify an association between CRC risk and intakes of total energy, proteins, fas, carbshydrates (specifically including cholesterol, selected farty acids and dietary fibre), and alcohol using data from a large population-based case-control study conducted in NL and ON.

 To examine the relationships between selected micronutrients (calcium, iron, retinol, vitamin C, vitamin D, alpha-tocopherol, thiamin, riboflavin, vitamin B6, vitamin B12, and folate) and the risk of CRC in population residing in two provinces.

 To assess the effects of calcium, vitamin D and dairy products in the occurrence of CRC and compare differences of these associations between two provinces.

1.2 Involvement of author in thesis

The author was not involved in the conceptualization or implementation of the familial colorectal cancer registries used in this thesis. Doe, John McLaughlin and Steven Gallinger were the principal lavestigators of the Ontario component of this study; Drs. H. Ban Yoanghushand and Pat Parfrey were the Principal Investigators of the Newfoundiand component. Dr. Peter Wang was the principal investigator for the component project of "Exploration of Risk Tacker, https://principal.investigators.com/ Modifiers²: Peter Todd Campbell cleaned and converted the previously unused epidemiologic questionnaire data from New foundland to conform to the Ostario data formats: The author played a substantial nole in conceptualizing and conducting the studies presented in this thesis. The author was responsible for the statistical analyses and presentation of the funding from this thesis.

1.3 Organization of the thesis

This thesis is divided into free chapters. Chapter 1 is an overall introduction to the study. Chapter 2 reviews the incidence and mortality of CRC and associated factors. Chapter 3 reviews in dividit in cressench methods employed in this study. Chapter 4 incident three results sections. Each section is written in a manacript format, including its own *Introduction, Methods, Results, and Discussion section.* Some repetition of Methods was unavoidable. Chapter 5 amment the key findings and discusses the implications of the study results and future research.

Chapter 2: Background

2.1 Colorectal cancer: the disease

Colorectal cancer (CRC) includes cancerous growths in the colon, rectum and appendix. The colon is the first four to five feet of the large intestine. The colon consists of the eccean, the ascending colon, the transverse colon, the descending colon, and the sigmoid colon (Figure 1). The main function of the colon is to absorb water and nutrients from food. The rectum is the last six to tem inches of the digestive tract. Its main function is to store water material neits to texterior.

CRC is an age-related disease with half of all cases occurring in individuals aged over 60 years¹¹. The disease is believed to arise from beingin tunnors called adeomatous polyps (adenomas). About 1-10% of adeomata go on to develop into invasive cancer³¹. In general, the diagnosis of CRC is through colonococyp and therapy is usually through surgery which may be followed by chemotherapy.

Figure 1: Anatomy of the colon and rectum33



Source: http://www.fitcare.net/category/cancer/

2.2 The incidence and mortality of CRC

With 655,000 deaths worldwide per year, CRC is the third most common form of cancer and the third leading cause of cancer-related death in the Western world¹¹⁻¹³, incidence and mortality rates vary widely throughout the world. High rates are characteristic of developed countries in North America, nothern and western Encourse, the United Kingdom, Australia, and New Zealand, where meat communition is characteristically high and cereal consumption is low¹⁰. The lowest rates in the world are found in Asia, Africa, and most of Latin America, where there is a high per capita communition of fibrerich vegatables and starch carbohydrates¹⁰. This 30-field difference in insidence underscores the impertance of environmental factors in indicating is cancer.

In Canada, CRC is the second leading cause of death from causer in new and women combined. In 2009, an estimated 22,000 Canadians were diagnosed with CRC and 9100 dist of CPT. A current rate, one in 14 men is expected to develop CRC under his lifetime and one in 27 will die of it; one in 15 women is expected to develop CRC during her lifetime and one in 31 will die of it?. The incidence and mortality rates increase precipitosally with age in both sexes. In 2009 it was estimated but more than half of all newly diagnosed CRC would occur among Canadians ago 70 years or oble²⁷. The estimated age-standardized incidence rates of CRC were 62 per 100,000 mm and 41 per 100,000 among womes, and the estimated age-standardized mortality rates were 102000 mm of 16 per 10,000 vomen in 2009.

There are substantial inter-provincial incidence rate variations in Canada. The highest CRC incidence rates are seen among men in Newfoundland and Labrador (NL) with a rate of 87 per 100,000, and among women in Prince Edward Island, Nova Scotia and NL (incidence rates of 52 per 100,000 in NL famales). The lowest rates for both sexes are in British Columbia ³⁸, Ostario (ON) ranks in the middle among Canadian provinces at rates of 60 per 100,000 among men and 44 per 100,000 among women³⁰.

2.3 Factors associated with CRC

Although high rates of the disease in NL may be partly explained by a higher prevalence of families with a predisposition to hereditary colon cancer³⁹, environmental factors may be an important component of CRC risk^{1,4643}.

2.3.1 Hereditary factors

About 15% of people who develop CRC have disease that is familia⁴⁴. Those with a family history of CRC or adenomatous polyops in any first-degree relative younger than age 60, or in two or more first-degree relatives at any age are considered at increased risk for the disease. Among familial cases, a small peoperion is attributed to the major CRC predisposition syndromes, familial adexematous polyposis (FAP), and hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HINPCC).

FAF is a disease where people typically develop hundreds of polypis in their colon and restum. Usually this occurs between the ages of five and 40. FAF is caused by mutations in the dedomnistic polypoiss (cd. RCP) game. In people with FAF, this game is inoperative, leading to the growth of hundreds of polypis in the colon and rectum. Over time, game mutations in the cells of the polypic same the polypis to become cancerous¹⁴. FAP occurs in less them is of all CRC sames¹⁴.

HNPCC accounts for 1% to 3% of all CRCs46. This syndrome also develops when

people are relatively young. These people have polyps, but they only have a few, not hundreds as in FAP. This syndrome is characterized by early enset of CRC with microstatellite instability. Microstatellitie instability is a molecular marker for DNA minmatch repair deficiency. Mutations in mismatch repair genes lead to a lifetime colon cancer risk of 85% in these patients. Carcinoma of the endometriam, ovary, and other organs also occur with increased frequency⁶⁰.

2.3.2 Environmental factors

Genetic predisposition plays a role in about 15% of CRC but most cases are sporade¹⁹. About two decades app. Doll and Peto¹, using international comparison of exposure prevalences and disease rates, estimated that up to 90% of colon cancers may have a primary distruct contribution. A none recence that up either dhat had word PMs of CRC can be prevented by changes in diet and lifestyle¹³. Migrant studies of first- and secondgeneration Japanese immigrants to the United States show that their mortality from colon cancer is closer to the United States than to Japanese rates which are 2.5 times lower⁴⁰. Similar variations are observed in European migrants to the United States and Polish migrants to Australia^{40,18}. Immigrants rapidly sequire the incidence rates of the host control stages and their compared field and the other CRC development.

Epidemiologic population studies have shown that obesity, physical inactivity, tobacco and alcohol use, total calorici intake, distary far intake, meat consumption, ethanol and cholesteroi intake may be related to an increased risk of CRC⁴⁸. Similar studies have suggested that a decreased risk of CRC is associated with increased intake of distary fibre and that protectiver effect may be related to consumption of synthetic

antioxidants, such as vitamin A, beta-carotene and ascorbic acid 49. Each of these potential risk factors will be considered individually.

2.3.2.1 Diet

Die has long been regandea as the most important environmental factor for colon cancer¹, particularly when a poor diet is combined with inappropriate weight gain, physical intervity, and such hashed by particles as sonking and consuming grant deal of alcohol^{13,4}. High instace of animal fa and/or protein and low instace of fruits and vegatables have requestedly been down to increase the risk of CRC¹⁰. However, although diet and colon cancer relationships have been statisfied extra bioschoft, is dietary factors on colon cancingenses termines surveived^{10,40}.

2.3.2.1.1 Red meat and fat

Most studies have shown a positive association between red meet consumption and the risk of CRC⁴⁴. One possible reason is that a diet high in meat tends to be low in vegetables, first, and fibre. Additionally, red meat is a major source of fat, especially startanted fat. It is thought that fat promotes large bowel cancer by increasing the levels free ionized fatty acids and anconjugated bile acids in the bowel hamen, which are irritating and twice to the surrounding epithelium ^{65,8}. Busides the nole of fat itself, the carcinogenic effect of heterocyclia amine produced during cooking of red meat has been suggested as a link thetwore rule meat and CRC⁶³.

A Meta-analysis of 13 published cohort studies determined that a daily increase in consumption of all meat or red meat by 100 g was associated with a 12% to 17% increase in the risk of CRC⁰³. However, in 2000 an expert panel workshop reviewed 30 casecontrol and 15 cohort studies conducted over largely the same period as the above metaanalysis, and the report showed that red meat was not associated with CRC risk^{22,14}. Together with more recent studies, these data indicate a modest positive association between red meat intake and CRC risk, while a significant association was found in induced opprocessed meats^{20,14}.

As with red most, solid dietary fat initiale is not strongly associated with CRC risk. ^{36,} ^{36,} despite what has been suggested in experimental analies on rats and mice^{10,0}. Results from a prospective observation of the strong strong strong strong strong strong strong strong and 1992 showed that initiales of fost fits, summated fits, and animal fat were not reliated to the risk of colone cancer³⁸. Howe *et al.* indicated no links between total dietary fat or saturated fit and CRC risk in podela individual-level data from 13 case-control and colont studies that included 5/287 CRC cases and 10,4700 controls³⁸. However, in a Swiss case-control study, Levi *et al.* find that different types of fat may lept different roles on colorestal carcinogenesis; saturated fats were related to increased risk of CRC, while monounsumturated and polyunaturated fats reduced the risk³⁸. Results from an Italian concontrol study fourth that only polyunaturated fat index area inversely associated with colone cancer.³⁶ area includies the difference of the study.

2.3.2.1.2 Vegetables, fruits and fibres

In 1971 Burkitt first proposed that high-fibre diets were associated with increased feeal built and faster rates of intestinal transit. These changes in colonic function would help to dilute out any carcinogens or tamore promoters present within the intestinal lamen while also roducing the time available for their interaction with the intestinal exittenium³⁰.

Protits, vegetables and whole grains contain a high amount of fibre. Terry *et al.* examined fruit, vegetables, and fibre intakes and the risk of CRC among Swedish women, and concluded that higher community of first was associated with a 25% reduction in CRC risk, while higher intake of cereal fibre did not lower the risk.⁴⁰. Results from a casecontrol study in the Swiss Catton of Vand Found a significant inverse relationship between total fibre intake, intake of certain specific fibre and risk of CRC. Vegetable fibre appared to be more pretextive than caller fruit or grain fibre³⁰. In contrast, in a comprehensive prospective study followed up over 16 years to casamine the role of fibre and its components on the risk of coherestal neoplasms, Fuchs *et al.* found no protective effect of a high-fibre diet against CRC or adacoms. Furthermore, no significant association were observed in initiske of cereal, find, or vegetable fibre⁴⁰.

Experimental data regarding the influence of vegetables, finits and dietary fibre on colorectal carcinogenesis are incomistent. This is likely due to a complex relationship. Grain fibre may have a different felect than finit fibre or vegetable fibre. Moreover, other components of vegetables and finits, such as vitamins and minerals, may be the factors reportible for an vedeolosi in cancer cite⁴⁰.

2.3.2.1.3 Total energy and macronutrients

CRC rates are highly correlated with economic development or "Westernization." Although several factors related to the Western lifestyle may contribute to colone cancer, a large and growing body of evidence implicates energy balance. High energy expenditure seems to decrease the risk of CRC⁴⁷, Case-control stables investigating the influence of die on the risk for CRC have demonstrated apolitic correlation between cancer risk and die on the risk for CRC have demonstrated apolitic correlation between cancer risk and

total energy intake³⁻¹⁰. Energy intake can be responsible for glycamic overload and a compensatory increase of serum insulin and the related insulin growth factor-1 (IGF-1). IGF-1 is a promoter of tumor cell growth in vitros^{8,20}, and it may expose colonic and rectal cells to a proliferative stimulum^{7,12}. Thus, diabetes has also been related to increased CRC vitros^{12,12}.

The correlation between CRC and total energy intake has an important impact on the interpretation of dietary data. Excess intake of any of the important energy-supplying macronutrient components of the diet (eg. proteins, fats, carbohydrates) could contribute to a higher risk of CRC. However, the question of whether or not individual energysupplying macronutrients, independent of their contribution to energy intake, are related to CRC risk remains controversial. A report from the Nurses' Health Study published in 1990 showed that, after adjustment for total energy intake, consumption of animal fat was associated with increased risk of CRC, but no association was found with vegetable fat³⁴. In contrast, reports from prospective cohort studies found that intakes of total fat, saturated fat, and animal fat were not related to risk of colon cancer58. Non-red meat sources of animal protein derived from low-fat dairy products, fish and poultry have been typically associated with a lower risk of CRC58.75. A comprehensive report from the World Cancer Research Fund and the American Institute for Cancer Research concluded that total energy has no simple relationship with CRC risk and that data are inconsistent for carbohydrates, cholesterol and proteins10. Thus, the enidemiological evidence on the relationship between CRC risk and intake of macronutrients remains largely unclear. 2.3.2.1.4 Micronutrients

The role of various micronutrients has been considered in colorectal carcinogenesis. Recent epidemiologic studies suggest that calcium, vitamin D. folate, vitamin B6, and some antioxidants are protective against cancer¹¹⁻¹³ whereas iron increases risk¹⁴ Calcium has been hypothesized to protect against CRC by binding secondary bile acids and ionized fatty acids in the colon lumen to form insoluble calcium soans, thereby reducing their proliferative effects on the colonic mucosa13. Furthermore, calcium may have effects on cell proliferation and differentiation, apontosis, angiogenesis, and cellcycle regulation^{20,77} The roles of dietary calcium and vitamin D are highly correlated because vitamin D regulates the absorption of calcium28. Folate may exert a protective effect on colorectal carcinogenesis as a co-factor in the methylation of thymidylate for DNA synthesis and the production of S-adeposylmethionine, the primary methyl donor in the body^{13,16}. Antioxidants, including carotene and vitamins A, C, and E, may decrease the risk by quenching free radicals and reducing oxidative damage to DNA2021 Vitamin B6 and folate function as coenzymes in the synthesis of purines and thymidylate for DNA. Low levels of these vitamins may result in misincorporation of uracil into DNA, leading to chromosome breaks and disruption of DNA repair 17-19. Iron may increase the risk of CRC by generating free radicals that attack DNA and damage chromosomes^{22,23}

Despite the plausibility of the biologic mechanisms proposed to explain the effects of these microauti-muta on colorectal accinogenesis, the epidemiological evidence on this issue is uncelear. Prior to 1998, epidemiologic studies suggested that calcium intake was not associated with lower risk of colorectal alcensm or cancer³³. However, after a follow-up of 61,403 women for 1.13 years, Terry *et al.* found an inverse association

between diverge calcium intake and C.RC risk. Vitamin Di intake wan net clearly associated with risk¹⁰. Results from the Cancer Prevention Study II Nutrition Cohort indicated that tacleium modealty reduces risk of CRC. Vitamin D was associated with reduced risk of CRC colly in men¹⁰. Recent research indicates that calcium and vitamin D might act together, rather than separately, to reduce risk of CRC. Results from a multicentre, Dubecho-controlled randomized clinical trial found that calcium supplementation was inversely associated with adenoma recurrence only when circulating vitamin D levels were above the median (20.1 agm)¹⁰.

Vegetable and finitis are generally accepted as having protective effects against CRC^{0,404}, however, researchers have recently found weak or nonexistent inverse associations for total finitis and vegetables^{40,203}. Vegetables and finitis are major sources of distary antioxidiants, on the weak results increast tasking may relief on the true strength of the association between consumption of dietary antioxidants and risk of colorectal nooplastis. The Alpha-Tocopherol, Beac Carotense Cancer Prevention Study Group conducted a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled primary-prevention trial and found no intersection between alpha tocopherol and beta carotene with respect to the indexiese of CRCs^{0,1}. In contrast, after fore yurar, results from another double-blind thrue-year intervention with antioxidants (beta-carotene 15 mg, vitamin C 150 mg, vitamin E 75 mg, and selenium 101 microgi suggested a protective role of antioxidants on now adecoma formation. No effect was detected on the growth of adenomas and popyer²⁰.

In North America, multivitamins are major sources of folate. Recent evidence from

Career Prevention Study II Natifies Cabort Study of 14.52,00 men and weenen indicated that regular (:=24 fines/wk) use of multivitamins to the years before enrolment was associated with robused risk of CR (Rev.B.71)¹⁶. In which the second study of the second second second second second weenen for 10.1 years to examine the role of foldate and vitamin B6 on cohorectal carcinoma. They concluded that the use of multivitamin supplements was not related to CRC risk. Their findings suggested the protective role of dietary foldate and vitamin B6 on CRC¹.

2.3.2.1.5 Dairy products

Dairy products are important components of the human dist. Many components of dairy foods have been shown experimentally to protect against CRC. These components include calcium and valuamin D (which have been discussed before), conjugated linoleic acid¹⁰, sphingolipids²¹, and buryie acid which can potentially be formed by colonie lacobacilli from milk products. Dairy products with probinics may be beneficial in robucing CRC neoplasis²¹. However, whole milk and many types of cheese how a relatively high fat content, which may increase the risk of colorectal adenoma and cancer⁴⁰.

Many studies have found inverse relationships between dairy product consumption and CRC, although the most important components responsible for the apparent protection remain unclear^{20,10,00}. Recently, a prospective study of Jarvienn *et al.* indicated that individuals with high consumption of milk have a potentially reduced risk of colon cancer. The association does not appear to the due to intakers of calcium, vitamin D, or to the specific effects of fermende milk²⁰.

especially in combinations as found in milk, effectively precipitates luminal cytolytic substances and reduces cytotoxicity of feaal water, an accepted risk marker for colon cancer^{25,20}. Cho *et al.* conducted a posled analysis of 10 cohort studies including 5154,536 individuals followed up 6 to 16 years to cancing a possible anaccine between dairy products and calcium intakes with CRC risk. They found that intakes of milk and calcium were inversely related to CRC risk with a continued dose-response effect on CRC risk.³⁰

2.3.2.2 Smoking

Smoking has been implicated in many malignant disease. More recent evidence from two meta-analyses of 28^{40} and 36^{50} prospective studies found that a consistent association exists between modeling and CRCs. Both hattice found that the accumised ratio view stronger for rectal cancers. The association of tobacco communition and CRC risk appeared to be doue-related. All four doue-response variables examined daily eignerite communities of duration, pack-years (RR = 1.51 for an increase of 40 years (variable) and age of initiation (RR = 0.36 for a delay of 10 years in moking initiation)-were significantly associated with CRC incidence⁴⁰. Based on estimates from various studies of the US, population attributing the risk of CRC to moking, approximately 12% of CRC scents were doe to motion priva-

2.3.2.3 Alcohol drinking

Alcohol drinking together with smoking may additively affect CRC risk. More recent results from a prospective study of the Singapore Chinese population indicated that subjects who drank seven or more alcoholic drinks per week had a 72% increased risk of

CRC, and suggested that alcohol dirinking and smoking may share a common eriologic pathway in rectal arcsinogenesis⁴⁰. In addition, the National Health and Natrition Examination Survey I Epidemiologic Follow-Up Study found that a 70% increased risk of colon cancer was observed in those with a history of J4 years alcohol dirinking as compared to nondritiken⁵⁰. When foldate intake is low, alcohol appears to increase the CRC risk. This interaction may be related to the antifoldate properties of alcohol⁴⁰.

2.3.2.4 Obesity

Many studies have fourd that density, sum219 assessed by body mass index (RMM, is associated with an increased risk of color cancer^{13/3}). The following evidence also suggests that several indicates of adaptosis and adaptose times distribution are related to CRC risk. Results from a large cohort shall yet U.S. males showed that IBMI \geq 20 kg/m² relative to IBMI < 23 kg/m² was linked with an approximate 1.5-6d increased risk of CRC, which circumference < 35 inclus was indicated in the distribution of the start of CRC indicates and the or that the two waits of circumference in the was include with an admost 1.5-6d increased risk.¹⁰ More recent cohort data indicated that IBMI, wait circumference, and fit mass wave similarly suscessively with

2.3.2.5 Physical activity

Whereas obesity increases risk, physical activity is associated with a decreased risk. Over 50 studies in diverse populations showed that physical activity was associated with lower risk for colon cancer, though not for rectal cancer. As much as 50% of a reduction in

incidence of colone cancer has been observed among individuals with high levels of physical activity¹⁰⁷. It is estimated that two hours or more of physical activity per week can significantly reduce the risk of CRC in most people²⁰. Although physical activity is often associated with the lifestyle factors that mays be related with reduced olone cancer risk³⁴, the inverse association between colon cancer risk and physical activity appears to be independent. Than *et al.* concluded that physical activity may shorten the ficeal transit time and thereby reduce the period of contact between encinogens and muscual cells, inducing frowards to minulin, prostaglandin, and bile acid levels, which may otherwise influence the goved and prodification of colonic cell¹⁰⁹.

Chapter 3: Research methods

3.1 Collaborative data sources

This study occurred within the Colorectal Cancer Internativelytimary Health Research name in Colorectal Cancer (CTCC), which was established in 2001. In 1997, the Ontario Finnilia Colorectal Cancer Registry (OPCCR)^{10,411} was established by the U.S. National Cancer Institute as one of six international sites in the consortium of Colore Cancer Familial Registries (CCFR)^{10,11}. In 1999 the Newfoundhard Jamilial Colorectal Cancer Registry (NFCCR) was established by CTCC modeled on the existing OPCCR. The methods of the OPCCR and NFCCR was een described pervisions)^{32,141,151,171} and are outlined bedow. Information of colorectal cancer cancer and pequation control subjects participating in the OPCCR and NFCCR was used in this study. Ethics approval for this study was obtained from the Haman Investigation Committee, Faculty of Medicine, Memorial University.

3.2 Case ascertainment

Provincial cancer registries (Ontario Cancer Registry and the Newfoundland Cancer Registry) were used to identify newly diagnosed cases of colon or rectal cancer and to recruit into the OFCCR and NFCCR. Inclusion criteria for cases were:

 Incident primary invasive colon or rectal cancer [pathology confirmed International Classification of Diseases 9th revision codes: 153.0-153.9, 154.1-154.3 and 154.8 (ON & NL); or ICD-0 codes: 18.0-18.7, 19.9, 20.9 (NL only)].

- Diagnosed between July 1997 and June 2000 (phase one) or January 2003 and April 2006 (phase two) in ON. Diagnosed between January 1999 and December 2003 in NL.
- Diagnosed at ages between 20 and 74 years old (20 and 74 years old included)
- 4) Residents of ON and NL at time of diagnosis.

Pathology reports were reviewed by the study pathologist in each province, Initial contact was with the surgeon/physician identified on the pathology report. A letter was set to the physician the described the study and requested permission to contact the patient. Once physician consent was obtained, individuals were then contacted to inform them of the study. Participants who indicated their willingness to participate the study were studi, in nequence, a written consent from, family bistory questionmaire (FHQ), personal history questionnaire (FHQ) and food frequency questionnaire (FFQ). In NL only, the original targe package also contacted a blood required form.

Non-responders were sent post-card reminders two to three weeks after the initial mailing, and phoned six to eight weeks after initial contact to remind them of the mailing. Subjects were provide a solit for telephone multiple to complete the required information by phone. Subjects were provide a solit for telephone multiple to constrain the study. Telephone follow-up occurred to a maximum of two contacts for non-responders. If a subject made any indication of not vanting to participate in the study, the interviewer attempted to determine and record the reason. No farther contact ware with these subjects. Blood samples were send farefore from the bid solots the participate to a contral laboratory.

for investigation of genetic markers. Family history questionnaires were used to classify families as high, intermediate or low risk for genetic counseling.

3.3 Control ascertainment

Population controls were a madom sample of residents in each province, agod 20-74 years. As a frequency matched cance-control study, controls were 5-year age group and sex matched with the colorestel cancer cases. In OM during 1999 and 2000 controls were sidentified through a list of residential phone mathems provided by Bell Canada. Infodirect, a service from Bell Canada, provided information that included names, telephone mumbers, and addresses of potential control subjects. Households were randomly selected from this it and telephoned to othing a consol of buoehold members (age and esc) so as to identify digible persons. One digible person within each household was randomly selected and invited to participate in the OFCOR. To increase the sample size and approach a 1-2 case: control ratio, additional controls were identified from populationbased assessment tolli (owners and occupant) provided by the provincial government during 2001 and 2002. A detailed description of selecting controls in ON can be found eterobare²⁰⁰⁴.

In NL controls were identified through random digit dialing. In total, a blach of some 192,000 possible residential telephone numbers was generated and arranged in a random order for hist study. These numbers wered as the basic for restruing controls. Trained interviewer with prior experience in telephone surveying made the initial contracts by dialing those numbers in a sequential order until the desired number of controls was reached. A detailed description of selecting controls in NL can be found
elsewhere109.

A screening interview was conducted among potential control adjects to identify if any household member was eligible based on sex and age and whether that person was willing to take pert and the adject of the start of the start of the start of the during the phone contact, a survey package was then forwarded to each potential participant. The package included an information pampled with general information concerning the study, a consent from, a FHQ, and FFQ, and a self addressed starupd envelope. A well, participant was unable to return finished questionnaires within three weeks, a follow-up telephone call was made to make muse the study package had here necerived. A telephone interview or assistance was offered when illiteracy or physical disbibly was accesers.

3.4 Dietary information

Distary information was collected using a self-administrated food frequency questionnaire (FPQ). In ON participants were questioned about their average consumption of 106 foods about two years before diagnosis or interview. This 19-page FPQ was originally developed for the Hawaiia and Californian population by the Epidemiology Program, Cancer Research Centre of Hawaii and has been previously described and validated against 24-h recalls among a multi-ethnic Hawaiian/Southern Californian population^[11,11]. The FPQ assessed average food consumption and cooking method for certain foods. Participants were asked to indicate the perion size of their usual serving for each lised food inter from Regalert². Small² trange². The regression of food commutation was assessed using eight options (never or hardly ever, once a month, 2-3 times a month, once a week, 2-3 times a week, 4-6 times a week, once a day, 2 or more times a day). Subjects were also questioned on their use of any individual or multivitamin supplements, including information of the usual brand, amount and the duration of commutpion (Appendix C).

The FFQ used in NL was based on the ON FFQ with specific modifications to adapt for the usual food habits of NL residents (Appendix II). In NL participants were questioned about their index on 100 foods approximately one year before diagnosis or interview. For each dots musubjects were auded to estimate the frequency of food consumption (daily, weekly, monthly and never scales) and their usual portion size (sverage, smaller or larger) about one year before diagnosit/interview. A food photographs were provided that showed smaller, average and larger portion sizes for vapethems that the charactipanter may have used one year before diagnosi rimtriview.

Nutrient initiates were computed by multiplying the frequency of consumption of each flood item by the matrient content of portion size. In ON values for the amounts of nutrients in the foods were obtained from the USDA file. In NL nutrient contents were based on the 2005 Canadian Natirent file.

3.5 Epidemiologic data collection

The ON and NL registries used the same personal history questionnaire (PHQ). The selfadministered PHQ sought information on possible risk factors for CRC, including medical history, bowel screening history, diet, medication use, diet, physical activity,

reproductive factors, alcohol and tobacco use and socio-demographic measures such as education and income. As well, identifying information such as sex, age, date of birth, and marital status was collected. For female participants there were additional questions relating to reproductive factors (Aypendix A).

3.6 Response rates and counts

During phase one of the CPECR (1997-2000), 3376 patients with CRC were identified in ON. Alter we obtained their physicians' approval, the patients were aiked to complete and return the family history questionnaire. Among 3376 case patients contacted, 1593 were willing and able to participate in the study with 1187 cases (75%) completing the PHQ and 1143 cases (72%) completing the PFQ (Gipper 3).

Phase two of the OPCCR was initiated in January 2003 and was scheduled to continue to the end of 2006. Phase two data that were available up to April 2006 were used in this thesis. During this period, among 1263 elighte patients contacted, 727 cases were able to participate in the study. Personal history data were returned by 641 cases (89%), and FFQ9 we returned by 270 easo (85%) (Figure 37).

Population controls in ON were contacted via telephone. A total of 2736 control subjects from ON agreed to participate in the study with 1957 controls (72%) completing both PHQ and FFQ (Figure 3).

As of July 2006, 1,175 potentially eligible cases in NL, were identified through NFCCR. 16 cases were determined ineligible after contact with their physician (too III). Among 1,159 eligible cases contacted about the study, 1126 cases were willing and abbe to participate in the study. 706 cases (63%) returned the PHO and 608 cases (54%)

returned FFQ, Population controls in NL were contacted through random digit dialing. By July 2005, among 2168 controls contacted, 1600 controls had agreed to participate in the study. 720 controls (45%) returned the PHQ and 687 controls (43%) returned the FFQ (Figure 2).

For the analyses, we excluded those who did not provide utilicient diterty information at baseline, or failed to provide information on potential risk factors at baseline, flowe who reported energy initial in the upper cylence 25.5% (initiale) (lower and upper cotoff: In NI, 925 and 4700 kcal for men, 1100 and 4900 kcal for women, respectively, In ON, 1040 and 2500 kcal for men, 835 and 4100 kcal for women, respectively, In ON, 1040 and 2500 kcal for men, 835 and 4100 kcal for women, respectively, and patients who had familial admonstrators polyposis (FAP) and an in-situ turnor were excluded. After these exclusions, based on those who completed holt the PHQ and FFQ, 3102 subjects (1272 cases and 1310 controls) from ON and 1319 subjects (485 cases and 651 controls) form NI, remained. Data collected from these subjects were used for the analysis.



Figure 2. Sample size and response rates of NL population



Figure 3. Sample size and response rates of ON population

3.7 Data analyses

3.7.1 Nutrient analyses-energy adjusted

It is possible that over- or under-eating calatric eccess or deficiency) is a primary cause of a disease. In this situation, matrients that contribute to calories (proteins, fars, carbohydrettes, and alcohol) might be considered as the primary exponence that lead to increased caloric infata, which in turn causes disease. In addition, larger, more active, and lens metabolically efficient persons tend to eat more of everything so that even matrients without caloric value, and an vitamins and minerals, are correlated with total energy induc. As a result, in epidemiologic settings, total caloric intake has implications for the interpretation of other matrients, are well as being of intrinsic interest.

Before attributing causality to a specific nutrient, the burden is upon the epidemiologist to demonstrate that the effect of this nutrient is independent of caloric intake. A number of investigators have employed "nutrient densition" to control for the effect of total caloric intake. National demonstrate are compated by dividing nutrient values by total caloric intake. National demonstrate compatibility by dividing nutrient values by total caloric intake, they provide a convenient and practical way to describe foods or direts. Naturel density has the appeal of apparent simplicity, but, unfortunately, this is a complex variable with a generally obscure meaning when used to address diet-disease relationships.

Willett and Stampfer¹¹² created "calorie-adjusted" matricet intakes, which is a measure of natrient intake that is independent of total caloric intake, particularly when caloric intake is associated with disease. Calorie-adjusted natrient intakes are computed as the resolutality tents bergression model with total caloric intake as the independent

variable and absolute nutrisent intake as the dependent variable. Since residuals have a mean of zero and include negative values, it may therefore be desirable to add a constant (see figure 1). If the usual assumptions for regression analysis are met, these caloriealgusted nutrient intakes will be uncorrelated with calorie induc.



FIGURE 4 Calorie-adjusted subtient intake = a + b, where a = residual for subject A from regression modelwith notrient intake as the dependent variable and total caloric intake as the independent variable and <math>b = the expected notrient intake for a presenvolution mean caloric intake.¹¹²

According to Willett theory, the formula of calorie-adjusted nutrient intake is as

followed112:

Ne=a+b

N_E is calorie-adjusted nutrient intake; a is residual for subject A from regression model with nutrient intake as the dependent variable and total caloric intake as the independent variable; b is the expected nutrient intake for a person with mean caloric intake. Formula derivation:

N_E is calorie-adjusted nutrient intake; N₁ is absolute nutrient intake; A and B are the slope coefficient and intercept of regression model with nutrient intake as the dependent variable and total calorie intake as the independent variable; K₁ is individual calorie intake; K₂ is mon calorie intake.

In this study, nutrient intakes were energy-adjusted by using the derived formula. Because men and wennen have different caloric intakes, so nutrients were adjusted by different menn caloric intake in each see. In NL, the mean caloric intake is 2411.5 kcalid for men and 2827.6 kcalidby for women; in ON, the mean caloric intake is 2404.8 kcalid for men and 1987.9 kcalidby for women;

This approach of calorie algorithment is analogous to include both calorie initiate and absolute nutrient initiate as terms in multivariate models with disease concome as the dependent variable, and addition, the use of calorie-adjusted values in multivariate models will often overcome the problem of high collinearity frequently observed between nutrisonal nations. To the extert that this adjustment also reduces between person variation due to over-or undercorrecting initiate, at left-there gain in accuracy will be obtained.

3.7.2 Descriptive analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS statistical software (version 9.1 SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). Box plots and histograms of variables were constructed to display distributions and to detect outliers. The characteristics of cases and controls were compared by t tests for continuous variables, and chi-square test for categorical variables. All tests of statistical inference employed a two-sided alpha level of 0.05. Correlations between continuous variables were assessed with Pearson correlation coefficients.

3.7.3 Odds ratios estimates

Nutricti mitake were adjusted for total energy imake via the residual method of Willett to reduce potential bias due to differential over- or undre reporting of food instakes¹¹². Unliked or finacemutricintologicrice earsi, micromatrizatiologicre two, calcium, vitami D and dairy producti(objective three) were categorized into quintiles based on the distribution among the study population without missing endpoints and were entreed into models as indicater variables with the lower autilities at the referent group.

Age-adjusted unconfitional logistic regression models were calculated stratified by province. Probed analyses were conducted since odds trains between provinces were similar and tests of two-way interaction for province exposure were not significant according to the likelihood ratio test statistic. This test was used to assess all interactions in this thesis.

Age and total energy intake-adjusted odds ratios (OR) and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated from maximum-BacHhood estimates in unconfinional logitaic regression to anseen the association of the outcome with macronartient intakes(objective energ), micronartient intakes (objective two) and intakes of dairy products (objective three).

Multivariate unconditional logistic regression was used to evaluate the association between the macronutrient intakes(objective one), micronutrient intakes (objective two)

and inflake or dairy products (objective threa) with CRC risk after adjusting a set of potential confounders or covariates. Tests for linear trend in the log odds ratio of quintiles of inflake for each microartistent were conducted by fitting a logistic model including the same risk factors listed above plus a variable propresenting the scalar Mondania Value for each quintile of natrient inflake. We chose to include median values for each quintile rather than using the values 1 0, 2.0, 3.0, 4.0 and 5.0 to represent each quintile. The latter method assumes equidistance between quintile when inflake amounts may actually be quinte different between connective quintiles. The median values were scaled by dividing by the median for the lowert quintile so the lowert quinted wave outdue valued in the values for the scale by dividing to the median for the lowert quintiles when the lowert quinted wave values and the values for scale by dividing the scale for the lowert quintiles on the lowert quinter low the value actual to the lowert quinter low the lowert quinter low the lowert quinter low the low the values low word leaval 1.0.

3.7.4 Potential covariates definition and selection

The basis for the assessment of confisheding factors included: (1) literature and previous studies, (2) biological pausability, (1) whether the regression coefficient of the primary dependent variable changed by 10% or more after addition of the potentially confisheding variable, or (4) whether the covariate entered the model at P=0.10. A backwards-terewise resourchers was entermined to obtain the final model.

Potential confiseding factors include age, sex, boy mass index(IMI), physical activity(metabolic equivalent hours/week, MET/week), obtacation attainment, boundedd income, marind attain, and province of resistence medical history: family history of CeCe, polype, and diabeter, history of colors screening procedure; eigenette smoking and alcohol drinking; regular use of medications and supplements: non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID), folate, caciena, and multivitamine; dietary indae: total energy, fruits, variables, end meta; reported horsone regularement theray (MER). fonds; caciena, and and the steroid horsone regularement theray (MER). (Appendix A).

Respondents were classified into four age groups (18-49, 50-59, 60-69 and 70 i-years). More than 95% participants were whites, so nace was not a confounding factor. Total energy intake was classified into five groups based on quaintles. Respondents were classified into four groups regarding body mass index (BMU), i.e., underweight (<18.5kg/m²), normal weight (18.5-24.5kg/m²), everweight(25-59.9kg/m²) and obese (<20kg/m²). BMI we estimate based on extreme for experimentation weight.

Physical activity was categorized according to average weekly metabolic expiration thous (METa) of physical activity. Physical activity includes walking, jogging, mining, bicycling, winiming laps, physical mativity, includes walking calisthetics, aerobics, vigoroox dance, using a rowing machine, Hifing weights, balying tooball, soccer rughy, huskethall, doing heavy household week (such as using a non-power mower, showeling, moving heavy loads, scrabbing floors), and doing any other stremous activities (including skiing, skating, hockey, hunting, slobeling or tobogganing, waterskiing) for a total of al least 30 minutes a week at ages 20-29 years, 30-49 years, So yavar, and lifetine Averager weekly built lifetime physical activity METs was calculated by sum of all applicable physical activity METs was calculated by sum of all applicable physical activity METs divided by the number of weeks increde the participant turned 20yrs, Reopondents were then classified into four groups regarding METs/week, i.e., <7, 7, 42, 4, 24, 53, 0, >53,0 METs/week (Averdis A).

Respondents were classified into two groups having family history of CRC and having no family history. A family CRC history indicates that one member of the

immediate family had suffered from CRC. Polype were investigated with the question: "Has a dector ever ind/you that you had polype in your large bowd or colon or rectum?" with answers including you, no and don't know. Didnete was investigated by asking the question: "Has a doctor ever ind/you that you had diabetes, also known as diabetes meditine? These do not include diabetes which you had only during pregnancy?" and answers including yees, no and don't know. History of colons screening precodure were derived from reports of a hemocecult tot or signationloscopy test for screening parpose. Participants were questioned: "Have you ever had a hemocedit test or signationstopy test or colonscoopy test?" and "What were the reasons for your first test?".

Subjects were classified as even-smoken or non-smoken seconding to the quotion that "Have you ever smoke one eigarette per day for three months or more?" Alcohol users were defined based on consuming any advolcib bevergase it has none a week for six months or longer in their 20n, 30n-40n, or 50n and non-suress were those who did not drink in their Hietime. Alcohol users were classified into heavy drinkers (:14drink/week) and consistent drinkers (:14drink/week) according to average drinks per week in their 20, 30n, 60n, or 50n.

Education attainment was investigated through the question: "What is the highest level of education that you completed?" and respondents were classified into three calcustion groups (high school gatalate of less; technical acticols some collegor university; bachelor's degree' graduate degree). Household income was investigated through the question: "Which of the following categories bed technics you total annual household

income about 1-2 years before your recent diagnosis?" and respondents were classified into four annual household income groups (less than \$12,000, \$12,000-29,099, \$30,000-49,999, \$50,000 or more), Marital status was investigated by the question: "What is your marital status?" and respondents were classified into three groups: cervently marital status?" and respondents were classified into three groups: cervently

Medications were assessed with the question "Eners you cert taken any of the following medications regularly (at least twice a week for more than a month)?". Answer choices included yes, no and don't know. Use of nonsteroid anti-inflummatory drugs (including happenper) and aspirin use, multivitamin supplements (such as One-A-Day, Theragram, Centrum, Unicap), folic acid, folate pills or tablets, and calcium pills or tablets was included in this analysis. Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) was investigated specially for females with the question: "Have you cert taken HRT prescribed by a doctor and in the form of a pill or a patch (i.e. progentinestrogen)?".

The dietary intake investigation focused on total energy, fruits, vegetables and red meat. Total energy intake was categorized into quintiles based on the distribution among the study population. Eating fruits was investigated through the quotients "About 1-2 years before your reservent cancer diagonis, on average, how offend dd you ent a piece or serving of fruit? (One serving of fruit was interpreted as: 1 medium-sized fresh fruit; % equ of chopped, cooked or cannel fruit; % oup of dired fruit; 6 ounces of fruit juice (50%-10%) pure juice); "Respondents were classified into four groups by their resonance: 0.6 serving/were, 6.7 serving/were, 7.14 serving/were, dual >1/4

serving/veek. Esting vegetables was investigated by sading the question: "About 1-2 years before your recent cancer diagnosis, on average, how often did you est a piece or swing of vegetables." Please include genes adds, beam, estink, est, and patietas (our packaged potito chips). (One serving of vegetables was interpreted as: 1 eap raw leafy vegetables; 1's cap of other vegetables, cooked or chopped raw; 6 sources of vegetable juice," Respondents were classified into four groups: 0.6 servings/veek, 6-7 serving/veek, 7-14 evings/week, ad-3 evings/week, 6-7 serving/veek, 7-14 and a serving of red met (not chicken or fish?) (One serving of red met was interpreted as: 2-3 ounces of red met (a piece of met about the siz of a dock of or any an includes) beset, staak, humburger, prime rh, beet hot dops, beef-based processed meat, veal, poteh, basen, pork sasaage, ham, lamb, venison." Reopondents were classified into four groups by their response. 6-3 servings/week, 2-3 servings/week, 3-45 servings/week, ad-3

Chapter 4: Results

4.1 Paper I. Association of total energy intake and macronutrient consumption with colorectal cancer risk: results from a large population-based case-control study in Newfoundland and Labrador and Ontario

4.1.1 Introduction

In Canada, cohrectal cancer (CRC) is the second leading cause of death from cancer in men and women combined¹⁷. In 2009, an estimated 22,2000 Canadians were diagnosed with CRC and 9,100 will die of k²⁷. Genetic predisposition plays a role in about 15% of CRC but most cases are sporadic²⁰, Immigrants rapidly acquire the incidence rates of the bott country, suggesting the environmental factors play a crucial role in CRC development⁴⁴².

Dick has long been regarded as one of the most important environmental factors for colori cancer^{1,2}, particularly when an unbalanced dist is combined with inappropriate weight pain, physical inactivity, and such walending practices are assisting and committing a great deal of alcohol^{1,3,4}. Several cane-control statlers investigating the influence of diet on the risk for CRC have demonstrated a positive correlation between cancer risk and total energy instak^{2,40}. Thus, excess instake of any of the important energy-supplying mercontributed components of the diet (eg. positis, fast, cardon-dyndrate) could contribute to a higher risk of CRC. However, the question of whether or not individual energysupplying merconstrients, independent of their contribution to energy intake, are related to GRC its emission controversial.

In a recent Italian case-control study, the risk of CRC increased with total energy

intake, whereas it moderately decreased with an increase of protein intake. Consumption of monosumanted fits appeared unifiberital, while staturated fat showed a modest positive association with rectal cancer². In contrast, a report from prospective cohort statisfies from that insteads or four aff, staturated fat, and annial fat were not related to roke of colon cancer²⁸. Non-red meat sources of animal protein derived from low-fat dairy products, fish and positry have been typically associated with a lower risk of CRC^{AU3}. A comprehensive report from the World Cancer Research Faud and the American Institute for Cancer Research concluded that total energy has no simple relationship with CRC risk, and that data were inconsistent for carchivedrates, chochestone and norcien¹⁰.

Given the high incidence rate of CRC in Newfoundhaud and Labrador (NL) and Ontaria (ON), it is of grant public health importance to identify possible associations between CRC risk and intakes of total energy, there primary macmutarisets (specifically including selected farty acids, cholesterol, and dietary fibre), and alcohol. These will be investigated using data from a large population based case-control muly conducted in NL and ON.

4.1.2 Materials and methods

4.1.2.1 Selection of cases and controls

Data for this case-control study were from the Ontario Familial Colorectal Cancer Registrics (OFCCR) and New footalland Familial Colorectal Cancer Registrics (NFCCR). In ON incident cases diagnosed during 1997-2000 were identified through the population-based Ontario Cancer Registry. In NL incident cases diagnosed during 1999-2003 were identified through the population uner registry maintained by the

Newfordmand Cancer Registry, Host registries were used to identify newly diagnoed cases of colon or textal cancer (pathology confirmed ICD 9th Persistion codes: 153.0-153.0, 154.1-154.3, and 154.8 or ICD-0 obscit: IKB.157, 195.2.00, and agat2 20-74 years. Phase two of the OFCCR was initiated to collect data for cases diagnooed in ON during 2005-2006, Initial contact was with the surgeoupleybeinsin identified on the pathology report. Once physician consent was obtained, individuals were then contacted to inform them of the ntudy. Participants who indiadnet their sullingness to participate the study were sent, in sequence, a written consent form, family history questionnaire (FHQ), nonrespondency questionnaire (PHQ), and food frequency questionnaire (FHQ). Nonrespondency were sent port-card reminders and ploned several weeks after initial contact

Controls were a random sample of residents in each province aged 20-74 years. In ON controls were identified through a list of residential phone numbers or from population-based property ansessment rite list (overser and occupants). In NL controls were identified through random digit dialleg⁴⁰. Both registries frequency matched controls to cases on sex and five-year age strata. Once verbal ensemt for participation was obtained during the phone contact, a survey package was forwarded to each potential participant. The package included an information pamplet with general information concerning the study a coverent free m PLO. a 1910, and stud advects stanoed strende

4.1.2.2 Dietary and epidemiologic data collection

Information on dietary intake was collected using a self-administrated FFQ. This 19-page FFQ was originally developed for the Hawaiian and Californian populations by the

-40

Epidemiology Program, Cancer Research Centre of Hawaii and has been previously described and validated against 24-h recalls among a multi-ethnic Hawaiian/Southern Californian population110,111. This previously validated food frequency questionnaire has been adapted to include regional foods in NL and was used to assess diet over 1-2 years prior to diagnosis or interview. Participants were questioned about their intake of almost 170 foods which were believed to be important contribution of calories and most macronutrients in the diet. For each food item, subjects were asked to estimate the frequency of food intake and their usual portion size from 'Regular', 'Small' or 'Large', A food photographs were provided that showed regular, small and large portion sizes for vegetables, meat and chicken. Participants were also questioned on their use of any individual or multivitamin supplements, including the usual brand name, the amounts taken and the duration of consumption. Intakes of total energy, macronutrients and alcohol were computed by multiplying the frequency of consumption of each food item by the nutrient content of portion size. In ON values for the amounts of nutrients in the foods were obtained from the USDA file. In NL nutrient contents were based on the 2005 Canadian Nutrient file

The self-administered personal history questionnaire included many close-ended questions about medical history, howed screening history, diet, medication use, diet, physical activity, reproductive factore, alcobed and tubacco use and socio-demographic measures such as education and income. Identifying information such as sex, age, date of birth, and martial status was collected. For female participants there were additional questions relating to reproductive factors.

For the analyses, we excluded those who did not provide sufficient distry information at baseline, those who failed to provide information on potential risk (here) and taskeline, those who reported energy initials in the upper or lower 2.5% of initiale (lower and upper cutoff: In NL, 925 and 4700 kcal for men, 1100 and 4900 kcal for women, respectively), In ON, 1040 and 5200 kcal for men, 855 and 4100 kcal for women, respectively, In ON, 1040 and 5200 kcal for men, 855 and 4100 kcal for women, trought who had familial adsementions polyposis (FAP) and an in-situ turor were excluded. After these exclusions, based on those who completed both the PHQ and FFQ, 3102 subjects (1272 cases and 1830 controls) from ON and 1139 subjects (485 cases and 651 controls) from NL remained. Data collected from those subjects were used for the analysis.

4.1.2.3 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS statistical software (version 9.1 SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). Descriptive statistics stratified by case-control status were used to describe the demographic/health-related characteristics and diterary intakes of the study participants. Instakes of macromotirism and alcohol were adjusted for total energy intake via the residual method of Willett that were used to reduce potential bias due to differential over- or under-reporting of food intakes¹¹². Natrient intakes were categorized into quintiles based on the distribution among the study population without missing endpoints and were entered into models as indicator variables with the lowest quintile as the referent group.

Age-adjusted unconditional logistic regression models were calculated stratified by province. Pooled analyses were conducted since odds ratios between provinces were

similar. Age and total energy initial-adjusted odds ratios (OR) and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated from maximum-likelihood estimates in unconfinious logicity engression to assess the association of the outcome with macromatrient intakes. Multivariate unconfilional logistic regression was used to evaluate the association of intakes of total energy, macromatrients and alcohol with CRC risk after adjusting a set of potential confidences or covariates. Tests for trend were used to assess downeersponse relationships based on the matical or calculates of matrice intakes.

Potential confounding factors include age(18-49, 50-59, 60-69, and 70+years); sex; body mass index(BMI<18.5, 18.5-24.9, 25-29.9, and >30ke/m2); physical activity(<7.4, 7.4-22.4. 22.4-53.0. and >53.0 METs/week): family history of CRC(yes, no): polyps (yes, no); diabetes(yes, no); history of colon screening procedure(yes, no); cigarette smoking (ever smoke, never smoke); alcohol drinking(<14, >14drinks/week); education attainment (high school graduate or less, technical school/ some college/ university, and bachelor's degree/ graduate degree); household income(less than \$12,000, \$12,000-29,999, \$30,000-49.999, and \$50.000); marital status/married, single/ never married, and separated/ divorced/widowed): regular use of medication and supplements: non-steroid antiinflammatory drug (NSAID)(yes, no), multivitamin supplements(yes, no), folate supplement(yes, no), calcium supplement(yes, no); reported hormone replacement therapy (HRT, females only)(ves, no); and dietary intakes: total energy intake (quintiles), fruits(0-6, 6-7, 7-14, and >14 servings/week), vegetables(0-6, 6-7, 7-14, and >14 servings/week), red meat/0-2, 2-3, 3-5, and >5 servings/week); province of residence(NL, ON). The basis for the assessment of confounding factors included: (1) literature and

previous studies, (2) biological plausibility, (3) whether the regression coefficient of the primary dependent variable changed by 10% or more a ther addition of the potentially confounding variable, or (4) whether the covariate entered the model at p=0.10. A backwards-stepwise precodure was performed to obtain the final model. Statistical tests were two sided, and p values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

4.1.3 Results

Table 4.1.1 shows the distribution of CRC cases and controls according to age, sex, province of residence, IBMI and other selected variables. By design, cases and controls had similar sex distribution. However, cases tended to be younger than controls. Cases were more likely to be obsete, to be either physically inactive or extremely active, and to have a family history of CRC. Controls more often reported regular use of NSAID, a higher education, a higher income, and hystory fails a colon screening mecoders.

The menu daily intakes of total energy, macromitrism and alsobal among cases and controls are shown in Table 4.1.2. Mean daily inside of controls was 2195. Keal for total energy, 57.2 gaf provides, 1652.g for cataloghadae, 80.4 gf for table 2.5.2 gf for tradidietary fibre, 26.8 g for saturated faity acids, 29.1 g for monounsaturated faity acids, 16.6 g for polynomiantatic flarty acids, 27.1 gg for dedication of 4.5 gf for alcohol. Results showed that 15% of calcivies from potentia, 31% of calcivies from total fat, 50% of calcivies from catebolydrate, and 4% of calcivies from should. Cases reported significantly higher intakes of total energy, percentage of calcivies from total fat, percentage of calcivies from saturated fit and educistored (all pr-05%) than controls. Controls thal higher intakes of conbolvednest and table direct three compared with cases (all pr-05%).

Table 4.1.3 given the ORs and corresponding 95% C1 of CRC according to quintle intakes of macronatrients associated field components. Fligh total energy intake was significantly related to an increased risk of CRC (OR -1.56 in the highest versus the uncert quintlife of intake, 95% C1: 1.21-201, *p*-tend-0.202, whereas inverse associations emerged fite intakes of protein (OR-0.85, 95% C1: 0.69-1.000, *p*-tend-0.000, bathodydrate (OR-0.81, 95% C1: 0.83-1.000, *p*-tend-0.001, bittary fifter (OR-0.84, 95% C1:0.67-0.09, *p*-tend-0.04). Total fit, alcohol, subtrated fitty acids, monosmaturated fitty acids, *p*-dynamical fitty acids, *honeoless* queured neutraled to CRC risk.

We additionally evaluated intakes of percentage of calories from macronutrients in relation to the risk of CRC (Table 4.1.4). A significant inverse trend was observed for percentage of calories from protein (OR-0.76, 95%C): 0.61-0.96, p-trend=0.05), while a direct trend in risk of significance was observed for percentage of calories from alcohol (OR=1.34, 95%C): 1.04-1.72, p-trend=0.05). No associations were observed for percentage of energy from other macronutents.

The relationship between instance of total energy, protein, carebolydate and dietary Brow with CRC risk was further examined in strata of various covariants. No substantial horeogeneity was observed in segurite strate of scc. age(50, 60, 60); BMI(-25, >25kg/m²); physical activity(<22.4, 22.4 METa/week); family history of CRC (no, yes); reported colon screening procedure(no, yes); NSAD weeks, yes); obscation attainment/lower, higher); household incomclower, higher), and total energy indec(2101.9.3, 2003 Sacidity) (DIA and total).

4.1.4 Discussion

Our present case-control study, one of the largest investigations of diet and CRC to date, showed that intakes of total energy were significantly positively associated with risk of CRC, whereas investe associations were seen with intakes of protein, carbohydrate, and dietary fibre. Intakes of total fat, fatty acids, cholesterol and alcohol were unrelated to the risk.

Our truly observed a direct association between total emergy initiale and the risk of CRC, confirming results from several previous case-control studies of other populations¹⁰, ¹⁰, the evidence that calorie tradition reduces cancer incidence in ordernly ^{11,11,14}, and observed the epidemic restriction reduces cancer incidence in ordernly ^{11,11,14}, and positively related with percentage of calories consumed as alcohol but was not related with energy-adjusted total alcohol intake. These results suggest that alcohol, independent of its contribution to energy, may nob the associated with CRC risk. Energy intake can be requosible for glycoumic overload and a compensatory increase of serum insulin and related insulin growth factor-1 (IGF-1). I.GF-1 is a promoter offerative stimulus^{11,12}. Diabetes has also been related to increased CRC risk.^{12,13}, Additionally, higher energy intake is associated with the cause of obseity, which in turn is a possible risk factor for CRC.

Most previous studies found no excess risk for animal protein intake after adjusting for total energy intake ^{(11,11,11,11]}. However, a recent Italian case-control study² found that the risk of CRC moderately decreased with an increase of protein intake (OR=0.82 for

colon energy, OR-0.88 for rectal energy 1. Comissient with the halinal study, findings of our study showed that CRC risk was inversely associated with protein intake (OR-0.85, 055/CE 0.061-1.008 percentagios of calorise from protein intake (OR-0.76, 55%)CE 0.61-0.59%). In our study population, red meat intake was moderate (about 4 servings/week) and similar proportions (around 20%) of proteins derived from red meat, dairy products and the combination of white meat and fab. Thus, non-red meat sources of animal protein may have a beneficial influence⁴⁸. Moreover, several process studies have consistently found inverse associations with high protein foods (dairy products, white meat, fish and positry) or with no-red meat protein ¹⁰/₁₀OM-100, 100 or study, a clearer inverse association with protein may have emerged if non-red meat protective effect of protein in yhave about the protein fibric explanation for a protective effect of protein is that low intakes of methonisme may contribute to DNA methylation abnormalities, which appear to be important in the initiation and progression of colon comest¹⁰.

Carbohydrate intake was shown to be inversely related to CRC risk in our study. Compared with participants in the lowest quintile of authohydrate consumption, those in the highest quintile were 19% less likely to develop CRC. We also observed an inverse association with three intake, which was in agreement with several provious studies^{10,011/239}. In our study, a 16% reduced risk was observed among participants with higher intake of three. The inverse relationships with carbohydrate and fifthe may be related to the protection of fails, segatable and grains on CRC, because these foods contain large amount of erac-byter.

Different types of fibre appear to have different effects. Terry *et al.* examined finit, vegetable, and fibre intakes and risk of CRC among Swedish women, and concluded that a higher consumption of finit was associated with a 32% reduction in CRC risk, while higher intake of cereal fibre did not lower the risk²⁰. Results from a case-control study in the Swiss Catnon Of Vaad indicated that vegetable fibre appeared to be more protective than either finite or grain fibre³⁷. A beneficial effect from fibre may arise by several mechanisms, including increased feed weight, greater frequency of defection, decreased intestinal transit time, dilution of colonic contexts, greater microbial growth, alteration of energy metabolism, decreased bio adi hydroxylation, and greate productions of hydrogen, enthance, trans fusion.

We found no evidence of any substantial effect of the instace of oral fat, staturated fatly acids, monounstarted fatly acids, polyanstaturated fatly acids, cholesteroi instake on risk of CRC in the present study. These results are consistent with some previous fasting is ^{53,63}, but not all¹⁷. Results from a prospective exhort study of 47,940 U.S. make health professionals between 1986 and 1992 above that instace of total fat, saturated fat, and animal fat were not related to risk of colone cance⁴⁰. Combined that from 13 casecontrol studies of 5,287 CRC cases and 10,470 extends of total fat, saturated fat, of total fat or any of the fat components and risk of CRC⁴⁵. These results again suggest that fat, independent of its contribution to energy, may not be associated with CRC risk. Although here exists a semilbel biological antionale for the possible involvements of fat in ordered actionpressi¹⁶, it appears that the its indeed involvements.

be more complex than that which would be implied by a simple empirical association with daily fai intake per day. It could involve foods or some complex interaction amongst natirents or other food components. Discussion of such potential biological mechanisms is beyond the scope of the present paper.

Consideration must be given to the potential limitations in the present audy that may have influenced the observed associations. First, as in most case-control studies, potential receall and selection biases are possible. Since exposure information was collected after diagnosis, differential recall between cases and controls would bias results, in particular, cases may recall dietary exposures differently from controls because of the presence of illness or symptoms. Controls may have agreed to join this study because of an interest in health and may directive hashihe dictary and physical activity habits, a pattern that may exaggerate differences with the cases beyond what might have been seem with third/comparable controls.

Second, by design, cases and controls had similar are distribution, however, cases and controls were not well comparable according to agg group. Estimates of mattern induces from a FPQ are not precise and there is always the potential for measurement error. Although the original FPQ used in this study has been validated^{111,211}, this questionnaire requires further evaluation because it was originally developed for the Hawaiian and Californian populations that may be different from people residing in NL, and ON. FPQ used in NL has been adapted in include regional foods in NL, however, OFCCR used the original FPQ that has not been adapted. Thus, a sub-study will be necessary to assess the level of agreement between the FPQ used by the OFCCR and the

FFQ that was previously developed specifically for Canadian populations. Finally, it is also possible that the 1-2 year referent period on which dietary data were based is insufficient if more remote diet (eg. 5-10 yrs) has a stronger influence on CRC risk.

This study had a number of strengths. We had a large sample size, which allowed us to observe associations that would be undetectable in smaller studies. More importantly, the previous findings about the protective effects of macronutrients were confined to a specific study population, which makes it difficult to generalize the results. In this study, we conducted pooled analyses of the population of two Canadian provinces to investigate the associations of total energy, macronutrients, alcohol and CRC risk. Furthermore, nutrient intakes were adjusted for total energy intake. The use of calorieadjusted values in multivariate models will often overcome the problem of high collinearity frequently observed between natritional factors¹¹². To the extent that, this adjustment also reduces between-person variation due to over- or underreporting of food intakes¹¹². The relationshins of total energy, macronutrients, alcohol and CRC risk may differ appreciably by several factors, so we controlled for a wide range of potential confounding factors using multivariate logistic regression models. Additionally, results of the consistent findings in separate strata for total energy, protein, carbohydrate and dictary fibre would argue against multiple comparisons as an explanation for these associations. Although some random misclassification of diet is likely, non-differential misclassification generally tends to bias the risk estimates toward the null.

In conclusion, our large population-based case-control study of CRC conducted in two Canadian provinces with high incidence of CRC, and findings of this study provides

further evidence that diets high in energy may increase the risk, whereas diets high in protein. (Flore, and carbohydrate may reduce the risk of CRC. These results underline the importance of some aspects of total energy and macronutrients and consequently the potential for prevention through dietary changes.

Characteristics*	Cases(n=1760)	Controls(n=2481) No. (%)	
Characteristics	No. (%)		
Age (years)*			
18-49	368(20.9)	265(10.7)	
50-59	412(23.4)	690(27.8)	
60-69	646(36.7)	998(40.2)	
70+	334(19.0)	528(21.3)	
Sex			
Males	935(53.1)	1357(54.7)	
Females	825(46.9)	1124(45.3)	
Province of residence			
NL	488(27.7)	651(26.2)	
ON	1272(72.3)	1830(73.8)	
BMI ^b (kg/m ²) [*]			
Underweight(<18.5)	23(1.3)	22(0.9)	
Normal(18.5-24.9)	595(33.8)	930(37.5)	
Overweight (25-29.9)	748(42.5)	1069(43.1)	
Obese (>30)	394(22.4)	460(18.5)	
Physical activity (METs/weekb)*			
0 - 7,4	465(26.4)	595(24.0)	
7.4-22.4	348(19.8)	633(25.5)	
22.4 - 53.0	429(24.4)	633(25.5)	
> 53.0	518(29.4)	620(25.0)	
Family history of CRC*			
No	1582(89.9)	2337(94.2)	
Yes	178(10.1)	144(5.8)	
Reported any colon screening procedure"			
No	1500(85.2)	1861(75.0)	
Yes	260(14.8)	620(25.0)	
Regular use of NSAID ^b			
No	1163(66.1)	1439(58.0)	
Yes	597(33.9)	1042(42.0)	
Education attainment			
High school graduate or less	884(50.2)	1042(42.0)	
Technical school/ some college/ university	540(30.7)	866(34.9)	
Bachelor's degree/ graduate degree	336(19.1)	573(23.1)	
Household income (SCAN)			
<12,000	109(6.2)	154(6.2)	
12,000-29,999	507(28.8)	573(23.1)	
30,000-49,999	547(31.1)	777(31.3)	
>50,000	597(33.9)	977(39.4)	

Table 4.1.1 Selected characteristics of subjects from CRC case-control study in NL and ON

*All characteristic variables presented as number(%).

^b BMI, body mass index; METs/week, metabolic equivalent hours per week; NSAID, nonsteroid antiinflammatory drug. Significant differences between cases and controls (p:0.05)

Intakes of total energy and macronutrients [®]	Cases (n=1760)	Controls (n=2481)	Difference (Cases- Controls)
Total energy (kcal/day)	2316.1±810.6	2195.1±750.8	121
Macronutrients			
Protein (g/day)	86.2±18.5	87.2±17.1	-1
% of Calories from Protein	15.2±2.8	15.4±2.9	-0.2
Carbohydrate (g/day)"	282.0±49.7	286.2±49.6	-4.2
% of Calories from Carbohydrates	49.6±7.7	50.0±8.0	-0.4
Total Fat (g/day)	81.3 ± 18.4	80.4±18.0	0.9
% of Calories from Total Fat	31.8±6.1	31.3±6.3	0.5
Dietary fibre (g/day)"	24.0±8.5	25.2±9.0	-1.2
Fatty Acids and Cholesterol			
Saturated Fatty Acids (g/day)	27.1±7.0	26.8±7.1	0.3
% of Calories from Saturated Fat	10.6 ± 2.4	10.4±2.6	0.2
Monounsaturated Fatty Acids (g/day)	29.6±7.4	29.1±7.2	0.5
Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids (g/day)	16.7 ± 5.0	16.6±4.6	0.1
Cholesterol (mg/day)	286.2±116.4	277.1±100.9	9.1
Alcohol (g/day)	7.4±49.4	6.5±36.8	0.9
% of Calories from Alcohol	3.9 ± 6.3	3.8±5.9	0.1

Table 4.1.2 Mean intakes of total energy, macronutrients, and alcohol among subjects from CRC case-control study in NL and ON

*All continuous variables presented as mean = SD (standard deviation). Significant differences between cases and controls (p<0.05)</p>

Intakes of total energy,	Quintiles of intakes			p-trendd
macronutrients, and alcohol	Q1 ^e	Q3*	Q5°	p-trend
Total energy				
No. of cases/controls	313/537	343/505	404/443	
Median intake (kcal/day)	1348.5	2109.3	3308.9	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	1.16(0.95,1.41)	1.53*(1.26,1.86)	0.01
OR ^e (95% CI)	1.00	1.19(0.92.1.53)	1.56*(1.21.2.01)	0.02
Protein				
No. of cases/controls	372/479	334/513	335/512	
Median intake (g/dav)	68.4	85.6	106.7	
OR* (95% CI)	1.00	0.88(0.72.1.07)	0.82*(0.67.0.99)	0.09
OR ^e (95% CI)	1.00	0.88(0.70,1.11)	0.85*(0.69,1.00)	0.06
Carbohydrate		olocion of this	0105 (0105)1100)	
No. of cases/controls	392/458	332/516	334/513	
Median intake (g/day)	229.1	282.6	341.5	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	0.83*(0.68,1.00)	0.80*(0.66,0.97)	0.08
OR ^e (95% CD)	1.00	0.84(0.67,1.02)	0.81*(0.63,1.00)	0.05
Total Fat		0.01(0.01,1102)	0.01 (0.00,1.00)	
No. of cases/controls	344/506	362/487	372/475	
Median intake (g/day)	60.1	80.5	102.8	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	1.14(0.94,1.39)	1.07(0.88,1.30)	0.45
OR ^e (95% CI)	1.00	1.18(0.94,1.50)	0.96(0.75,1.22)	0.71
Total dietary fibre	1.00	1110(0.34,1.30)	0.90(0.19,1.66)	0.71
No. of cases/controls	388/462	355/493	308/539	
Median intake (g/dav)	15.1	23.7	35.2	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	0.98(0.80.1.19)	0.75*(0.62,0.91)	0.04
OR ^e (95% CI)	1.00	0.97(0.77,1.23)	0.84*(0.67.0.99)	0.04
Saturated Fatty Acids	1.00	0.97(0.77,1.23)	0.84 (0.07,0.99)	0.04
No. of cases/controls	346/504	331/517	378/469	
Median intake (g/dav)	19.0	26.6	35.2	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	0.99(0.81.1.20)	1.12(0.92,1.36)	0.10
OR ^e (95% CI)	1.00	1.03(0.81,1.31)	1.00(0.79,1.26)	0.80
Monounsaturated Fatty Acids	1.00	1.05(0.81,1.51)	1.00(0.79,1.20)	0.80
No. of cases/controls	341/509	342/506	371/476	
Median intake (g/day)	21.2	29.1	38.2	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	1.05(0.86.1.28)	1.09(0.89.1.32)	0.12
OR [°] (95% CI)	1.00	1.07(0.84,1.35)	0.99(0.78,1.26)	0.70
Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids	1.00	1.01(0.04,1.33)	0.99(0.78,1.20)	0.70
No. of cases/controls	357/493	343/505	372/475	
Median intake (g/day)	11.6	16.4	22.4	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	1.00(0.82.1.22)	1.04(0.86,1.27)	0.77
OR (95% CI)	1.00	1.03(0.81,1.30)	0.98(0.77,1.23)	0.47
OK (95/0CI)	1.00	1.05(0.81,1.30)	0.96(0.77,1.23)	0.47

Table 4.1.3 Associations (adjusted OR⁸, 95%Cl⁸) of total energy, macronutrients, and alcohol intakes with CRC risk, CRC case-control study in NL and ON

Intakes of total energy, macronutrients, and alcohol	Quintiles of intakes			
	Q1 ^c	Q3°	Q5°	p-trend
Cholesterol				
No. of cases/controls	342/508	339/509	380/467	
Median intake (mg/day)	178.8	265.8	392.0	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	1.04(0.85,1.26)	1.21*(1.00,1.47)	0.02
OR ⁶ (95% CI)	1.00	0.84(0.65,1.07)	1.00(0.79,1.28)	0.88
Alcohol				
No. of cases/controls	382/467	309/539	344/503	
Median intake (g/day)	0	13.6	182.8	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	0.86(0.69,1.06)	1.15(0.90,1.48)	0.35
OR° (95% CI)	1.00	0.88(0.67,1.17)	1.17(0.85,1.61)	0.38

* OR, Odds ratio; 95%CI, 95% confidence interval.

^b Adjusted for age and total energy intake.

⁶ Adjusted for total energy intake, age, sex, BMI, physical activity(METs/week), family history of CRC, polyps, diabetes, reported colon screening procedure, cigarette smoking, alcohol drinking, education attainment, household income, manital status, regular use of NSAID, regular use of mitivitamin supplements, regular use of folate supplement, regular use of calcium supplements, reported HRT (females

ouly), province of residence, and intakes of fruits, vegetables, and red meat. Variables were included in the final model based on a ≥10% alternation in the parameter coefficient of interest.

^d Two-sided p value for test of linear trend was calculated by using median values for each quintile of intake.

" Q1 for quintile 1, Q3 for quintile 3, and Q5 for quintile 5.

Significant different from reference category, p≤0.05

Intakes of % energy from	Quintiles of intakes			p-trend ^d
macronutrients and alcohol	Q1 ^c	Q3°	Q5 ^e	p-trena
% of Calories from Protein				
No. of cases/controls	369/481	365/483	331/516	
Median intake per day	12.0	15.1	18.8	
OR† (95% CI)	1.00	0.94(0.78,1.14)	0.82*(0.67,1.00)	0.08
OR‡ (95% CI)	1.00	0.91(0.72,1.15)	0.76*(0.61,0.96)	0.05
% of Calories from Total Fat				
No. of cases/controls	327/523	344/504	365/482	
Median intake per day	23.8	31.7	39.2	
OR† (95% CD	1.00	1.05(0.86,1.27)	1.12(0.92,1.37)	0.19
OR‡ (95% CI)	1.00	1.02(0.81,1.29)	0.99(0.79,1.26)	0.92
% of Calories from Saturated I	Fat			
No. of cases/controls	332/518	352/496	376/471	
Median intake per day	7.5	10.4	13.5	
OR† (95% CI)	1.00	1.06(0.87,1.29)	1.17(0.96,1.42)	0.03
OR‡ (95% CI)	1.00	1.07(0.85,1.36)	1.02(0.81,1.30)	0.47
% of Calories from Carbohydr	ates			
No. of cases/controls	376/474	356/492	340/507	
Median intake per day	40.2	49.9	59.7	
OR† (95% CI)	1.00	0.93(0.77,1.13)	0.90(0.74,1.09)	0.41
OR‡ (95% CI)	1.00	1.00(0.80,1.27)	0.90(0.71,1.14)	0.59
% of Calories from Alcohol				
No. of cases/controls	366/484	371/477	356/491	
Median intake per day	0	1.3	11.1	
OR† (95% CI)	1.00	0.97(0.80,1.18)	0.95(0.78,1.15)	0.94
OR‡ (95% CI)	1.00	1.31*(1.02,1.68)	1.34*(1.04,1.72)	0.05

Table 4.1.4 Associations (adjusted OR⁴, 95%CI⁴) of percentage of energy from macronutrients and alcohol with CRC risk, CRC case-control study in NL and ON

^a OR. Odds ratio: 95%CL 95% confidence interval.

^b Adjusted for age and total energy intake.

⁵ Adjusted for total energy initia, age, sex, BML, physical activity/MET/sversh, family history of CRC, polys, disbets, reported colors screening procedure, cigarette anxiety, lackof adjust, education anianment, household nicone, maritali status, regular use of NSADD, regular use of malirvitamin syghements, regular use of folds supplement, regular use of axioian supplement, regular use of folds any pheneters, regular use of axioian supplements, regular use of folds any pheneters, regular use of axioian supplements, regular use of most symphoses. The phenet BML and the state of the symphoses and the parameter coefficient of interest.

^d Two-sided p value for test of linear trend was calculated by using median values for each quintile of intake.
^c O1 for quintile 1. O3 for quintile 3, and Q5 for quintile 5.

Significant different from reference category, p<0.05

4.2 Paper 2. Association of selected micronutrient intakes with colorectal cancer risk: results from a large population-based case-control study in Newfoundland and Labrador and Ontario

4.2.1 Introduction

The role of various microantients has been considered in colorectal carcinogenesis. Recert rejudentiologic studies suggest that calcum, vitamin D, folate, vitamin Bo, and some antioxiduutts are protective against cancer¹⁴⁻¹⁰, whereas ino may increase risk.⁴⁴ Calcium and vitamin D may protect against colorectal carcinogenesis by binding free fatty acids and secondary bile acids in the small intestine, thereby protecting colonic epithelial cells from matagens¹⁰. Folate and other B-vitamin may cert a protective effect on colorectal carcinogenesis as co-factors in the methylation of hymidylate for DNA symbolis and the production of 3-dateso predictiones.⁴⁵ The production of 3-dateso predictiones of 3-dateso predictiones of a dateso predictiones of 3-dateso predictiones of 3-dateso

Despite the plausibility of the biologic mechanisms proposed to explain the effects of these micromutrients on colorectal carcinogenesis, the epidemiological evidence on this issue is uncellent. Prior to 1998, epidemiologic studies suggested that calcium intake was not associated with lower risk of colorectal adenoma or cancer³⁴. However, after a follow-up of 61,463 women for 11.3 years, Terry *et al.* found an inverse association between dietary cellemi intake and CRC risk. Viamin D intake was not clearly

associated with risk⁷⁹. A recently published review concludes that the available research suggests a protective effect of vitamin D on colon cancer risk¹²².

Vegetable and finitis are generally accepted as having protective effects against CRC¹⁵⁴⁰, however, researchers have recently found weak or nonexistent inverse associations for tend firsti and vegetables^{10,1530}. Vegetables and first ser major sources of dietary antioxidants, on the weak results in recent statistic may reflect on the true strength of the association between consumption of dietary antioxidants and risk of colorectal toophalis. The Aphai-Tecepherol, Beta Cortente Cancer Prevention Study group conducted a randomized, double-bilind, place-controlled primary-prevention trial and concluded that there was no interaction between alphai-coopherol and beta caretone with respect to the incidence of CRC¹⁶. After four years, results from another doublebilind three year intervention with antioxidants (beta-cancents 15 mg, viramit C 150 mg, viramit C 75 mg, solenium 101 micregy suggested a protective role of antioxidants on one adrenum formation. No effect was detected on the growth of adacomas and plays¹⁰?

There may be a number of reasons for inconsistences between studies, such as the potential neterion bias and possible recall bias that could played a larger role in retrospective studies. If some micromatrients are beneficial, whether or not diet alone can fimile enough micromatrient to have a substantially protective effect on CRC is a question. With the increasing frequency of using individual or multivitamin supplements by the Canadian population, whether or not supplement use could exert a protective effect against CRC becomes a crucial question. Therefore, this paper presents the results of a large cruss-courts that you coulded in two Canadian provises that teamine relationships
between selected micronutrients and the risk of CRC.

4.2.2 Materials and methods

(note to readers: this section mostly duplicates 4.1.2)

4.2.2.1 Selection of cases and controls

Data for this case-control study were from the Ontario Familial Colorectal Cancer Registries (OFCCR) and Newfoundland Familial Colorectal Cancer Registries (NFCCR). In Ontario (ON) incident cases diagnosed during 1997,2000 were identified through the population-based Ontario Cancer Registry. In Newfoundland and Labrador (NL) incident cases diagnosed during 1999-2003 were identified through the population tumor registry maintained by the Newfoundland Cancer Registry. Both registries were used to identify newly diagnosed cases of colon or rectal cancer (nathology confirmed ICD 9th revision codes: 153.0-153.9, 154.1-154.3, and 154.8 or ICD-0 codes: 18.0-18.7, 19.9, 20.9), and aged 20-74 years. Phase two of the OFCCR was initiated to collect data for cases diagnosed in ON during 2003-2006. Initial contact was with the surgeon/physician identified on the pathology report. Once physician consent was obtained, individuals were then contacted to inform them of the study. Participants who indicated their willingness to participate the study were sent, in sequence, a written consent form, family history questionnaire (FHO), personal history questionnaire (PHO), and food frequency questionnaire (FFO). Non-responders were sent post-card reminders and phoned several weeks after initial contact to remind them of the mailing.

Controls were a random sample of residents in each province aged 20-74 years. In ON controls were identified through a list of residential phone numbers or from

population-based property assessment rolls (owners and occupants). In NL controls were identified through random digit dialing¹⁰¹. Both registrics frequency matched controls to cases on sex and five-year age straits. Once verbal consent for participation was obtained during the phone contact, a survey package was forwarded to each potential participant. The package includes an information pamphlet with general information concerning the study, a content form, a FHQ, a FHQ, a FFQ, and a self addressed stamped envelope.

4.2.2.2 Dietary and epidemiologic data collection

Information on dietary intake was collected using a self-administrated FFO. This 19-nage FFQ was originally developed for the Hawaiian and Californian populations by the Epidemiology Program, Cancer Research Centre of Hawaii and has been previously described and validated against 24-h recalls among a multi-ethnic Hawaiian/Southern Californian population^{110,111}. This previously validated food frequency questionnaire has been adapted to include regional foods in NL and was used to assess diet over 1-2 years prior to diagnosis or interview in each province. Participants were questioned about their intake of almost 170 foods which were believed to be important to the contribution of most micronutrients in the diet. For each food item, subjects were asked to estimate the frequency of food intake and their usual portion size from 'Regular', 'Small' or 'Large'. A food photographs were provided that showed regular, small and large portion sizes for vegetables, meat and chicken. Participants were also questioned on their use of any individual or multivitamin supplements, including the usual brand name, the amounts taken and the duration of consumption. Intake of micronutrient was computed by multiplying the frequency of consumption of each food item by the nutrient content of

portion size. In ON values for the amounts of micronutrients in the foods were obtained from the USDA file. In NL micronutrient contents were based on the 2005 Canadian Nutrient file.

The self-administered personal history questionnaire included many close-ended questions about medical history, howel screening history, det, medication use, diet, physical activity, reproductive factors, alcohol and bohaceo use and socio-demographic measures such as colocation and income. Identifying information such as sex, age, date of birth, and matrial status was also collected. For female participants there were additional questions relation to reproductive factors.

For the analyses, we excluded those who did not provide sufficient ditery information at baseline, those who failed to provide information on potential risk factors in baseline, those we reported energy initia in the upper of 100 ever 2.5% of initiale (lower and upper cutoff: In NI, 925 and 4700 kcal for men, 1100 and 4900 kcal for women, respectively, In ON, 1049 and 5200 kcal for men, 835 and 4100 kcal for women, respectively, and patients who had fimilial advencemators polyosis (FAP) and an in-stitu turnor were excluded. After these exclusions, haved on those who completed both the PHQ and FFQ, 3102 subjects (1272 cases and 1830 controls) from ON and 1139 subjects (485 cases and 651 controls) from NL remained. Data collected from these subjects were used for the analysis.

4.2.2.3 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS statistical software (version 9.1 SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). Descriptive statistics stratified by case-control status were used to describe the demographic-health-related characteristics and dietary intakes of the study participants. Intakes of micronutrients were adjusted for total arcregi intake via the residual method of Willett that were used to reduce potential bins due to differential overor under-openting for distinked¹¹³. Micronutrients exposure included first description supplements. Intakes of micronutrients were calculated by adding energy-adjusted micronutrients from food and unadjusted micronutrients from supplements. Micronutrient intakes were categorized into gainlike based on the distribution among the study population without missing endpoints and were entered into models as indicator variables with the lowest qualities a based errors.

Age-adjusted unconditional logistic regression models were calculated stratified by province. Pooled analyses were conducted since odds ratios (OR) and their corresponding 9% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated from maximum-likelihood estimates in unconditional logistic regression to assess the association of the outcome with microantrients intakes. Multivariate unconditional logistic regression was used to evaluate the association of irtikado of sletcetd microantrents with CRC risk after adjusting a set of potential confusedence or covariates. Tests for trend were used to assess dose-corposes reditorings based on the microantrent in titks.

Potential confounding factors include agr(18-40, 50-59, 60-69, and 70+ycars); sex; body mass index(BM1<18.5, 18.5-24.9, 25-29.9, and 200kg/m²); physical activity(-7.4, 7.4-22.4, 22.4-53.0, and >53.0 METs/week); family history of CRC(yce, no); polyrs (ycar, no); diabets(ycs, no); history of colons recenting procedure/ycs, no); cigarette smoking

(ever smoke, never smoke); alcohol drinking(<14, >14drinks/week); education attainment (high school graduate or less, technical school/ some college/ university, and bachelor's degree/ graduate degree); household income(less than \$12,000, \$12,000-29,999, \$30,000-49,999, and \$50,000); marital status(married, single/ never married, and separated/ divorced/widowed); regular use of medication and supplements: non-steroid antiinflammatory drug (NSAID)(ves, no), multivitamin supplements(ves, no), folate supplement(yes, no), calcium supplement(yes, no); reported hormone replacement therapy (HRT, females only)(yes, no); and dietary intakes; total energy intake (quintiles). fruits(0-6, 6-7, 7-14, and >14 servings/week), vegetables(0-6, 6-7, 7-14, and >14 servings/week), red meat(0-2, 2-3, 3-5, and >5 servings/week); province of residence(NL, ON). The basis for the assessment of confounding factors included: (1) literature and previous studies. (2) biological plausibility. (3) whether the regression coefficient of the primary dependent variable changed by 10% or more after addition of the potentially confounding variable, or (4) whether the covariate entered the model at p<0.10. A backwards-stepwise procedure was performed to obtain the final model. Statistical tests were two sided, and n values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

4.2.3 Results

Table 4.2.1 The distribution of CRC cases and controls according to age, sex, distary habits and other selected variables are given in Table 4.2.1. By dosign, cases and controls had a similar distribution of sex and province of residence. Cases tended to be younger, obese, either physically inactive or physically extremely active, more likely to have positive family binory of CRC, and commum more red ments and test energy than

controls. Intakes of fruits and vegetables did not vary significantly between cases and controls.

Table 4.2.2 shows mean intakes of micronarisets from food sources only or from both food an supplement sources among cases and outbook. For most micronarisents (except iron), controls consistently reported significantly higher intakes of micronarisents from food sources or from food an supplement sources as compared to cases (all p=0.05). Furthermore, higher intakes of micronariset in controls were primarily due to larger contributions from supplement sources. For example, no differences were found in reftoril intake (from food), however, after adding supplements into intake, significant differences were found between cases and controls. Cases had higher intakes of inon, largely due to distory, supplement sucje-2000).

The OR and 959xCl of CRC according to initials or of selected micronutients from both food and supplements are above in Table 4.2.3. After adjusting for potential covariates, risk of CRC was found to be significantly inversely associated with intakes of food alcidium (highest v. the flowest quintiles) CovO-6.9.9, 959xCl: 0.45, 0.71, vitamin C(OR-0.67, 954xCl:0.51, 0.83), vitamin D(OR-0.72, 954xCl: 0.57, 0.94), mbrdThwing(OR-0.61; 954xCl: 0.47, 0.78), and folate(OR-0.72, 954xCl: 0.55, 0.92), A direct relation emerged for iton intake (OR-1.24, 954xCl: 0.1-1.78). No links were found with relatio, Japhsetoperkey, thatami, vitamin BN, vitamin B12.

We also evaluated the associations of CRC risk with selected micronutrients from food source only (Table 4.2.4). After adjusting for potential confounders, CRC risk were inversely significantly associated with dietary calcium intake (OR=0.76, 95%CI:

0.59,0.97), dietary vitamin D intake (OR=0.79, 95%CI: 0.62, 1.00), and non-significantly inversely related to intakes of vitamin C(OR=0.87, 95%CI: 0.67, 1.13), riboflavin/OR=0.86, 95%CI: 0.68, 1.09), folate/OR=0.83, 95%CI: 0.65, 1.05).

We additionally examined CRC risk according to individual supplement use and levels of micronutrient intakes from foods (Table 4.2.5). After adjusting for malivi-tamin supplements use and other covariates, significantly reduced risks were observed among individual supplements users, and wake *ex maccisistent relationships* were found among non-supplements users. Stratified analyses by supplement intake status showed that the protective effects vary according to micronutrients intake levels from foods. In addition, the protective effects are more pronounced in people with lower nutrients intake from foods, such as visual can foldate.

4.2.4 Discussion

Our dust from a large population based case-control study suggested that inverse associations with CRC emerged for certain microantrients from both food sources and supplements consumption, including calcium, vitamin C, vitamin D, rhoffarvin, and alpha-becophenst, thiamin, vitamin B6, vitamin B12. Inverse associations of calcium, vitamin C, foldat and CRC were most prenounced among those microantrients-containing individual supplements users. The positive association between invo intake and CRC risk was most procospored more torses.

When intake from diet only was considered for the micronutrients of interest, associations were diminished. The exclusion of regular supplement users resulted in a slight decrease in power in those analyses. In addition, we observed that inverse associations of calcium, vitamin C, foldat and CRC were most pronounced among individual supplement users. One possibility is that in this study micromatrients from supplemental sources are mainly outribubble to the differences between cases and controls. Intakes of micromatrients from food sources did not vary significantly among cases and controls. Thus, we presume that did alone might not furnish enough micromatrients and the levels of micromatrients in the Canadian diet may be insufficient to graphy robuse the risk of CRC. Instead, individual supplements provide sufficient micromatrients and earnt protective efficien. Therefore, with the increasing prevalence of dietary supplements use in Canadian population, our findings highlight the importance of collecting information on supplements use when studying associations of micromatrients with disease risk.

Our findings suggesting a powsible inverse relation of CRC risk with instace of calcium and vitamin D are consistent with results from a recent Maltiethnic Cohert Study conducted in Hawai and Lox Angeles¹¹². There a follow-up of FSA's mean rul [0,510] we women for 5-8 years, Park *et al.* found that total calcium instace (from foods and supplements) was inversely associated with CRC risk in both men and women (RBR-0.70, 0.64, respectively). The inverse association was also seem for total vitamin D instace of total calcium (RBR-0.72, 0.4 is our study, we observed inverse associations with instace of study calcium(RBR-0.59) and total vitamin D(RR-0.73). Moreover, after exclusion of supplement users, inverse associations with calcium and vitamin D (from food source only) yromatied singerace.

In 2007, Ryun-Hardman reviewed several case-control and prospective cohort studies and some clinical trials and concluded that evidence of calcium and vitamin D roducing risk of CRC was stronger. Multivitamin and mineral supplements can complement a hashifty dief²¹. Consister results in our study found that the lowest risk was observed among calcium supplements users with higher dictary calcium istake. This finding again suggests that the use of calcium supplements have further benefit in preventing CRC. However, the protective rule of vitamin D should be concluded with caution, because vitamin D was partially dovered from multivitamin supplements.

The findings support the hypothesis that vitamin C is protective against CRC, possibly through antioxidant nechanisms. Antioxidants, such as carotene, retirol, alphatocopheroi and avitamin C, may decrease the risk by quenching the radicals and reducing oxidative damages to DNA^{23,21}. These findings were in keeping with may other statiles^(214,26). However, in this study, we observed an inverse association only between vitamis C and CRC, but no rationalayin were found with retirol or alpha-iscopherol intake. One possibility is that intakes of these mathematicals that reducing oxidations, to show we significant associations. Results also showed that vitamin C supplement may have farther benefit among those with relative lower distary intake of vitamins. C. This may be explained by the threshold effect that low intake of vitamin C may increase risk but incremental intake above the threshold level may add minimal benefits.

We observed that higher intakes of folate and riboflavin were inversely associated with CRC risk and a linear dose-response effect of increasing protection emerged for

both matrims. Our findings support the hypothesis that follow may affect colorectal carcinogenesits because of its role in the synthesis of mucleic acid and DNA endpollution¹²³. However, the indimeterion of the enzyme that influences homocysteine remethylation and DNA methylation¹²³. In our study, folate intake was derived from fiolds, follate supplement and multivitamin supplements. After controlling for multivitamin supplements use, an inverse association between folder and CRC was most promounced among fields supplement users. Except for hose from food sources, riboflavin was mainly derived from multivitamin supplements, has caution should be taken in integreting the protective role of riboflavin. It is worthwhile to further explore independent effects of riboflavin and vitamin D as individual supplementation on the occurrence of CRC.

An important finding in our study was the strong possible association between rior intake and CRC risk, with the risk strongly increased in the highest quintile of iron intake. Also, after controlling for multivistion supportant sus, any positive association between iron and CRC was most pronounced among iron supplement users, and a 70% increased risk was observed in the higher level of dictary iron intake. Those may increase the risk of CRC by generating free radicals that stack DNA and damage chorosomes^{122,237}. Interestingly, in this study, cause had higher indee of root mate controls, primarily due to larger contribution of iron supplement, Iron plays an important role in helping our red blood still deliver oxyges to the rost of the body. Low iron levels can cause people to develop iron deficiency amoni, However, excess induce from or malesaueth vising

iron supplement may have harmfal effects of increasing CRC risk. The recommended daily allowance (RDA) for men and wromen. So years old and older has been established at Rm daily³³. In our study, the average daily instake of iron (from food and supplements) was 30mg for cases and 25mg for controls, which is much higher than the RDA. Thus, attention should be taken in consuming from and anytements.

This study had a number of strengths. We had a large sample size, which allowed us to observe associations that would be undetectable in smaller studies. More importantly, the previous findings about the protective effects of micronutrients were confined to a specific study population, which makes it difficult to generalize the results. In this study, we conducted pooled analyses of the population of two Canadian provinces to investigate the associations of selected micronutrients and CRC risk, and hence to make conclusions about specific micronutrients having possible chemo-preventive effects on CRC. Furthermore, nutrient intakes were adjusted for total energy intake. The use of calorieadjusted values in multivariate models will often overcome the problem of high collinearity frequently observed between matritional factors¹¹². To the extent that, this adjustment also reduces between-person variation due to over- or underreporting of food intakes¹¹². The relationships of selected micronutrients and CRC risk may differ appreciably by several factors, so we controlled for a wide range of potential confounding factors using multivariate logistic regression models. Although some random misclassification of diet is likely, non-differential misclassification generally tends to bias the risk estimates toward the null.

Consideration must be given to the potential limitations in the present study that

may have influenced the observed associations. First, as in most case-centrel studies, potential recall and selection biases are possible. Since exposure information was collected after diagnosis, differential recall between cases and controls would bias research; in particular, cases may recall dietary exposures differently from controls because of the presence of illness or symptoms. Controls may have agreed to join this study because of an interest in health and may therefore have healthier dietary and physical activity habits, a pattern that may exaggrate differences with the cases beyond what might have been seen with thru? comparable controls.

Second, by design, cases and controls had similar see distribution, however, cases and controls were not well comparable according to agg group. Estimates of natrient induce from a FPC one of precise and there is always the potential for measurement error. Although the original FPQ used in this study has been validated^{10,10,11}, this questionnaire requires further evaluation because it was originally developed for the Hawaiian and Californian populations that may be different from popule residing in NL and ON. FPQ used in NL has been adapted to include regional Bools in NL, however, OFCCR used the original FPQ that has not been adapted. Thus, a sub-study will be necessary to assess the level of agreement between the FPQ used by the OFCCR and the FPQ that was previously developed specification for Canadian populations.

Think, in this study microardient intakes were categorized into qualitative based on the distribution among the study population. Although this method was often used in several studies^{1,12,111}, we may take individual recommended distary allowances(RDA) into consideration in finate study. For example, microardistruin intakes may be categorized

as <50% RDA, 50%-80% RDA, 80%-120% RDA, >120% RDA. However, this is likely not a major problem for most micromatrients, as many requirements are related to body size and physical activity level, and we have taken both BMI and physical activity into account in this study.

Fourth, these findings may reflect problems of collinearity between various micromutrients, between selected foods (such as fruits and vegetables), and between multivitamin supplements, than this possibility cannot be completely eliminated. Finally, it is also possible that the 1-2 year referent period on which dietary data were based is immificient if more more diet (erg. 5-10 year) has a stronger influence on CRC risk.

In conclusion, our what presents evidence that centain microstaristic (alcium, vitamin D, vitamin C, riboflavin and folate) may protest against CRC, however, iron may increase the risk. Levels of microaruliteria in the Canadian die may be isutificient to grantly reduce the risk of CRC. Our findings suggest that specific microarutireits may event an independent protective effect against colorestal carcinogenesis. Furthermore, calcium supplement, vitamin C supplement, and folate supplement may have familiar effect of increasing CRC risk. Yet it is also likely that other physiologic, behavioral, and folatory factors interact with microarutireits to affect risk. Attempts to reduce risk by selecting one or even several microarutireits for supplementation may on have the anticipaterular unlitheir interactions with other factors are better understood.

Characteristics*	Cases(n=1760)	Controls(n=2481)	
	No. (%)	No. (%)	
Age (years)			
18-49	368(20.9)	265(10.7)	
50-59	412(23.4)	690(27.8)	
60-69	646(36.7)	998(40.2)	
70+	334(19.0)	528(21.3)	
Sex			
Males	935(53.1)	1357(54.7)	
Females	825(46.9)	1124(45.3)	
Province of residence			
NL	488(27.7)	651(26.2)	
ON	1272(72.3)	1830(73.8)	
BMI ^b (kg/m ²)			
Underweight(<18.5)	23(1.3)	22(0.9)	
Normal(18,5-24,9)	595(33.8)	930(37.5)	
Overweight (25-29.9)	748(42.5)	1069(43.1)	
Obese (>30)	394(22.4)	460(18.5)	
Physical activity (METs/week)	277 (Last 1)	100(1000)	
0-74	465(26.4)	595(24.0)	
7.4 -22.4	348(19.8)	633(25.5)	
22.4 - 53.0	429(24.4)	633(25.5)	
> 53.0	518(29.4)	620(25.0)	
Family history of CRC*			
No	1582(89.9)	2337(94.2)	
Yes	178(10.1)	144(5.8)	
Fruit intake (X servings/week)			
0 < X < 6	475(27.0)	625(25.2)	
$6 < X \le 7$	502(28.5)	754(30.4)	
$7 < X \le 14$	459(26.1)	653(26.3)	
X>14	324(18.4)	449(18.1)	
Vegetable intake (X servings/week)			
$0 \le X \le 6$	260(14.8)	367(14.8)	
$6 \le X \le 7$	549(31.2)	796(32.1)	
$7 < X \le 14$	505(28.7)	707(28.5)	
X>14	445(25.3)	610(24.6)	
Red meat intake (X servings/week)			
$0 \le X \le 2$	269(15.3)	486(19.6)	
$2 \le X \le 3$	702(39.9)	987(39.8)	
$3 \le X \le 5$	398(22.6)	526(21.2)	
X >5	392(22.3)	481(19.4)	

Table 4.2.1 Selected characteristics of subjects from CRC case-control study in NL and ON

Characteristics ^a	Cases(n=1760)	Controls(n=2481)	
Characteristics	No. (%)	No. (%)	
Total energy intake (kcal/day)			
Quintile 1 (<1580)	313(17.8)	536(21.6)	
Quintile 2 (1580-1943)	341(19.4)	506(20.4)	
Quintile 3 (1943-2314)	343(19.5)	506(20.4)	
Quintile 4 (2314-2866)	359(20.4)	489(19.7)	
Ouintile 5 (>2866)	404(22.9)	444(17.9)	

⁴ All characteristic variables presented as number(%).
^bBMI, Body mass index; METs/week, metabolic equivalent hours per week. Significant difference between cases and controls (P=0.05)

Micronutrient intakes ^a	Cases (n=1760)	Controls (n=2481)	Difference (Controls- Cases)	p-value*
Calcium (mg/d)				
From food	948.8±316.4	1003.8±337.7	55	< 0.0001
From food and supplements	1095.7 ± 489.9	1199.8±537.0	104.1	< 0.0001
Iron (mg/day)				
From food	17.4 ± 5.9	17.8 ± 6.2	0.4	0.014
From food and supplements	30.1±58.6	24.5±25.4	-5.6	< 0.0001
Retinol (ug/d)				
From food	890.9±454.1	914.8±442.0	23.9	0.087
From food and supplements	1351.9±1052.6	1490.5±1182.8	138.6	< 0.0001
Vitamin C (mg/d)				
From food	160.5±89.5	168.2±88.5	7.7	0.006
From food and supplements	403.7±940.3	473.0±1058.2	69.3	0.03
Vitamin D (ug/d)				
From food	5.4±2.8	5.7±2.9	0.3	< 0.0001
From food and supplements	8.1±5.6	9.1±6.3	1.0	<0.0001
Alpha-tocopherol (mg/d)				
From food	6.1±2.4	6.3±2.5	0.2	0.028
From food and supplements	44.2±85.5	57.6±97.0	13.4	< 0.0001
Thiamin (mg/d)				
From food	1.9±0.5	2.0±0.5	0.1	0.029
From food and supplements	2.8 ± 3.1	3.344.5	0.5	< 0.0001
Riboflavin (mg/d)				
From food	2.5 ± 0.7	2.6±0.7	0.1	< 0.0001
From food and supplements	3.6 ± 3.4	4.1±4.7	0.5	< 0.0001
Vitamin B6 (mg/d)				
From food	2.4 ± 0.8	2.5±0.8	0.1	0.025
From food and supplements	3.6±3.9	4.3±5.9	0.7	< 0.0001
Vitamin B12 (ug/d)				
From food	7.1±3.9	7.1±3.4	0	0.81
From food and supplements	12.1±13.8	14.2±18.6	2.1	< 0.0001
Folate (ug/d)				
From food	343.5±123.9	360.2±125.7	16.7	< 0.0001
From food and supplements	534.9±404.3	598.1±452.2	63.2	< 0.0001

Table 4.2.2 Comparison of mean intakes of selected micronutrients between cases and controls, CRC case-control study in NL and ON

* All continuous variables presented as mean ± SD (standard deviation). ^b For continuous variables, differences between cases and controls based on T-test.

Micronutrients from food	Quintiles of intakes				p.	
and supplements	01 02 03 04 05			Q5	trend	
Calcium						
No. of cases/controls	414/436	362/486	385/463	315/533	284/563	
Median intake (mg/d)	662.7	865.0	1049.7	1285.6	1786.7	
OR* (95% CD	1.00	0.83	0.94	0.66*	0.57*	0.04
		(0.68,1.01)	(0.77, 1.14)	(0.54.0.80)	(0.47.0.69)	
OR ^e (95% CD)	1.00	0.86	1.10	0.72*	0.59*	0.11
		(0.67, 1.09)	(0.86,1.40)	(0.56.0.92)	(0.45, 0.77)	
ron						
No. of cases/controls	374/476	373/475	343/505	320/528	350/497	
Median intake (mg/d)	12.6	15.3	18.5	25.1	36.7	
OR ^b (95% CD	1.00	1.07	0.94	0.83	0.95	0.42
on (conten)	1.00	(0.88,1.30)	(0.77, 1.14)	(0.68,1.01)	(0.78,1.15)	0.744
OR ⁴ (95% CD	1.00	0.99	0.97	1.09	1.34*	0.02
on (issue)	1.00	(0.79,1.25)	(0.77,1.23)	(0.84,1.43)	(1.01,1.78)	0.04
Retinol		for off any	((000-01745)	1	
No. of cases/controls	169/481	180/468	361/487	338/510	312/535	
Median intake (ug/d)	454.8	777.6	1033.8	1684.6	2766.2	
OR ^b (95% CD	1.00	1.13	1.05	0.90	0.82*	0.07
on (oshei)	1.00	(0.93,1.37)	(0.86,1.28)	(0.74,1.09)	(0.67,1.00)	0.07
OR* (95% CD	1.00	1.29	1.24	1.14	1.08	0.73
OK (95%CI)	1.00	(0.99,1.62)	(0.98,1.57)	(0.89,1.46)	(0.79,1.47)	0,13
Vitamin C		(0.99,1.02)	(0.98,1.57)	(0.89,1.40)	(0.79,1747)	
No. of cases/controls	407/443	359/489	354/494	333/515	307/540	
Median intake (mg/d)	82.6	142.0	201.3	310.6	776.3	
OR ^b (95% CD	1.00	0.87	0.85	0.74*	0.67*	0.04
OK (95%CI)	1.00	(0.72,1.06)	(0.70,1.03)	(0.61,0.90)	(0.55,0.82)	0.01
OR* (95% CD	1.00	0.79	0.84	0.81	(0.55,0.82) 0.67*	0.05
OR (95% CI)	1.00	(0.62,1.01)		(0.63,1.05)	(0.51,0.88)	0.05
Vitamin D		(0.62,1.01)	(0.66, 1.07)	(0.63,1.05)	(0.51,0.88)	
No. of cases/controls	394/456	346/502	394/454	320/528	306/541	
Median intake (up/d)	2.77	4.62	6.64	11.5	16.7	
OR ^b (95% CD)	1.00	4.62	0.64	0.73*	0.71*	0.13
OR- (95% CI)	1.00					0.13
ORI INTEL OR		(0.71,1.05)	(0.89,1.31)	(0.60,0.89)	(0.59,0.87)	0.15
OR ^e (95% CI)	1.00	0.93	1.20	0.75*	0.73*	0.18
		(0.73, 1.19)	(0.94, 1.53)	(0.59,0.96)	(0.57, 0.94)	
Alpha-tocopherol						
No. of cases/controls	388/462	372/476	373/475	325/523	302/545	
Median intake (mg/d)	4.3	5.5	7.6	19.7	174.1	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	0.97	0.96	0.76*	0.72*	0.15
		(0.80, 1.18)	(0.80, 1.17)	(0.63,0.93)	(0.60, 0.88)	-
OR ^c (95% CI)	1.00	0.97	1.05	1.04	0.86	0.05
		(0.76,1.22)	(0.83, 1.33)	(0.76, 1.43)	(0.65,1.13)	
Thiamin						
No. of cases/controls	381/468	376/473	365/483	342/507	296/550	

Table 4.2.3 Adjusted OR⁴, 95%CI⁴ of CRC risk according to selected micronutrients intakes from both food and supplement sources, CRC case-control study in NL and ON

Micronutrients from food	Quintiles of intakes				<i>p</i> -	
and supplements	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	trend
Median intake (mg/d)	1.53	1.82	2.11	2.95	4.16	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	1.07	1.02	0.89	0.70*	0.01
		(0.88, 1.30)	(0.84, 1.24)	(0.73, 1.08)	(0.58.0.86)	
OR ⁶ (95% CI)	1.00	0.96	1.10	0.99	0.79	0.14
		(0.76, 1.21)	(0.87, 1.39)	(0.74, 1.31)	(0.55, 1.12)	
Riboflavin						
No. of cases/controls	412/438	360/488	355/493	343/505	290/557	
Median intake (mg/d)	1.93	2.37	2.85	3.71	5.44	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	0.83	0.81*	0.76*	0.57*	0.01
		(0.69, 1.01)	(0.66, 0.98)	(0.62, 0.92)	(0.47, 0.70)	
OR ⁶ (95% CI)	1.00	0.87	0.86	0.82	0.61*	0.01
		(0.69, 1.11)	(0.68, 1.10)	(0.64, 1.05)	(0.47, 0.78)	
Vitamin B6						
No. of cases/controls	386/464	369.479	359/489	348/500	298/549	
Median intake (mg/d)	1.71	2.15	2.58	4.01	5.82	
OR ^b (95% CD	1.00	0.99	0.95	0.89	0.69*	0.01
		(0.82, 1.21)	(0.78, 1.15)	(0.73, 1.08)	(0.57, 0.84)	
OR ⁴ (95% CD	1.00	1.04	1.03	1.22	0.95	0.95
		(0.83, 1.32)	(0.82, 1.31)	(0.91, 1.63)	(0.66, 1.36)	
Folate						
No. of cases/controls	412/438	389.459	343/505	303/545	313/534	
Median intake (ug/d)	236.5	311.3	390.7	701.2	1069.8	
OR ^b (95% CD)	1.00	1.00	0.81*	0.64*	0.69*	0.08
		(0.83, 1.22)	(0.67, 0.99)	(0.52, 0.77)	(0.56, 0.84)	
OR ⁶ (95% CD	1.00	0.97	0.86	0.72*	0.72*	0.04
		(0.76, 1.23)	(0.67, 1.09)	(0.56, 0.92)	(0.56.0.92)	
Vitamin B12						
No. of cases/controls	387/464	368/479	350/498	352/496	303/544	
Median intake (ug/d)	4.15	6.03	8.15	15.2	22.6	
OR ^b (95% CD)	1.00	0.98	0.90	0.89	0.71*	0.01
		(0.80, 1.19)	(0,74,1.10)	(0.73, 1.08)	(0.58,0.86)	
OR ⁶ (95% CD	1.00	0.95	0.94	1.10	0.93	0.97
		(0.75, 1.20)	(0.74, 1.19)	(0.83, 1.45)	(0.66, 1.32)	

* OR, Odds ratio; 95%C1, 95% confidence interval.

^b Adjusted for age and total energy intake.

² algored on the network strugger mask. ² Algored on the network strugger mask and the strugger mask strugger mask strugger and strugger mask strugger and strugger mask strugger mask strugger strugger mask strugger strugger strugger mask strugger strugger strugger strugger mask strugger stru

of interest. ^d Two-sided p value for test of linear trend was calculated by using median values for each quintile of intake.

* Significant different from reference category, p:0.05

Micronutrients from food	Quintiles of intakes					p-
source only	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	trend
Calcium						
No. of cases/controls	398/452	374/474	339/509	343/505	306/541	
Median intake (mg/d)	631.0	805.2	936.6	1091.5	1391.9	
OR ^b (95% CD	1.00	0.96	0.84	0.82*	0.66*	0.003
		(0.79, 1.17)	(0.69, 1.03)	(0.67, 0.99)	(0.54, 0.81)	
OR ^e (95% CI)	1.00	0.94	0.81	0.90	0.76*	0.05
		(0.74, 1.18)	(0.64, 1.04)	(0.71, 1.15)	(0.59, 0.97)	
Vitamin C						
No. of cases/controls	386/464	372/476	333/515	343/505	326/521	
Median intake (mg/d)	71.2	116.3	152.4	194.1	271.3	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	1.05	0.87	0.93	0.82*	0.09
		(0.86, 1.27)	(0.71, 1.06)	(0.76, 1.13)	(0.67, 1.00)	
OR ^e (95% CI)	1.00	0.93	0.89	0.89	0.87	0.05
		(0.73, 1.18)	(0.69, 1.14)	(0.69, 1.15)	(0.67, 1.13)	
Vitamin D						
No. of cases/controls	382/468	356(491	358/491	364/484	300/547	
Median intake (ug/d)	2.49	3.95	5.17	6.57	9.25	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	0.98	1.01	1.04	0.73*	0.17
		(0.81, 1.20)	(0.83, 1.23)	(0.85,1.26)	(0.60, 0.89)	
OR ⁶ (95% CI)	1.00	0.97	1.07	1.08	0.79*	0.32
		(0.76, 1.24)	(0.84, 1.37)	(0.84, 1.37)	(0.62, 1.00)	
Riboflavin						
No. of cases/controls	390/458	357/492	365/482	328/522	320/527	
Median intake (mg/d)	1.85	2.21	2.50	2.86	3.45	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	0.91	0.96	0.80*	0.74*	0.02
		(0.75, 1.10)	(0.79, 1.16)	(0.66, 0.97)	(0.61, 0.90)	
OR ⁶ (95% CI)	1.00	0.97	1.03	0.84	0.86	0.13
		(0.77, 1.21)	(0.82, 1.30)	(0.67, 1.06)	(0.68, 1.09)	
Folate						
No. of cases/controls	405/445	365/483	347/501	328/520	315/532	
Median intake (ug/d)	225.5	288.5	335.4	393.7	495.0	
OR* (95% CI)	1.00	0.92	0.86	0.79*	0.72*	0.001
		(0.76, 1.12)	(0.71, 1.05)	(0.65, 0.96)	(0.59, 0.88)	
OR ^c (95% CI)	1.00	0.85	0.91	0.86	0.83	0.05
		(0.68.1.07)	(0.73, 1.15)	(0.68, 1.08)	(0.65, 1.05)	

Table 4.2.4 Adjusted OR⁸, 95%CI⁸ of CRC risk according to selected micronutrients intakes from food source only, CRC case-control study in NL and ON

* OR, Odds ratio; 95%CI, 95% confidence interval

^b Adjusted for age and total energy intake

^ Adjusted for stual energy initial, age, sex, BML, physical activity/HET's week), family history of CRC, polyn, diabetes, resoluted colors acreening procedure, cigarette waise, placebal diagno, obscarios attainantes, hoseehebd income, marinal status, regular use of NSADD, regular use of multivitamis argularments, reported RRI (fematics out), powires of orsistence, and intakso of finant, vegrabals, and reference in the parameter coefficient of interest.

^d Two-sided p value for test of linear trend was calculated by using median values for each quintile of intake.

* Significant different from reference category, p<0.05

Table 4.2.5 Adjusted OR ^a , 95%CI ^a of CRC risk according to individual supplement	nt
use and levels of micronutrient intakes from foods, CRC case-control study in N	L
and ON	

Individual supplement use	Dietary nutrients intake	- p-trend	
	Lower intake	Higher intake	- p-trend
Iron supplement use	Iron intake		
Median intake	<=16.15 mg/d	>16.15 mg/d	
Non-users			
No. of cases/controls	675/875	571/825	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	1.04(0.87, 1.25)	
Users			
No. of cases/controls	229/344	285/437	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.55*(1.04,2.30)	1.70*(1.15,2.52)	0.05
Calcium supplement use	Calcium intal	ke from foods	
Median intake	<=936.56 mg/d	>936.56 mg/d	
Non-users			
No. of cases/controls	643/758	524/700	
OR ^b (95% CD	1.00	1.02(0.84, 1.24)	
Users			
No. of cases/controls	285/435	308/588	
OR ^b (95% CD	0.80*(0.63,1.00)	0.68*(0.54,0.85)	0.07
Vitamin C supplement use	Vitamin C inte	ke from foods	
Median intake	<=152.44 mp/d	>152.44 mg/d	
Non-users			
No. of cases/controls	622/717	462/644	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	0.89(0.73,1.09)	
Users			
No. of cases/controls	298/484	378/636	
OR ^b (95% CD)	0.68*(0.54.0.86)	0.78*(0.63,0.96)	0.19
Folate supplement use	Folate intak	e from foods	
Median intake	<=335.36 ug/d	>335,36 ug/d	
Non-users			
No. of cases/controls	748/825	512/798	
OR ^b (95% CI)	1.00	0.87(0.72,1.04)	
Users			
No. of cases/controls	209/340	291/518	
OR ^b (95% CD	0.67*(0.52,0.86)	0.73*(0.58,0.92)	0.12

8 OR, Odds ratio; 95%Cl, 95% confidence interval

³ Adjusted for total energy intake, age, sex, BMI, physical activity/METs/week), family history of CRC, polyts, diabetes, reported color screening procedure, cigarette ansking, alcohol drining, education attainment, hosehold income, marial status, regular use of SNLD), regular use of multivitumin supplements, reported HRT (females only), province of residence, and intakes of fraits, vegetables, and red metd.

⁴ Two-sided p value for test of linear trend was calculated by using median values for each quintile of intake.

* Significant different from reference category, p 0.05

4.3 Paper 3. Association of calcium, vitamin D and dairy products intakes with colorectal cancer risk: results from a large population-based case-control study in Newfoundland and Labrador and Ontario

4.3.1 Introduction

Colorestal cancer (TRC) is the third most common ensers and the second Leading cause of cancer detail in mea and women combined in Canada¹⁷. In 2009, an estimated 22,000 Canadians were diagnosed with CRC and 9,100 detol of 16¹⁷. There are substantial interprovincial incidence rate variations in Canada and Newsfoundian and Labrador (NL) has the highest incidence, while Outario (ON) ranks in the middle. According to the Canadian Cancer Statistics 2009, the age-standardized incidence rates of CRC in NL were 87 per 100,000 fer men and 22 per 100,0000 fer women, which are higher than ON rates (men: 60 per 100,000 and women: 41 per 100,000) and the natural average rates(men: 62 per 100,000 and women: 41 per 100,000).

The high rates of the disease in NL may be partly explained by a high prevalence of familie with a predisposition to benefatary colone cancer²⁰, however environmental factors have been shown to be important components to CRC risks.^{14,44} Die that long been regarded an ore of the most important wironmental factors associated with the cause of CRC². High intake of animal fat or protein and low intake of fraits and vegetables have repeatedly been shown to increase the risk of CRC²⁰. It is thought that fat promotes large bowel cancer by increasing the levels of free ionized fatty acids and unconjugated bile acids in the bowel lumen. These are irritating and toxic to the surrounding entitheline^{10,60}.

Calcium has been hypothesized to protect against CRC by binding secondary bile acids and ionized farty acids in the coloni laments of form insoluble calcium scaps, thereby robating their prodiferative effects on the colonic messora¹⁰. Furthermore, calcium may have effects on cell proliferation and differentiation, apoptosis, angioganesis, and cellcycle regulations^{10,12,10}. The role of disary calcium and viramin D are highly correlated because virtumin D regulates the abbrequiron of calcium²⁰. In addition to its indirect role in maintaining calcium homeostasis, the direct genomic action of virtumiz D is linked to a multitude of biological responses, including DNA synthesis and preventing dorbest-strand breaks by ecogenous or endogenous sources, making virtumi. D an important independent contributor to the calcium-lowershift activizations¹⁰.

Despite the biological plausability, epidemiological studies have been inconclusive in demonstrating the role of calcium and vitamin D in the eviloagy of CRC: Prior to 1998, reviewers of epidemiologic studies concluded that calcium intake was not associated with lower risk of colocectal advenues or cances^{24,158,169}. Dairy products contain large amount of calcium and vitamin D through fortification. It has been shown that calcium, especially in combinations as found in mile, effectively precipitate luminal cytoxics usrificants and thus inhibits colonic cytotoxicity ^{72,159}. In constrast, in a prospective study, Jarvinen *et al.*²⁶ Indicated that inviduals with a high consumption of milk have a potentially reduced risk of colon cancer, however, the association did not appear to be due to intake of calcium, vitamin D, or to specific effects of fermental milk. A recently published review conducts that the available research aggests a protective effect of vitamin D on coore cancer risk^{17,150}. Reservines the indications that calcium on vitamin D mild tasks and the available to that chan constrained the available of the available to the colon tasks and the subscription of the door easers risk^{17,150}. Reservines the indications that calcium on vitamin D min to available.

together, nuther than separately, to reduce risk of CRC. Results from a multi-centre, placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial found that calcium supplementation was associated with advommer accurrence only when vitamin D levels were above the median (29.1 ng/ml)⁴.

There may be a number of reasons for these inconsistencies between studies, such as the danger of selection bias and possibly recall bias that could have layed a larger role in retrospective studies. In recent years, Canada population are taking more individual or multivitamin supellements, however, some studie do not take supplements use into account. Moreover, the effects of calcium and vitamin D on risk may differ appreciably by several factors including gender, total dietary fat intake, and use of nonsteroidal antiinflummatory drugs (PSAID). Whether or not dairy products are protective against CRC is a question. Again, if dairy products intakes are associated with reduced risk of CRC, whether these associations can be regulated by components of calcium and vitamin D whether these associations can be regulated by components of calcium and vitamin D and the stranger and the stranger associated with reduced risk of CRC, whether these associations can be regulated by components of calcium and vitamin D and the stranger associated with reduced risk of CRC, whether these associated properties of calcium and vitamin D and the stranger associated by components of calcium and vitamin D and the stranger associated by components of calcium and vitamin D and the stranger associated by components of calcium and vitamin D and the stranger associated by the stranger assoc

In order to investigate these associations, we selected NL and ON residents as the target population. NL is geographically isolated, culturally distinct, relatively consonically disadvantaged, and fresh fraits and vegatables are less often svallable. Consequently, popular may commans more preserved and shall estimational foods. Whether or not the highest incidence of CRC in NL can be partly explained by the unique dietary habits of NL population is a question. Squire *et al.* recently found that in NL higher initiale of red pickled ment was associated with increased risk of KR⁽⁴⁾. In constrat, ON is a centrally located, culturally diverse, and economically advantaged

and vitamin D were found in two diverse provinces, we could provide support to the argament that calcium and vitamin D have chemo-preventive effects on RRC. To our knowledge, title has been done in this area. Therefore, the purpose of this report is to assess the effects of calcium, vitamin D, dairy products on the occurrence of CRC and compare differences of these associations between two provinces.

4.3.2 Materials and Methods

(note to readers: this section mostly duplicates 4.1.2)

4.3.2.1 Selection of cases and controls

Data for this case-control study were from the Ottato/F Binilial Colorectal Cancer Registries (OFCCR) and Newfoundland Familial Colorectal Cancer Registries (NFCCR). In ON Insident cases diagoned during (1975-2000 were identified for torough the population-based Ottatries Cancer Registry. In NL incident cases diagnosed during 1999-2003 were identified through the population tumor registry maintained by the Newfoundland Cancer Registry. Both registries were used to identify newly diagnosed access of color or retact ancer (gathbalegy confirmed ICD¹⁰ Previous colece 13:0.16:153, 15:4.1-15:4.3, and 15:4.8 or ICD-0 codes: 18:0.18:7, 19:9, 20:9, and aged 20:7.4 years. Phase two of the OFCCR was initiated to collect data for cases diagnosed in OV during 20:03-2006, Initial contact was with the surgeonyloylociani identified on the pathology repert. Once physician consent was evaluad, individuals were flow of motioned to inform them of the study. Participants who indicated their willingness to participate the study were sunt, in sequence, a written consent form, finity history questiontine (FIQ). Amound (FIQ) Approach history questionative (FIQ). Amound (FIQ), Approach history questionative (FIQ). Amound (FIQ) approach history questionative (FIQ). Amound (FIQ). responders were sent post-card reminders and phoned several weeks after initial contact to remind them of the mailing.

Controls were a random sample of residents in each province aged 20-74 years. In ON controls were identified through a list of residential phone numbers of from population-based property assessment rolls (owners and occupants). In NL controls were identified through mode digit dialing. Both registries froquency mutched controls to cases on sex and five-year age starta. Once verbal consent for participation was obtained during the phone contact, a survey package was forwarded to each potential participant. The package included an information pamphet with general information concerning the study, a consent form, a FIRQ, at PIRQ, and a FFQ, an well as self addressed stamped envelopes.

4.3.2.2 Dietary and epidemiologic data collection

Information on distary indice was collected using a self-administrated PTe7. This 19-page PTQ was engined by the expected for the Hawaiian and Californian populations by the Epidemiology Programs, Guener Research Centre of Hawaii and has been previously described and validated against 24-b recalls among a multi-ethnic Hawaiian/Southern Californian population^[10,11]. This previously validated fields frequency questionmaire has been adapted to include regional foods in NL and was used to assess dirt over 1-2 years prior to diagnosis or interview in acd province. Participants were questioned about their intake of almost 170 foods which were believed to be important to the contribution of most matritoris in the dirt. For each food lens, subjects were alked to estimate the "frequency of food inside and their suaral portion alter foods: "fastific starts", Smill et "Large", "fastific starts", Smill et "Large", Smill et "L

A food photographs were provided that showed regular, small and large portion sizes for vegetables, meat and chicken. Participants were also questioned on their use of any individual or multivitamin supplements, including the usual brand name, the amounts taken and the duration of consumption.

Naturein intukces were computed by multiplying the frequency of consumption of each food item by the natrient content of portion size. In ON values for the amounts of matrients in the food were obtained from the USDA file. In NL nutrient contents were based on the 2005 Canadian Natrient file. Intakes of calcium and vitamin D were energyalguated by using residuals calculated from the linear regression of the log of nutrient intake versus the log of energy intake¹⁰². Residuals were adjusted to rune energy intake in mer or wormen in each provision. In NL, residuals were adjusted to 2404.8 kealed for men and 2376.9 keal/day for wormer, Intakes of total calcium and total vitamin D were calculated by udding energy-adjusted nutrients from food and unadjusted matrients from supplements.

We also examined associations between CRC risk and the communition of twe groups of dairy foods (total dairy products, milk, non-milk dairy products, yogart, and cheeres), because these groups were measured in most of the statistic. We compared total dairy food communition by adding the dairy servings of all foods in the dairy categories. Total milk, consumption was calculated by adding the dairy servings of nonfait milk or skim milk, low-fat milk, and whole milk. Non-milk dairy preducts communition was calculated by adding the dairy serving or loyent, cheese and cream.

The self-salarinistered personal history questionmire included many close-sedel questions about medical history, howed screening history, dist, medication use, dist, physical activity, alcohol and tobacco use and accio-demographic measures such as education and income. Identifying information such as sex, age, date of binh, and marital status was collected. For female participants there were additional questions relating to reproductive factors.

For the analyses, we excluded those who did not provide sufficient dienty information at baseline, those who failed to provide information on potential risk factors in baseline, those who reported energy initia in the upper of lower 2.5% of initiale (lower and upper catoff: In NI, 925 and 4700 kcal for men, 1100 and 4900 kcal for women, respectively, In ON, 1040 and 5200 kcal for men, 835 and 4100 kcal for women, respectively, In ON, 1040 and 5200 kcal for men, 835 and 400 kcal for women, trought who had particulations, based on those who completed both the PHQ and FFQ, 3102 subjects (1272 cases and 1830 controls) from ON and 1139 subjects (488 cases and 651 controls) from NJ, remained. Data collected from these subjects were used for the analysis.

4.3.2.3 Statistical analyses.

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS statistical software (version 9.1 SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). Descriptive statistics stratified by case-control status were used to describe the demographic/health-related characteristics and dietary intakes of subjects. Intakes of calcium, vitamin D and dairy products were categorized into quintiles based on the distribution among the sub-products were categorized into quintiles

entered into models as indicator variables with the lowest quintile as the referent group.

Age and total energy intak-adjusted dolt ratios (00%) and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals (95%CL) were calculated from maximum-likelihood estimates in unconfitional logistic regression to assess the association of the outcome with detauty intakes. Multivariate unconfitional logistic regression was used to evaluate the association of intakes of calcium, vitamin D and dairy products with CRC risk ther adjusting for a set of potential confismaders or covariates. Teshs for trend were used to assess dose-response relationships hased on the median of each calculary of diary ratios.

Potential confinanting factors include apr(18-49, 30-59, 60, 69 and 70-years); sec; body mass index(1M1<18.5, 18.5-24.9, 25-29.9, and 23/8 gm²); physical activity(-7.4, 7.4.22.4, 22.4.53.6); and 35.0 methodic conjunctions hours here, METivevski, family history of CRC(yes, mi); polypelyes, mi); diabetas/yes, mi); history of colon screening procedure/yes, mi); eigenetis making/ever moke, never ansket; a douboil drinking(<14, 21.4/inkio/week); education attainment/jaih school graduate or less; technical acchool/ some colleger university; and bacheler's degree graduate degree; household incomeflex than \$12,000; \$12,000-29,999; \$10,000-49,999; and \$50,000); martial status(married, singleinerer married, and separated diveoced wisdowed); require use of medication and supplements(i.e., son, faint supplementitys, no; reported homome replacement therapy (HKT, females only/yes, no); and distary intakes; total energy intake (quirilles); furiti0-6, 6-7, 7-14, and 3-14 servings/week); vegntalles(0+6, 7, 7-14, and 3-14 servings/week); not mot(20-22, 3-23, and 3-5 servings/weekproteer provinged activity activity. (2007); martinelly, and the original constration and supplements (i.e., no); faint are registrative; howing or graduated for proving the singlessioner (i.e., no); faint supplementity, no); reported homome replacement therapy (HKT, females only/yes, no); and distary intakes; total energy intake (quirilles); furiti0-6, 6-7, 7-14, and 3-14 servings/week); vegetarting the proving of endistanets/1, 000; NIC hourses/1, 000; NIC for the assessment of confounding factors included: (1) literature and previous studies, (2) biological plausibility, (3) whether the regression coefficient of the primary dependent variable changed by 10% or more after addition of the potentially confounding variable, or (4) whether the covariate entered the model at p-0.05 Å backwarde-stepwise procedure was performed to obtain the final model. Statistical tests were two sided, and pvalues less than 0.05 were considered satistically significant.

4.3.3 Results

Demographie and lifesty e characteristics of the study participants, stratified by provinces and case-control status, are shown in Table 4.3.1. The study participants included 1760 cases (488 from NL, 1222 from ON) and 2481 controls (651 from NL, 1830 from ON). NL cases were slightly older than controls, while OK cases were slightly younger than controls. In both provinces, cases had higher BMI than controls, and were less likely to report any colon screening procedure, to report use of multivitamin supplements, and to have taken HRT over the previous 1-2 years (females only). Physical activity (MCTh/week), or heavy alobol drinking hinory did not vary significantly between cases and controls in two provinces, NL cases tended to be smokers, and less likely to have acquired higher obscation or obtain a high income during the preceding year (all p=0.05). ON CRC cases mere often had an high systery of CRC, and they less often used NSADD during the new (all p=0.05).

Table 4.3.2 gives the mean intakes of food, selected nutrients and dairy products by the cases and controls in both provinces. Both provinces' cases reported higher intakes of total energy than controls. There was a greater red meat consumption among ON cases,

but no marked differences in the first and vegetable communption between case and controls were found in either province. Controls generally reported higher levels of mean daily intake of calcium and vitamin B0, however, the extent of the differences variable by province. Specifically, both provinces controls reported significantly higher intakes of total calcium, calcium from food, calcium from supplements, total vitamin D and vitamin D from supplements than did their respective cases (all p=0.05). In ON controls also reported significantly higher comamption of vitamin D from food, total dairy products and milk than did ease (all p=0.05).

The OR and 95%Cl of CRC according to indiase of calcium and vitumin D from food and supplements, stratified by provinces, are shown in Table 4.3.3. Inverse associations with CRC india were observed for high natias of cage-merg-subjusted table calcium, ealcium from food and stad vitumin D in both provinces, however, after other potential covariates were taken into account, the inverse associations were no hospitar significant in NL, but the protective effect of these nativents remained significant only in OA. The multivariant galanted OR of CRC is OS for individual to the highest quintile of intake compared with these in the lowest quintile was 0.57 for total calcium(95% CE: 0.4.20.77, .premd-0.30), 0.75 for distary calcium(95% CI: 0.06-0.077, .premd-0.40), and 0.73 for total vitamin D95% CE: 0.54.100, .premd-0.131, in addition, higher intake of datary vitamin D in ON subjects were also significantly inversely associated with RCE risk (OR-0.77, .95% CI: 0.61.096, .prend-0.33). The observed reduction in risk among participants in both provinces with consuming calcium-containing supplements were 339 (vCl) and 24% CO, and 25% reduction in in NL emerged for consuming vitamin

D-containing supplements.

We additionally evaluated the consumption of total dairy foods and specific dairy foods in relation to the risk of CRC (Table 4.3, 4), in OK, the risk of CRC was significantly reduced for those who consumed total dairy food >25.5 servings/week ompared with those who consumed <3.1 servings/week (OR <0.78, 95%CT: 0.00-1.00) in both age-energy algored models and multi-variate-algored models. In particular, those who consumed <214.9caps/week of milk had a 22% lower risk of CRC than did those who consumed <214.9caps/week. A non-significant inverse association was found in yogort intake. In Nr., inverse associations ware observed for age-energy adjusted total dairy foods and milk, however, after adjusting for multi-variables, the inverse relationships were no longer alignedant.

When the combined effect of total calcium and total vitamin D was considered, the inverse association was most presonanced among subjects reporting high calcium and high vitamin D intakes compared to those reporting a low intake of both matrients (Table 4.5.5).

4.3.4 Discussion

In this large population case-control study conducted in two Canadian provinces, we found inverse associations of initiales of total calcium, dietary calcium, total vitamin D, dietary vitamin D, total dairy products and milli with CRC rich is the provinces. However, the adjusting for potential confounders and covariants, significant inverse associations are only observed in the ON population. Notestheleni, in N.t. the inverse associations conficuencies rules are used to the other population.

or vitamin D- containing supplements users. In ON use of calcium-containing supplements was inversely related to CRC risk. These results add to support for synergistic effects of calcium and vitamin D in the prevention of colorectal carcinogensis.

Results from this study support hypothesis that calcium may protect against CRC by binding secondary bile acids and ionized farly acids in the colon lumen to ferm insoluble calcium soaps, thereby reducing their proliferative effects on the colonie mucosal³ and vitamin D regulates the absorption of calcium³⁰, as well as their effects on cell preliferation and differentiation, apoptosis, angiogenesis, and cell-cycle regulation^{30,110}. UN

Our findings are consistent with a number of statistics that have reported inverse associations between calcium, vitamin D and CRC rick^{25,12}, In 2004 Crant, We 1²³ found that the available research suggested a protective effect for vitamin D on obtain cancer risk. In 2007, Ryan-Hanhman reviewed sevent cance-control and prospective colort studies and some clinical trials and encluded that evidences of calcium, vitamin D roducing CRC risk were stronger. In particular, recent research indicates that calcium and vitamin D might act together, rather than segarately, to reduce the risk of colcocetal adenomas. People might be able to roduce their risk of CRC by increasing their vitamin and minimeral level through enting more vegatables and fuil. Multivitamin and minimar supplements can complement a healthy direl¹³. As in our study, significant inverse associations of CRC risk emerged with intakes of feat calcium, dictary calcium(from fond), total vitamin D, and dictary vitamin D[trafm fosd] in ON population. We also

CRC was observed among those who had higher levels of calcium and vitamin D intake. Moreover, calcium or vitamin D supplement use was inversely related to CRC risk.

Nonetheless, it is rather surprising that we did not observe meaningful associations of calcium, vitamin D with CRC risk in NL after adjusting for multi-variables. We did observe these inverse associations in NL after adjusting for age and total energy intake only. One possibility is that intakes of these nutrients in NL were too low, even in the highest quintiles, for us to observe significant associations. This may be the case with calcium, for which intakes in ON subjects were considerably higher than in NL subjects (Table 2). It is also possible that the findings in this study may be due in part to collicarity between nutrients and foods of which they are constituents. For instance, dietary fat, phosphorous and dietary fibre may limit the intestinal absorption of calcium due to increased production of insoluble calcium complexes142-144. However, the inverse associations of calcium, vitamin D with CRC risk were most pronounced among calciumor vitamin D-containing supplement users in NL subjects. NL controls were more likely than cases to consume calcium- or vitamin D-containing supplements (Table 2). Yet it is also likely that supplements users may be more conscious about health and therefore may have healthier dietary and physical activity habits. However, we attempted to control for the effects of other physiologic, behavioral, and dietary factors in these analyses. Another possibility that calcium- or vitamin D containing supplements use may have independent effects on cancer risk. Discussion of such potential biological mechanisms is beyond the scope of the present paper.

Consistent with results of relationships among calcium, vitamin D and CRC risk in

two provinces, results from this study found that inverse associations emerged for total dairy products and milk in ON, whereas these associations were not significant in NL. These findings suggest that these associations appeared to be largely due to intake of calcium and vitamin D. Our findings add to the evidence that dairy products in particular milk is an important contributor to dietary calcium and vitamin D. It has been shown that calcium, especially in combinations as found in milk, effectively precipitates luminal cytolytic substances and reduces cytotoxicity of fecal water, an accepted risk marker for colon cancer29,00. Besides calcium and vitamin D through fortification, many other components of dairy foods have been shown experimentally to protect against CRC. Dairy foods contain conjugated linoleic acid and lactoferrin, which inhibit colonic carcinoagnesis in animal models^{145,146} and the milk protein case in has antimutagenic activity on the digestive tract147. Certain microorganisms in fermented dairy foods have also been hypothesized to reduce the risk of CRC148. In this study, fermented dairy foods, such as cheese and yossurt, did not annear to be related to CRC risk. A possible reason is that cheese fats, particularly saturated fats, might increase risk⁸⁹. In addition, the intakes of chasts and somet were too low to observe similicant associations.

This study had a number of strengths. We had a large sample size, which allowed us to observe associations that would be undetextable in smaller studies. More importantly, the previous findings about the protective effects of macromatrients were confined to a specific study population, which makes it difficult to generalize the results. In this study, we examined the effects of dietary calcium, vitamin D and dairy products on the occurrence of CRC in two Canadian provinces with different rules of CRC incidence. We

compared differences of these associations between two provinces. Furthermore, nativitati intakes were adjusted for total energy intake. The use of calorie adjusted values in multivariate models will ofthe overcome the problem of high collinearity frequently observed between natritional factors¹¹². To the extent that, this adjustment also reduces between-presens variation due to over- or underrapenting of food intakes¹¹². The relationships of calcium, vitamin D, duity products and CRC risk may differ appreciably by several factors, so we controlled for a wise range of potential confounding factors using multivariate logistic regression models. Although some random misclassification of dire is ladely, non-differential misclassification generally tends to bias the risk estimates toward the nult.

Consideration must be given to the potential limitations in the present study that may have influenced the observed associations. First, as in most case-control studies, potential recall and selection biases are possible. Since exposure information was collected after diagnosis, differential recall between cases and controls may bias results; in particular, cases may recall dietary exposures differently from controls because of the presence of illness or symptoms. Controls may have agreed to join this study because of an interest in health and may therefore have healthied dietary and physical activity hubits, a pattern thrange scaggerate differences with the cases beyond what might have been seen with thra' comparable controls.

Second, by design, cases and controls had similar set distribution, however, cases and controls were not well comparable according to age group. Estimates of nutrient intakes from a FFQ are not precise and there is always the potential for measurement

error. Although the original FFQ used in this study has been validated^{10,111}, this questionniare requires further evaluation because it was eiginality developed for the Hawaiian and Californian populations that may be different from people residing in NL and ON; FFQ used in NL has been adapted to include regional foods in NL, however, OFCCR used the reginal FFQ that has not been adapted. Thus, a sub-study will be necessary to ansens the level of agreement between the FFQ used by the OFCCR and the FFQ that was previously developed specifically for Canadian populations. Third, these finding may reflect problems of collinearity between various natrients, between selected foods, and between multivitamin supplements, thus this possibility cannot be completely eliminated.

Another potential limitation of this study may be the absence of information on sun exposure. As we know, it is difficult to accurately measure vitamin D exposure in humans¹²³. We did not have information on sundhine exposure at baseline. Finally, it is also possible that the 1-2 year referent period on which diretary data were based is imfificient if more routes dire (ex. 5-10+10) has a stronger influence on CRC risk.

In conclusion, the results of our case-control study add to the evidence that total calcium, diotary calcium, total vitamin D and dietary vitamin D are associated with a lower risk of CRC. Total dairy products and mills indukes were inversely related with CRC risk, and these associations may be largely due to calcium and vitamin D. Furthermore, Calcium- or vitamin D-containing supplements may reduce risk of CRC. Finally, the present data support a joint action of calcium and vitamin D in the prevention of colorectal carcinocensis.
	N	L	0	N
Characteristics	Cases (n=488)	Controls (n=651)	Cases (n=1272)	Controls (n=1830)
Age (years) ²	62.7*±9.0	60.5±9.5	58.4*±10.9	61.5±9.7
BMI ^c (kg/m ²) ^a	27.8*±4.8	27.2±4.4	26.7*±4.7	26.3±4.5
Physical activity (METs/week ^c) ^a	58.0±74.7	50.2±73.2	43.8±58.6	41.4±59.2
Positive family history of CRC (%)"	49(10.0)	54(8.3)	127*(10.0)	92(5.0)
Reported any colon screening (%) ^b	60*(12.3)	145(22.3)	198*(15.6)	476(26.0)
Regular use of NSAID ^e (%) ^b	164(33.5)	252(38.7)	433*(34.0)	787(43.0)
Regular use of multivitamin supplements (%) ^b	66*(13.5)	145(22.3)	436*(34.3)	701(38.3)
Reported HRT ⁴ (%) ^b	132*(27.1)	251(38.6)	440*(34.6)	827(45.2)
Smokers, current and/or past (%)*	353*(72.3)	401(61.6)	733(57.6)	1078(58.9)
Heavy drinkers" (%)"	54(11.0)	68(10.4)	154(12.1)	205(11.2)
High level of education" (%)"	181*(37.0)	351(53.9)	700(55.0)	1087(59.4)
High household income" (%)"	102*(20.9)	229(35.1)	506(39.8)	758(41.4)

Table 4.3.1 Selected characteristics of cases and controls, stratified by provinces, CRC case-control study in NL and ON

^a Continuous variables presented as mean+SD(standard deviation), differences between cases and controls based on T-test.

^b Categorical variables presented as number(%), differences between cases and controls based on chisuare test.

⁶ BMI, body mass index: METs/weck, metabolic equivalent hours per weck; NSAD, nonstreidial antiinflammatory dury; HRT, hormone replacement therapy; female only: Heavy drinkers, average drinks-14iimes/weck; High level of education, included some college, university or post secondary school; High household income, average household income 550,000 year.

* Significant difference between cases and controls (p<0.05)

	NL su	bjects	ON su	bjects
Intakes of foods and nutrients ^a	Cases (n=488)	Controls (n=651)	Cases (n=1272)	Controls (n=1830)
Fruit (servings/week)	9.618.1	10.5±8.2	11.348.1	11.0±8.2
Vegetable (servings /week)	11.1+7.6	11.9±8.3	13.8±9.0	13.248.5
Red meat (servings/week)	3.5±3.3	3.6±3.4	4.6*±4.4	4.0±3.8
Total energy (kcal/day)	2441.5*±838.2	2293.6±744.9	2266.0*±796.1	2161.5±757.7
Calcium (mg/day)				
Total calcium	989.6*±402.6	1108.3±500.9	1137.1*±509.2	1231.6±544.1
Calcium from food	933.4*±354.1	989.0±394.9	956.0*±302.0	1009.5±314.9
Calcium from supplements	56.2*±160.2	119.3±249.1	181.1*±404.7	222.1±440.6
Vitamin D (IU/day)				
Total vitamin D	332.2*±242.5	393.5±299.5	319.8*±218.4	352.7±236.4
Vitamin D from food	244.9±124.1	251.0±130.0	202.1*±104.5	220.8±111.0
Vitamin D from supplements	87.3*±201.0	142.5±260.3	117.7*±186.8	131.9±203.6
Dairy products (servings/week)				
Total dairy products	12.8±10.2	13.4±10.4	12.2*±8.6	13.0±9.9
Milk	8.2±8.0	8.3±8.0	7.2*±6.6	8.1 ± 8.1
Non-milk products	5.0±5.7	5.2±5.9	5.6±5.1	5.5±5.2
Yogurt	2.0 ± 3.7	2.2 ± 3.9	1.3±1.9	1.3 ± 1.7
Cheese	3.0+3.7	3.0+4.1	3.8+4.2	3.8±4.3

Table 4.3.2 Mean intakes of foods and nutrients among cases and controls, stratified by province, CRC case-control study

⁴ Continuous variables presented as mean+SD (standard deviation), differences between cases and controls based on t-test

* Significant difference between cases and controls (p(0.05)

Table 4.3.	Associations	(adjuste	Table 4.3.3 Associations (adjusted OR* 95% CI*) of Calcium and Vitamin D intakes with CRC risk among cases and	of Calcium and	d Vitamin D it	ntakes wi	th CRC risk an	iong cases and
Totalog of	rauncu oy pr	VIIICE, C	toutrois, stratuled by province, CAC case-control study	study		INU	CM1	
calcium	No. of	Median	OR ²	OR ^c	No. of	Median	OR	OR ⁴
and	cases/controls	intake	(95% CD)	(95% CI)	cases/controls	intake	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
vitamin D								
Total Calcium	R							
10	611/601	580.0	1.00	1.00	301/320	708.5	1.00	1.00
92	107/121	1.867	1.04(0.71,1.51)	1.30(0.85,1.98)	265/356	898.1	0.84(0.67,1.06)	0.89(0.67,1.20)
03	106/121	963.5	1.01(0.70,1.48)	1.17(0.76.1.78)	264(356	1071.7	0.84(0.67,1.06)	0.97(0.72.1.31)
3	93/135	0.0911	0.77(0.53,1.13)	0.94(0.61,1.44)	231/390	1308.4	0.68*(0.54,0.86)	0.66*(0.49.0.90)
02	73/155	1653.4	0.50*(0.34.0.74)	0.68(0.44.1.07)	211/408	1834.0	0.61*(0.48.0.77)	0.57*(0.42.0.77)
P for trend			0.02	0.15			0.02	0.03
Calcium from food	n food							
10	105/123	573.3	1.00	1.00	283/338	656.3	1,00	1,00
02	102/126	764.3	1.04(0.71,1.52)	1.33(0.87,2.03)	267/354	816.7	0.97(0.77,1.22)	0.95(0.75,1.21)
03	96/131	902.4	0.92(0.63,1.35)	1.11(0.72,1.72)	261/359	946.5	0.98(0.78,1.23)	1.03(0.82,1.31)
3	103/125	1.089.7	1.02(0.70,1.49)	1.26(0.82,1.94)	237/384	1094.5	0.79*(0.63.1.00)	0.83(0.66,1.05)
SÒ	82/146	1405.7	0.66*(0.45,0.96)	0.94(0.61,1.45)	224/395	1382.9	0.71*(0.56,0.90)	0.76*(0.60,0.97)
P for trend			0.11	0.67			0.02	0.06
Calcium from	Calcium from supplements							
Non-users	407/471	0	1.00	1.00	761/1002	0	1.00	1.00
Users	81/180	0<	0.51*(0.38,0.68)	0.67*(0.47,0.94)	511/828	%	0.87*(0.75,1.00)	0.76*(0.63,0.93)
Total Vitamin D	D							
10	102/126	124.2	1.00	1.00	285/336	107.7	1.00	1.00
02	106/122	199.4	1.11(0.76,1.62)	1.36(0.85.2.15)	247/374	6.671	0.86(0.68,1.08)	0.89(0.66,1.20)
03	115/112	261.4	1.28(0.88,1.86)	1.40(0.90,2.65)	275/345	265.8	1.06(0.84,1.33)	1.15(0.85,1.54)
5	87/141	407.5	0.71*(0.48,1.03)	0.78(0.49,1.24)	236/385	464.0	0.76*(0.61.0.96)	0.79(0.58,1.07)
65	78/150	754.3	0.60*(0.41,0.88)	0.85(0.53,1.37)	229/390	645.4	0.79*(0.63.0.99)	0.73*(0.54,1.00)
P for trend			0.12	039			0.19	0.18

intakes of		N N	bjocts (n=11.59)			CN SI	ubjects (m=5102)	
calcium	No. of	Median	OR*	OR'	No. of		OR*	OR
vitamin D	cases/controls	intake	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	cases/controls	intake	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Vitamin D 6	rom food							
10	97/131	110.7		1.00	284/337	95.5	1.00	1.00
02	101/127	179.8		1.30(0.85,1.98)	251/370	148.5	0.91(0.72.1.14)	0.92(0.72.1.16)
03	94/133	228.7		1.26(0.82,1.92)	262/358	198.9	1.02(0.81,1.28)	1.09(0.86.1.38)
3	108/120	285.3		1.51(0.98.2.31)	263/358	253.9	1.03(0.82,1.30)	1.07(0.84,1.36)
ŝò	Q5 88/140 404.0	404.0	0.81(0.55,1.18)	0.95(0.62,1.47)	212/407	359.0	0.71*(0.56,0.89)	0.77*(0.61,0.99)
P for trend				0.90			0.22	0.38
Vitamin D fi	tom supplements							
Non-users	402/474	0	1.00	1.00	874/1212	0	1.00	1.00
Users	111/98	8	0.55*(0.41,0.73)	0.68*(0.48,0.97)	398/618	8	0.91(0.78,1.06)	1.11(0.76,1.61)
² OR, Odds r	atio; 95%GI, 95% o	confidence	interval.					
Adjusted fo	r age and total ener	tev intake.						
				And a start of the start of the				

procedure, eignette smeking, aktohol drinking, education antainment, hussekold income, marital status, regular use of NSAID, regular use of multiviatum supplements, reported IRT (females only), province of residence, and intakes of finits, vegetables, and red mear. Variables were included Adjusted for total energy intake, are, sex, BML, physical activity/METs/week), family history of CRC, polyne, diabetes, remorted color scnerring

⁴ Units of mg/day for calcium, and IU/day for vitamin D.

¹ Two-sided p value for test of linear trend was calculated by using modian values for each quintile of imake. ² Significant different from reference caregory, p.20.05

		NL set	NL subjects (n=1139)			ON su	ON subjects (n=3102)	
products =	No. of cases/controls	Median intake ⁴	OR [*] (95%CI)	08 ⁴ (95%CI)	No. of cases/controls	Median intake ⁴	OR ⁸ (95% CI)	OR ⁶ (95% CI)
Fotal dairy products	products							
10	110/133	2.4	1.00	1.00	271/385	3.1	1.00	1.00
03	87/127	7.2	0.85(0.59,1.23)	0.89(0.57,1.41)	239/353	6.9	0.97(0.77.1.22)	1.03(0.81.1.31)
03	103/126	10.5	0.79(0.54,1.14)	1.07(0.68,1.70)	267/354	10.4	1.05(0.84,1.33)	1.12(0.88,1,42)
10	97/129	16.1	0.75(0.51,1.09)	0.90(0.56,1.45)	263/352	15.6	1.01(0.80,1.28)	1.07(0.84,1.37)
08	91/136	25.9	0.69*(0.46,1.01)	0.89(0.55.1.45)	232/386	25.5	0.74*(0.58.0.94)	0.78*(0.60,1.00)
P for trend			0.03	0.42			0.12	0.21
N N	011011	0	1 00	1.000	2221276	2.0		1 000
200	101/146		0.0401000	1 000 00 1 600	PAD AL	100	106110001	1 000 01 1 100
20	0417101	0.0	0.0000000000000000000000000000000000000	(10011-0000001 100001	1000000	0.0	1000000110001	1001110000111
30	771 76	6.0	(97-1*79'n)69'n	1-2/(0.61,1-76)	760.067	0.0	(%C'1'99'0)60'1	(66"1" (0" O"
3	011211	6.8	0.85(0.60,1.22)	1.14(0.75,1.77)	045/457	672	1.06(0.85,1.52)	1.09(0.87,1.57)
08	67/106	17.0	0.67*(0.45,0.99)	0.96(0.58,1.57)	149/272	14.9	0.73*(0.56,0.94)	0.78*(0.60,1.00)
P for trend			0.02	0.81			0.18	0.23
Non-milk								
5	97/143	0.3	1.00	1,00	255/402	1.1	1.00	1.00
02	98/129	2.0	1.35(0.94,1.95)	1.40(0.89,2.20)	243/375	2.5	1.02(0.81,1.28)	1.04(0.82,1.32)
03	105/117	3.6	0.94(0.64,1.38)	0.98(0.61,1.59)	270/356	4.1	1.15(0.92,1.45)	1.14(0.90,1.45)
04	103/124	6,0	1.160.80.1.691	1,43(0,89.2.29)	255/341	6.5	1.11(0.88,1,40)	1.13(0.88,1.44)
08	85/138	11.4	0.91(0.61.1.37)	1.12(0.67,1.89)	249/356	11.5	0.96(0.75.1.22)	0.98(0.76.1.26)
P for trend"			15.0	0.88			0.69	0.79
10	157/229	0	1.00	1.00	\$53,766	0	1.00	1.00
02	165/214	1.1	1.15(0.86, 1.53)	1.27(0.87.1.85)	230/320	0.3	0.95(0.77.1.16)	0.98(0.79.1.21)
03	112/171	5.0	0.91(0.66, 1.25)	1.02/0.75.1.39)	130/196	0.5	0.85(0.66.1.09)	0.92(0.71.1.20)
6	,	,	,		168/266	51	0.81(0.65,1.02)	0.88(0.69,1.11)
65		,	,	,	191/282	3.5	0.83(0.66,1.03)	0.85(0.68,1.07)
Burney C			0.46	0.85			0.23	0.06

Durine.			jects (m=1139)			ON su	octs	
Amon a	No. of	Median	OR*	OR'	No. of	Median	OR	OR ⁶
brounds	cases/controls		(95%CI)	(95%CI)	cases/controls	intake ^d	e	(95% CI)
Cheese								
10	104/158	0	1.00	1.00	303/444	50	1.00	1.00
02	103/108	1.0	1.26(0.87,1.81)	1.53(0.97,2.43)	230/359	13	0.94(0.75.1.18)	0.98(0.78.1.23)
03	101/144	2.0	1.12(0.78,1.61)	1.34(0.85,2.12)	244(349	2.5	0.99(0.79.1.24)	1.00(0.79.1.25)
3	87/110	5.3	1.00(0.68,1.46)	1.26(0.78,2.02)	259/322	5.0	1.10(0.87,1.37)	1.12(0.89,1.42)
50	93/131	7.0	0.97(0.66,1.44)	1.25(0.76,2.05)	236356	10.0	0.87(0.69,1.10)	0.90(0.70,1.14)
P for trend			0.34	0.94			0.51	0.56
" OR, Odds	ratio; 95%CL, 95%	confidence	nterval.					

" Adjusted for age and total energy intake.

multivitamin supplements, reported HRT (females only), province of residence, and inclues of fruits, vegetables, and red meat. Variables were included in the final model based on a 2:10% alternation in the parameter coefficient of interest. ⁴ Adjusted for outil energy imake, age, see, BMI, physical activity/METs/week3, family history of CRC, polyps, diabetes, reported colon screening. procedure, cigarette smoking, alcohol drinking, education attainment, household income, marinal status, regular use of NSAID, regular use of

Units of servings/week for each dairy products

Truo-ided p value for test of linear ureal was calculated by using medium values for each quintile of intake. Due to mail sample tais in Xi, vygent makes were each divide into 3 groups. Significated influent form reference category, p20165

Total vitamin D intake	Tot	al Calcium intake (mg/	day)
(IU/day)	T1 ° (<=835.2)	T2 ° (835.3-1064.2)	T3 e (>1064.2)
T1 ^c (<=157.3)			
No. of cases/controls	343/420	99/127	15/30
OR ^b (95%CI)	1.00	0.94(0.69,1.29)	0.84(0.65,1.14)
T2° (157.4-241.5)			
No. of cases/controls	115/120	230/322	86/141
OR ^b (95%CI)	1.10(0.80,1.86)	1.06(0.84,1.34)	0.81(0.59,1.11)
T3 ° (>241.5)			
No. of cases/controls	15/20	94/162	275/488
OR ^b (95%CI)	1.00(0.50,2.02)	0.86(0.63,1.17)	0.75*(0.49,0.99)

Table 4.3.5 Adjusted OR⁸, 95%CI⁸ of CRC risk according to level of total calcium and total vitamin D intake

⁴ OR. Odds ratio: 95%CL 95% confidence interval.

^ highered for treal energy india, age assa BML, physical activity/BET's veech, family bistory of CRC, polyn, diabetes, resulted colors stereing provides, cignets with the start of the s

⁶ Intakes of total calcium and vitamin D were categorized into tertiles based on the distribution among subjects, T1 for tertile 1, T2 for tertile 2, and T3 for tertile 3.

Significant different from reference category, p<0.05

Chapter 5: Summary

5.1 Associations between dietary factors and colorectal cancer risk

This thesis examined the possible association of dietary factors with colorectal cancer (CRC) risk in people residing in NewFoundhand and Lahrador (NL) and Ontario (ON) through three coherent papers. The first two papers were based on pooled data from two provinces assessing the effects of istal energy/macronarizents and selected micronatrients on CRC, respectively. Based on the findings from the first two papers, the third paper compared two provinces is further explore the relationships among calcium, visuanio D, dairy modest and the risk of CRC.

Consistent with previous stables^{1,30}, this study observed a positive association between bits denergy induce and terick of CRC. This finding implicates energy balance. Higher energy induce with lower energy expenditure may increase CRC risk. Additionally, higher energy induce is associated with the cause of obesity, which is turn is a possible risk factor for CRC. In this study, percentage of calcore from alcohol were associated with increased CRC risk. Given the high incidence of CRC in two provinces, it is necessary to ensurange proper to intack to re-werge food on energy and required attivities.

High intakes of protein, carbohydrate and fibre seemed to decrease CRC risk. In this study population, red meat intake was modente (about 4 servings/week) and similar proportion (around 27%) of proteins derived from red meat, dairy products and the combination of white meat and fish. Thus, consistent with several previous studies^{1,50,51,51,11,11}, this study suggests that the protective effect of protein may be larged contributibation of CRC risk with the protective of flort of motion of CRC risk with carbohydrate and fibre may be related to the protection of finits, vegetables and grains, because these foods contain a large amount of carbohydrate and fibre. There is a great need to encourage people to modify their diets to prevent CRC, such as increasing vegetable and finit make, and the frequency of high fibre diet.

Certain microautrients (e.g. calcium, vitamia D, vinamia C, rihoflavin and fohat) seemed have protective effects on CRC. However, when initiale from food source only was considered for the above microautrients, associations were diminished (except for calcium and vitamia D). The exclusion of infate from supplement sources resulted in a slight decrease in power in these analyses. In addition, inverse associations of calcium, vitamia C, fohate and CRC were most prononced among lindividual supplement were. These findings suggest that diet alone might not farrish enough microautrients and the levels of microautrients in the Canadian diet mays be imufficient to greatly reduce the risk of CRC. Instead, individual supplements provide sufficient tiorountients and exert protective effects. Stratified analyses by individual supplements use instants further indicated that the use of vitamia C of fohate supplement uppeared to have further benefit among those with relative lower integrities of user survives from food. Therefore, these findings highlight the importance of decisery supplements user prevention for CRC.

Another important finding in this study was the strong positive association between iron intake and CRC risk. Straffield analyses by individual upplement use status further indicated that a positive association between iron and CRC was nost pronounced among iron supplement users. Interestingly, in this study, cases had higher intake of iron than controls, primarily due to larger contribution of rom supplement. In addition, the average

daily intake of total iron (from food and supplements) was much higher than the recommended dietary allowances (RDA). Thus, excess intake of iron or inadequately using iron supplement may have harmful effects of increasing CRC risk. Attention should be taken in comsuming iron-cortaining foods and supplements.

Consistent results of calcium, strainin D and dairy products with CRC risk were observed in two provinces; however, significant associations were only observed in the ON populations. One possibility is that genetic predispositions for CRC is stronger in NL as compared to ON. The high rates of the disease in NL may be partly ceptianed by a high prevalence of families with a predisposition to herefitary colon cancer³⁴. However, in ON genetic factors is not as strong as in NL and distary factors are relatively more important in the cause of CRC. The complex genetic-environmental interactions may be investigated in fitner research.

5.2 Implications of the study

Consideration should be given to the potential limitations in the present study that have been discussed previously in three papers. This study has a matther of strengths and adds to the existing literature in many appects. First, built on existing literature, this study underlines the improved of some appects of total energy, mesonwhites that and micronatrients and consequently the potential for prevention through dictary changes in CRC. Second, to our knowledge, this is the first study that assessed relationships of nutrient intakes and CRC risk in NL and ON both with a high incidence of CRC. A large sample size allowed us to observe associations that would be undetectable in smaller studes. This, this study highlights the interature of samplements us in proverting for the same study. The study with a light incidence of samplements of the prevent of the same study with the same study with the same study with the same study with the same study and the same study. The same study shalls that the interature of same study matches the same study with the same study in the same study study the same study in the same study that the same study the same study and the same study that the same study that the same study that the same same study that the same share a same study that the same same study the same study that the same same study that the same same study the same study that the same same study that the same same study the same study that the same same study the same stat study the same study the same study the same

CRC: Dist alone might not finnish enough microautients and lovels of microautients in the Canadian dist may be insufficient to greatly roduce the risk of CRC: Findings from this thois may have important public heading implications, periodially for those with lower intakes of a number of microautients, who can benefit greatly from supplement intakes. With respect to other physiologic, behavioral, and dietary factors interacting with nutrients to affect risk, future research is warranted to investigate these complex causal reliationships for mere effective cancer reservation.

5.3 Future research

The results from this study indicate that vitamin and/or minoral containing supplements may have further benefits in preventing CRC. Multivitamin supplements contain large numbers of matricuts which may be correlated in influencing the likelihood of cancer. In or instance, phosphorous and dietary filter may limit the intestinal absorption of calcium to increased production of insoluble calcium complexes^{16,141}. Future research should carefully design clinical triats using multivitamin and individual supplements as intervention to assess supplement intake as canualative dose over a long time frame (e.g., supplements us over 2014) year effective profield.

The current study examines associations of individual distary components with CRC risk, which is beneficial for gaining imight into possible mechanisms of each dietary component. However, it is not adopate for considering the synergistic effect of highly correlated matrients and other componends found in foods¹⁰⁰. Future research will investigate dietary intakes in a more logical approach – dietary patterns. The analysis of distary natures will be inconsidering the investigate for foods and matrients.

neither of which is consumed in isolation.

Dietery patterns include numerous dietay copours and are offen associated with other health behaviors such as physical activity, smaking, and cancer screening¹³⁰. However, most existing cancer studies focus on examining the independent effect of a particular risk factority and have paid little attention on how various factors are interrelated in sflecting cancer occurrence. Knowledge around causal relationships of various risk factors and outcome is directly relevant to more effective cancer prevention. Tuture study will use structural equation modeling analysis to test a hypothesized conceptual model that specify complex causal relationships among various risk factors or GRC.

References

1.	Doll R, Peto R. The causes of cancer: quantitative estimates of avoidable risks of
	cancer in the United States today. J Natl Cancer Inst 1981;66(6):1191-308.

 Slattery ML. Diet, lifestyle, and colon cancer. Semin Gastrointest Dis 2000;11(3):142-6.

- Giovannucci E, Stampfer MJ, Colditz G, Rimm EB, Willett WC. Relationship of diet to risk of colorectal adenoma in men. J Natl Cancer Inst 1992;84(2):91-8.
- Chen J, Giovannucci EL, Hunter DJ. MTHFR polymorphium, methyl-replete diets and the risk of colorectal carcinoma and adeoma among U.S. me and women: an example of gene-environment interactions in colorectal tumorigenesis. J Natr 1999;12022. Suppl:5605-5645.
- Satia-Abouta J, Galanko JA, Potter JD, Ammerman A, Martin CT, Sandler RS. Associations of total energy and macromatrients with colon cancer risk in African Americans and Whites: results from the North Carolina colon cancer study. Am J Endomino 2005;159(10):051-62.
- Levi F, Pasche C, Lucchini F, La Vecchia C. Macronutrients and colorectal cancer: a Swiss case-control study. Ann Oncol 2002;13(3):369-73.
- Franceschi S, La Vecchia C, Russo A, Favero A, Negri E, Conti E, Montella M, Filiberti R, Amadori D, Decarli A. Macromutrient intake and risk of colorectal cancer in Italy. Int J Cancer 1998;76(3):321-4.
- Slattery ML, Caan BJ, Potter JD, Berry TD, Coates A, Duncan D, Edwards SL. Dietary energy sources and colon cancer risk. Am J Epidemiol 1997;145(3):199-

210.

- West DW, Slattery ML, Robison LM, Schuman KL, Ford MH, Mahoney AW, Lyon JL, Sorensen AW. Dietary intake and colon cancer: sex- and anatomic sitespecific associations. Am J Epidemiol 1989;130(5):883-94.
- World Cancer Research Fund. Food, Nutrition, and the Prevention of Cancer: a Global Perspective. Washington, DC: Ameircan Institute for Cancer Research. 1997.
- Benito E, Cabeza E, Moreno V, Obrador A, Bosch FX. Diet and colorectal adenomas: a case-control study in Maiorca. Int J Cancer 1993;55(2):213-9.
- Potter JD, Slattery ML, Bostick RM, Gapstur SM. Colon cancer: a review of the epidemiology. Epidemiol Rev 1993;15(2):499-545.
- Giovannucci E, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Rimm EB, Trichopoulos D, Rosner BA, Speizer FE, Willett WC. Folate, methionine, and alcohol intake and risk of colorectal adenoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 1993;85(11):875-84.
- Nelson RL, Davis FG, Sutter E, Sobin LH, Kikendall JW, Bowen P. Body iron stores and risk of colonic neoplasia. J Natl Cancer Inst 1994;86(6):455-60.
- Newmark HL, Wargovich MJ, Brace WR. Colon cancer and dietary fat, phosphate, and calcium: a hypothesis. J Natl Cancer Inst 1984;72(6):1323-5.
- Glym SA, Albanes D, Pietinen P, Brown CC, Rustalahti M, Tangrea JA, Gunter EW, Barrett MJ, Virtamo J, Taylor PR. Colorectal cancer and folate status: a nested case-control study among male smokers. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Proc 1996;57:487-94.

- Mason JB, Levesque T. Folate: effects on carcinogenesis and the potential for cancer chemoprevention. Oncology (Williston Park) 1996;10(11):1727-36, 1742-3; discussion 1743-4.
- Ames BN. DNA damage from micronutrient deficiencies is likely to be a major cause of cancer. Mutat Res 2001;475(1-2);7-20.
- Blourt BC, Mack MM, Wehr CM, MacGregor JT, Hiatt RA, Wang G. Wickramasinghe SN, Everson RB, Ames IDN. Folate deficiency causes uracil misincorporation into human DNA and chromosome breakage: implications for causer and neuronal damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S J 19/97)4(7):3290-5.
- Machlin LJ, Bendich A. Free radical tissue damage: protective role of antioxidant nutrients. Faseb J 1987;1(6):441-5.
- Maiani G, Pappalardo G, Perro-Luzzi A, Raguzzini A, Azzini E, Guadalacara A, Triffer M, Frommi T, Moharhan S. Accumulation of beta-sarotene in normal colorectal muccosa and colonic neoplastic lesions in humans. Nutr Cancer 1995;24(1):22-31.
- Nelson RL. Dietary iron and colorectal cancer risk. Free Radic Biol Med 1992;12(2):161-8.
- Wurzelmann JI, Silver A, Schreinemachers DM, Sandler RS, Everson RB. Iron intake and the risk of colorectal cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1996;5(7):503-7.
- Martinez ME, Willett WC. Calcium, vitamin D, and colorectal cancer: a review of the epidemiologic evidence. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1998;7(2):163-8.

- Ryan-Harshman M, Aldoori W. Diet and colorectal cancer: Review of the evidence. Can Fam Physician 2007;53(11):1913-20.
- The effect of vitamin E and beta carotene on the incidence of lung cancer and other cancers in male smokers. The Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta Carotene Cancer Prevention Study Group. N Engl J Med 1994;330(15):1029-35.
- Hofstad B, Almendingen K, Vatn M, Andersen SN, Owen RW, Larsen S, Osnes M. Growth and recurrence of colorectal polyps: a double-blind 3-year intervention with calcium and antioxidants. Digestion 1998;59(2):148-56.
- Jarvinen R, Knekt P, Hakulinen T, Aromaa A. Prospective study on milk products, calcium and cancers of the colon and rectum. Eur J Clin Nutr 2001;55(11):1000-7.
- Glinghammar B, Ventari M, Rowland IR, Raffer JJ. Shift from a dairy productrich to a dairy product-free dist: influence on cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of feecal water-potential risk factors for colon cancer. Am J Clin Nutr 1997;66(5):1277-82.
- Govers MJ, Termont DS, Lapre JA, Kleibeaker JH, Vonk RJ, Van der Meer R. Calcium in milk products perceptates intestinal fatty acids and secondary bile acids and hus inhibits colonic cystoxsicity in humans. Cancer Res 1996;56:143:2270-5.
- Cancer Research UK. CancerStats. Mortality-UK. 2006. [Internet] http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/images/pdfs/cs_mortality_sept_2005.pdf [Cited May 2009].
- 32. Scholefield JH. ABC of colorectal cancer: screening. Bmj 2000;321(7267):1004-6.

- Cigarettes and diabetes up colorectal cancer risk. 2009. [Internet] http://www.fitcare.net/category/cancer/ [Cited May 2009].
- World Health Organization. 2006. [Internet] http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs297/en/. [Cited June 2009].
- National Cancer Institute. 2009. [Internet] <u>http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/commoncancers</u> [Cited December 2009].
- Vogel VG, McPherson RS. Dietary epidemiology of colon cancer. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 1989;3(1):35-63.
- Colorectal cancer stats. Canadian Cancer Society. 2009. [Internet]. <u>http://www.encer.ex/Canadia-</u> wide/abs/sts7520rt/520/rt/520/rt/520/s20glance/Colorect <u>ahf520meer/cancer/sam/rts_internet/cited</u> [Cited August 2009].
- Colorectal Cancer Statistics 2009 Canadian Cancer Society. 2009. [Internet] http://www.cancer.ca/newfoundland-

labrador/about%20cancer/cancer%20statistics/~/media/CCS/Canadat%20wide/Fil ex%20List/English%20filee%20heading/pdf%20ent%20in%20publications%20se ction/State%202009E%20Cdr%20Cancerashx [Cited August 2009].

- Green RC, Green JS, Buehler SK, Robb JD, Duftary D, Gallinger S, McLaughlin JR, Parfrey PS, Younghunshand HB. Very high nicidence of familial colorectal cancer in New Foundhand: a comparison with Ontario and 13 other populationbased studies. Fam Cancer 2007;61(15):54-52.
- 40. Haenszel W, Berg JW, Segi M, Kurihara M, Locke FB. Large-bowel cancer in

Hawaiian Japanese. J Natl Cancer Inst 1973;51(6):1765-79.

- McMichael AJ, McCall MG, Hartshorne JM, Woodings TL. Patterns of gastrointestinal cancer in European migrants to Australia: the role of dietary change. Int J Cancer 1980;25(4):431-7.
- Nasca PC, Greenwald P, Burnett WS, Chorost S, Schmidt W. Cancer among the foreign-born in New York State. Cancer 1981;48(10):2323-8.
- Platz EA, Willett WC, Colditz GA, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Giovannucci E. Proportion of colon cancer risk that might be preventable in a cohort of middleaged US men. Cancer Causes Control 2000;11(7):579-88.
- Bulow S, Faurschou Nielsen T, Bulow C, Bisgaard ML, Karlsen L, Moesgaard F. The incidence rate of familial adenomatous polyposis. Results from the Danish Polyposis Register. Int J Colorectal Dis 1996;11(2):88-91.
- Jeter JM, Kohlmann W, Gruber SB. Genetics of colorectal cancer. Oncology (Williston Park) 2006;20(3):269-76; discussion 285-6, 288-9.
- 46. de la Chapelle A. The incidence of Lynch syndrome. Fam Cancer 2005;4(3):233-7.
- Cannon-Albright LA, Skolnick MH, Bishop DT, Lee RG, Burt RW. Common inheritance of susceptibility to colonic adenomatous polyps and associated colorectal cancers. N Engl J Med 1988;319(9):533-7.
- World Cancer Research Fund & Ameircan Institute for Cancer Research. Food, Nutrition, Physical Activity & Cancer. Washington, DC: American Institute for Cancer Research, 2007.
- 49. Nair PP, Turjman N, Kessie G, Calkins B, Goodman GT, Davidovitz H,

Nimmagadda G Diet, nutrition intake, and metabolism in populations at high and low risk for colon cancer. Dietary cholesterol, beta-sitosterol, and stigmasterol. Am J Clin Nutr 1984;40(4 Suppl):927-30.

- Martinez ME. Primary prevention of colorectal cancer: lifestyle, nutrition, exercise. Recent Results Cancer Res 2005;166:177-211.
- Ahmed FE. Effect of diet, life style, and other environmental/chemopreventive factors on colorectal cancer development, and assessment of the risks. J Environ Sci Health C Environ Carcinog Ecotoxicol Rev 2004;22(2):91-147.
- Truswell AS. Meat consumption and cancer of the large bowel. Eur J Clin Nutr 2002;56 Suppl 1:S19-24.
- Sandhu MS, White IR, McPherson K. Systematic review of the prospective cohort studies on meat consumption and colorectal cancer risk: a meta-analytical approach. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2001;10(5):439-46.
- Truswell AS. Report of an expert workshop on meat intake and colorectal cancer risk convened in December 1998 in Adelaide, South Australia. Eur J Cancer Prev 1999;8(3):175-8.
- Morotomi M, Sakaitani Y, Satou M, Takahashi T, Takagi A, Onoue M. Effects of a high-fat diet on azoxymethame-induced aberrant crypt foci and fecal biochemistry and microbial activity in rats. Nutr Cancer 1997;27(1):84-91.
- Howe GR, Aronson KJ, Benito E, Castelleto R, Cornee J, Duffy S, Gallagher RP, Iscovich JM, Deng-ao J, Kaaks R, Kume GA, Kune S, Lee HP, Lee M, Miller AB, Peters RK, Potter JD. Riboli E, Slatterv ML. Trichoeoulos D. Tuvns A, Tzonou A.

Watson LF, Whittemore AS, Shu Z, et al. The relationship between dietary fat intake and risk of colorectal cancer: evidence from the combined analysis of 13 case-control studies. Cancer Causes Control 1997;8(2):215-28.

- Gaard M, Tretli S, Loken EB. Dietary factors and risk of colon cancer: a prospective study of 50,535 young Norwegian men and women. Eur J Cancer Prev 1996;5(6):445-54.
- Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Ascherio A, Willett WC. Intake of fat, meat, and fiber in relation to risk of colon cancer in men. Cancer Res 1994;54(9):2390-7.
- Levi F, Pasche C, Lucchini F, La Vecchia C. Dietary fibre and the risk of colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer 2001;37(16):2091-6.
- Terry P, Giovannucci E, Michels KB, Bergkvist L, Hansen H, Holmberg L, Wolk A. Fruit, vegetables, dietary fiber, and risk of colorectal cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001;93(7):525-33.
- Fuchs CS, Giovannucci EL, Colditz GA, Hunter DJ, Stampfer MJ, Rosner B, Speizer FE, Willett WC. Dietary fiber and the risk of colorectal cancer and adenoma in women. N Engl J Med 1999;340(3):169-76.
- Wasan HS, Novelli M, Bee J, Bodmer WF. Dietary fat influences on polyp phenotype in multiple intestinal neoplasia mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997;94(7):3308-13.
- Burkitt DP. Epidemiology of cancer of the colon and rectum. Cancer 1971;28(1):3-13.

- Levin B, Smith RA, Feldman GE, Coldtz GA, Fletcher RH, Nadel M, Rothenberger DA, Schory PB, 3rd, Vennon SW, Wender R. Promoting early detection tests for colorectal carcinoma and adenomationa polype: a framework for action: the strategic plan of the National Colorectal Cancer Roundtable. Cancer 2002;95(4):161-38.
- Chomchai C, Bhadrachari N, Nigro ND. The effect of bile on the induction of experimental intestinal tumors in rats. Dis Colon Rectum 1974;17(3):310-2.
- Reddy BS, Watanabe K, Weisburger JH, Wynder EL. Promoting effect of bile acids in colon carcinogenesis in germ-free and conventional F344 rats. Cancer Res 1977;37(9):3238-42.
- Probst-Hensch NM, Sinha R, Longnecker MP, Witte JS, Ingles SA, Frankl HD, Lee ER, Haile RW. Meat preparation and colorectal adeomns in a large sigmoidoscopy-based case-control study in Culifornia (United States). Cancer Causes Control 1997;35(21:5-58).
- Burnstein MJ. Dietary factors related to colorectal neoplasms. Surg Clin North Am 1993;73(1):13-29.
- Gorham ED, Garland CF, Garland FC. Physical activity and colon cancer risk. Int J Epidemiol 1989;18(3):728-9.
- Franceschi S, Dal Maso L, Augustin L, Negri E, Parpinel M, Boyle P, Jenkins DJ, La Vecchia C. Dietary glycemic load and colorectal cancer risk: Ann Oncol 2001;12(2):173-8.
- 71. Bruce WR, Giacca A, Medline A. Possible mechanisms relating diet and risk of

colon cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2000;9(12):1271-9.

- Bruce WR, Wolever TM, Giacca A. Mechanisms linking diet and colorectal cancer: the possible role of insulin resistance. Nutr Cancer 2000;37(1):19-26.
- La Vocchia C, Negri E, Decarli A, Franceschi S. Diabetes mellitus and colorectal cancer risk. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1997;6(12):1007-10.
- Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Rosner BA, Speizer FE. Relation of meat, fat, and fiber intake to the risk of colon cancer in a prospective study among women. N Engl J Med 1990;323(24):1664-72.
- Bostick RM, Potter JD, Kushi LH, Sellers TA, Steinmetz KA, McKenzie DR, Gapstur SM, Folson AR. Sugar, meat, and fat intake, and non-dietary risk factors for colon cancer incidence in lowa women (United States). Cancer Causes Control 1994;211:28-52.
- Pence BC. Role of calcium in colon cancer prevention: experimental and clinical studies. Mutat Res 1993;290(1):87-95.
- Peters U, McGlynn KA, Chatterjee N, Gunter E, Garcia-Closas M, Rothman N, Sinha R. Vitamin D, calcium, and vitamin D receptor polymorphism in colorectal adenomas. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2001;10(12):1267-74.
- Jacobs ET, Jurutka PW, Martinez ME, Alberts DS. Vitamin D, calcium, and colorectal neoplasia: new insights on mechanisms of action. Cancer Prev Res (Phila Pa) 2009;2(3):197-9.
- Terry P, Baron JA, Bergkvist L, Holmberg L, Wolk A. Dietary calcium and vitamin D intake and risk of colorectal cancer: a prospective cohort study in

women. Nutr Cancer 2002;43(1):39-46.

- McCallough ML, Robertson AS, Redriguez C, Jacobs EJ, Chao A, Carolyn J, Calle EE, Willet WC, Than MJ. Calcium, vitamin D, dairy preducts, and risk of colorectal cancer in the Cancer Prevention Study II Nutrition Cohort (United States). Cancer Canses Control 2003;14(1):1–12.
- Grau MV, Baron JA, Sandler RS, Haile RW, Beach ML, Church TR, Heber D. Vitamin D, calcium supplementation, and colorectal adenomas: results of a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2003;95(23):1765-71.
- Michels KB, Edward G, Joshipara KJ, Ronner BA, Stampfer MJ, Fuchs CS, Colditz GA, Speizer FE, Willett WC: Prospective study of fruit and vegetable consumption and incidence of colon and reetal cancers. J Natl Cancer Inst 2000;92(2):11740-52.
- Schatzkin A, Lanza E, Corle D, Lance P, Iber F, Cann B, Shike M, Weistfeld J, Burt R, Cooper MR, Kikenshall JW, Cahil JJ. Lack of effect of a low-fat, high-fiber diet on the recurrence of colorectal adenomas. Polyp Prevention Trial Study Groups. The and J Mol 2000;24(1):61140–55.
- Jacobs EJ, Connell CJ, Chao A, McCullough ML, Rodriguez C, Thun MJ, Calle EE. Multivitamin use and colorectal cancer incidence in a US cohort: does timing matter? Am J Epidemiol 2003;158(7):621-8.
- Zhang SM, Moore SC, Lin J, Cook NR, Manson JE, Lee IM, Buring JE. Folate, vitamin B6, multivitamin supplements, and colorectal cancer risk in women. Am J Enidemiol 2006;163(2):108-15.

- Liew C, Schut HA, Chin SF, Pariza MW, Dashwood RH. Protection of conjugated linoleic acids against 2-amino-3- methylimidaze(4,5-fquinoline-induced colon carcinogenesis in the F344 rat: a study of inhibitory mechanisms. Carcinogenesis 1995;16(12):2007-43.
- Duan RD. Sphingomyelin hydrolysis in the gut and clinical implications in colorectal tumorigenesis and other gastrointestinal diseases. Scand J Gastroenterol 1998;33(7):673-83.
- Saikali J, Picard C, Freitas M, Holt P. Fermented milks, probiotic cultures, and colon cancer. Nutr Cancer 2004;49(1):14-24.
- Norat T, Riboli E. Dairy products and colorectal cancer. A review of possible mechanisms and epidemiological evidence. Eur J Clin Nutr 2003;57(1):1-17.
- Cho E, Smith-Warner SA, Spiegdman D, Beeson WL, van den Brandt PA, Coldit GA, Folcum AR, Frater GE, Freudenheim JL, Giovannucci E, Goldhohm RA, Graham S, Miller AH, Piettinen P, Netter JD, Rohan TE, Terry P, Toniolo P, Virtanen MJ, Willett WC, Wolk A, Wu K, Yaan SS, Zeleniuch-Jacquete A, Hunter DJ. Dairy foods, calcium, and colorectal cancer: a pooled analysis of 10 color studies. J Mill Cancer Int 2020;49(13):1015-22.
- Tisoi KK, Pau CY, Wu WK, Chan FK, Griffiths S, Sung JJ. Cigarette smoking and the risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009;7(6):682-688 e1-5.
- Liang PS, Chen TY, Giovannucci E. Cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer incidence and mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cancer

2009;124(10):2406-15.

- Chao A, Thun MJ, Jacobs EJ, Henley SJ, Rodriguez C, Calle EE. Cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer mortality in the cancer prevention study II. J Natl Cancer Inst 2000;92(23):1888-96.
- Tisong WH, Koh WP, Yuan JM, Wang R, Sun CL, Yu MC. Cigarettes and alcohol in relation to colorectal cancer: the Singapore Chinese Health Study. Br J Cancer 2007;96(5):821-7.
- Su LJ, Arab L. Alcohol consumption and risk of colon cancer: evidence from the national health and nutrition examination survey 1 epidemiologic follow-up study. Nutr Cancer 2004;50(2):111-9.
- Giovannucci E. Diet, body weight, and colorectal cancer: a summary of the epidemiologic evidence. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2003;12(2):173-82.
- Martinez ME, Giovannucci E, Spiegelman D, Hunter DJ, Willett WC, Colditz GA. Leisure-time physical activity, body size, and colon cancer in women. Nurses' Health Study Research Group. J Natl Cancer Inst 1997;89(13):948-55.
- Giovannucci E, Ascherio A, Rimm EB, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. Physical activity, obesity, and risk for colon cancer and adenoma in men. Ann Intern Med 1995;122(5):327-34.
- MacInnis RJ, English DR, Hopper JL, Haydon AM, Gettig DM, Giles GG Body size and composition and colon cancer risk in men. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2004;13(4):553-9.
- 100. Caan BJ, Coates AO, Slattery ML, Potter JD, Quesenberry CP, Jr., Edwards SM.

Body size and the risk of colon cancer in a large case-control study. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1998;22(2):178-84.

- Russo A, Franceschi S, La Vecchia C, Dal Maso L, Montella M, Conti E, Giacosa A, Falcini F, Negri E. Body size and colorectal-cancer risk. Int J Cancer 1998;78(2):161-5.
- Colditz GA, Cannuscio CC, Frazier AL. Physical activity and reduced risk of colon cancer: implications for prevention. Cancer Causes Control 1997;8(4):649-67.
- Thune I, Furberg AS. Physical activity and cancer risk: dose-response and cancer, all sites and site-specific. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2001;33(6 Suppl):S530-50; discussion S609-10.
- Cotterchio M, McKcown-Eyssen G, Sutherland H, Buchan G, Aronson M, Easson AM, Macey J, Holowaty E, Gallinger S. Ontario familial colon cancer registry: methods and first-year response rates. Chronic Dis Can 2000;21(2):81-6.
- 105. Cottechio M, Manso M, Klar N, McLaughlin J, Gallinger S. Colorectal screening is associated with reduced colorectal cancer risk: a case-control study within the population-based Ontario Familial Colorectal Cancer Registry. Cancer Causes Control 2005;16(7):686-75.
- McKeown-Eyssen G. Epidemiology of colorectal cancer revisited: are serum triglycerides and/or plasma glucose associated with risk? Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1994;3(8):687-95.
- 107. Mrkonjic M, Raptis S, Green RC, Monga N, Daftary D, Dicks E, Younghusband

HB, Parfrey PS, Gallinger SS, McLaughlin JR, Knight JA, Bapat B. MSH2 118T>C and MSH6 159C>T promoter polymorphisms and the risk of colorectal cancer. Carcinogenesis 2007;28(12):2575-80.

- Cotterchio M, Boucher BA, Manno M, Gallinger S, Okey A, Harper P. Dietary phytoestrogen intake is associated with reduced colorectal cancer risk. J Nutr 2006;136(12):3046-53.
- Wang PP, Dicks E, Gong X, Buchler S, Zhao J, Squires J, Younghusband B, McLaughlin JR, Parfrey PS. Validity of random-digit-dialing in recruiting controls in a case-control study. Am J Health Behav 2009;33(5):513-20.
- Kolonel LN, Henderson BE, Hankin JH, Nomara AM, Wilkens LR, Pike MC, Stram DO, Monroe KR, Earle ME, Nagamine FS. A multiethnic cohort in Hawaii and Los Angeles: baseline characteristics. Am J Epidemiol 2000;151(4):246-57.
- Stram DO, Hankin JH, Wilkens LR, Piler MC, Monroe KR, Park S, Henderson BE, Nomura AM, Eark ME, Nagamine FS, Kolonel LN. Calibration of the dietary questionnaire for a multichnic cohort in Hawaii and Los Angeles. Am J Endermio 2005;151(4):358–70.
- Willett W, Stampfer MJ. Total energy intake: implications for epidemiologic analyses. Am J Epidemiol 1986;124(1):17-27.
- Tran TT, Medline A, Bruce WR. Insulin promotion of colon tumors in rats. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1996;5(12):1013-5.
- Corpet DE, Jacquinet C, Peiffer G, Tache S. Insulin injections promote the growth of aberrant crypt foci in the colon of rats. Nutr Cancer 1997;27(3):316-20.

- Manousos O, Souglakos J, Bosetti C, Tzonou A, Chatzidakis V, Trichopoulos D, Adami HO, Mantzoros C. IGF-1 and IGF-11 in relation to colorectal cancer. Int J Cancer (1999;83(1):15-7.
- Goldbohm RA, van den Brandt PA, van 't Veer P, Brants HA, Dorant E, Sturmans F, Hermus RJ. A prospective cohort study on the relation between meat consumption and the risk of colon cancer. Cancer Res 1994;54(3):718-23.
- Sandler RS, Lyles CM, Peipins LA, McAuliffe CA, Woosley JT, Kupper LL. Diet and risk of colorectal adenomas: macronutrients, cholesterol, and fiber. J Natl Cancer Inst 1993;85(11):884-91.
- Kato I, Tominaga S, Matsuura A, Yoshii Y, Shirai M, Kobayashi S. A comparative case-control study of colorectal cancer and adenoma. Jpn J Cancer Res 1990;81(11):1101-8.
- Neugat AJ, Garbowski GC, Lee WC, Murray T, Nieves JW, Forde KA, Treat MR, Waye JD, Fenoglio-Preiser C. Dietary risk factors for the incidence and recurrence of colorectal adenomatous polyps. A case-control study: Ann Intern Med 1992;18:29:1-5.
- 120. Bingham SA, Day NE, Luben R, Ferzni P, Slimani N, Norat T, Clavel-Chapelon F, Kesse E, Nieters A, Beeing H, Tjonneland A, Overvad K, Martinez C, Doromstro M, Gonzalez CA, Key TJ, Tichopoulou A, Naska A, Vineis P, Tumine R, Kroph V, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Peeters PH, Bergland C, Hallmans G, Land E, Skeie G, Kaadas R, Ribbi E: Dietary fibre in food and protection against colorectal cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Natrition (EPIC); an

observational study, Lancet 2003;361(9368);1496-501.

- 121. D K. Fibre and cancer. Med Oncol Tumor Pharmacother 1990;7:137.
- Grant WB, Garland CF. A critical review of studies on vitamin D in relation to colorectal cancer. Nutr Cancer 2004;48(2):115-23.
- Park SY, Murphy SP, Wilkens LR, Nomura AM, Henderson BE, Kolonel LN. Calcium and vitamin D intake and risk of colorectal cancer: the Multiethnic Cohort Study. Am J Epidemiol 2007;165(7):784-93.
- Kune G, Watson L. Colorectal cancer protective effects and the dietary micronutrients folate, methionine, vitamins B6, B12, C, E, selenium, and lycopene. Nutr Cancer 2006;56(1):11-21.
- La Vecchia C, Braga C, Negri E, Franceschi S, Russo A, Conti E, Falcini F, Giacosa A, Montella M, Decarli A. Intake of selected micromutrients and risk of colorectal cancer. Int J Cancer 1997;73(4):525-30.
- Ferraroni M, La Vecchia C, D'Avanzo B, Negri E, Franceschi S, Decarli A. Selected micronutrient intake and the risk of colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer 1994;70(6):1150-5.
- Kim YI. Folate and DNA methylation: a mechanistic link between folate deficiency and colorectal cancer? Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2004;13(4):511-9.
- Moat SJ, Ashfield-Watt PA, Powers HJ, Newcombe RG, McDowell IF. Effect of riboflavin status on the homocysteine-lowering effect of folate in relation to the MTHFR (C677T) genotype. Clin Chem 2003;49(2):295-302.

- Levi F, Pasche C, Lucchini F, La Vecchia C. Selected micronutrients and colorectal cancer. a case-control study from the canton of Vaud, Switzerland, Eur J Cancer 2000;36(16):2115-9.
- Dietary reference intakes. Health Canada. 2005. [Internet] <u>http://www.hcc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/nutrition/reference/table/ref_clements_tbl-eng.php</u> [Cited December 2009].
- 131. Satia-Abouta J, Galanko JA, Martin CF, Potter JD, Ammernan A, Sandler RS. Associations of microautrients with colon cancer risk in African Americans and white: results from the North Carolina Colon Cancer Study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomathers Proc 2001;2302:475-45.
- Courtney ED, Melville DM, Leicester RJ. Review article: chemoprevention of colorectal cancer. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2004;19(1):1-24.
- Hambly RJ, Rumney CJ, Fletcher JM, Rijken PJ, Rowland IR. Effects of highand low-risk diets on gat microflora-associated biomarkers of colon cancer in human flora-associated rats. Nutr Cancer 1997;27(3):250-5.
- Kleibeuker JH, van der Meer R, de Vries EG. Calcium and vitamin D: possible protective agents against colorectal cancer? Eur J Cancer 1995;31A(7-8):1081-4.
- Lamprecht SA, Lipkin M. Chemoprevention of colon cancer by calcium, vitamin D and folate: molecular mechanisms. Nat Rev Cancer 2003;3(8):601-14.
- Miller EA, Keku TO, Satia JA, Martin CF, Galanko JA, Sandler RS. Calcium, vitamin D, and apoptosis in the rectal epithelium. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2005;14(2):525-8.

- Boyapati SM, Bonick RM, McGym KA, Fina MF, Roufall WM, Geisinger KR, Wargovich M, Coler A, Hohrt JR. Calcium, vitamin D, and rick for colorectal adromat: dependency on vitamin D receptor Bunt polymorphism and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use? Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2003;12(7):615-7.
- World Cancer Research Fund American Institute for Cancer Research. Food, nutrition and prevention of cancer: a global perspective. Washington, DC: American Institute for Cancer Research 1997.
- Bergsma-Kadijk JA vtVP, Kampman E., Burema J. Calcium does not protect against colorectal neoplasia. Epidemiology 1996;7:590-7.
- 140. Hartman TJ, Albert PS, Snyder K, Slattery ML, Caan B, Paskett E, Iber F, Kikendall JW, Marshall J, Shike M, Weisfeld J, Brewer B, Schatzkin A, Lanza E. The association of calcium and vitamin D with risk of colorectal adenomas. J Nutr 2005;155(2):252-9.
- 141. Squires J, Roebothan B, Buehler S, San ZY, Wang PP. Pickled meat consumption and colorectal cancer: A case-control study in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. Cancer Causes and Control, submitted 2009.
- Wu K, Willett WC, Fuchs CS, Colditz GA, Giovannucci EL. Calcium intake and risk of colon cancer in women and men. J Natl Cancer Inst 2002;94(6):437-46.
- Chan JM, Giovannucci E, Andersson SO, Yuen J, Adami HO, Wolk A. Dairy products, calcium, phosphorous, vitamin D, and risk of prostate cancer (Sweden). Cancer Causes Control 1998;9(6):559-66.

- Wolf RL, Cauley JA, Baker CE, Ferrell RE, Charron M, Caggiula AW, Salamone LM, Heaney RP, Kaller LH. Factors associated with calcium absorption efficiency in pre- and perimenopausal women. Am J Clin Nutr 2000;72(2):466-71.
- MacDonald HB. Conjugated linoleic acid and disease prevention: a review of current knowledge. J Am Coll Nutr 2000;19(2 Suppl):111S-118S.
- Tsuda H, Sekine K, Ushida Y, Kuhara T, Takasuka N, Iigo M, Han BS, Moore MA. Milk and dairy products in cancer prevention: focus on bovine lactoferrin. Mutat Res 2000;462(2-3):227-33.
- van Boekel MA, Goeptar AR, Alink GM. Antimutagenic activity of casein against MNNG in the E. coli DNA repair host-mediated assay. Cancer Lett 1997;114(1-2):85-7.
- Kampman E, Goldbohm RA, van den Brandt PA, van 't Veer P. Fermented dairy products, calcium, and colorectal cancer in The Netherlands Cohort Study. Cancer Res 1994;54(12):3186-90.
- Walker M, Aronson KJ, King W, Wilson JW, Fan W, Heaton JP, MacNeily A, Nickel JC, Morales A. Dietary patterns and risk of prostate cancer in Ontario, Canada. Int J Cancer 2005;116(4):592-8.
- Slattery ML, Boucher KM, Caan BJ, Potter JD, Ma KN. Eating patterns and risk of colon cancer. Am J Epidemiol 1998;148(1):4-16.

Appendices

Appendix A. Personal history questionnaire used in Newfoundland and Labrador

and Ontario

Ontario Familial Colon Cancer Registry

Personal History Questionnaire

This questionnaire is about factors that may relate to a person's risk of developing currer. Mhorgin it is important to have complete data for scientific reasons and we encourage you to answer all questions. If you come to a quescient had you do not want to answer, phase write "perfer not to answer" headed it and then continue to inswer the remaining anothenion.

Should you wish to falk to someone about this questionnaire, you may call (416) 946-4409 or 1.800.832.5929. Phease write in your answers where space is provided, or place tick marks in circles. ${\mathscr G}$

What does are you filling out this questionnaire? I = Iday month year

Identifying Information

- 1. Are you made or female? O made
- 2. What is your erect
- A 12 12 12
- 3. What is your date of birth?
 - month
 - 3428
 - O dee't know day.
 - O desit know month
 - O desiliant series
- Are your common trinlet? C. Q. yes 1
 - O yes, other multiple (triplet, quadruplet, etc.).

door month.

- 0.00
- O don't have
- If yes, please read the following statement and exercises the question.

Non-identical twins are no more able than onlineary boolies and solvers. Generatally identical trains, our her effert band, here so wavelable (that is, they have a strong resemblance to each other in height, colouring, features of the Lee, etc.) that people offen mistake true for the other, corecult during their childhood.

Doyou have a cenetically identical twin or triplet?

- 0.10
- O m
- O beaution

5. What is your murital states? Or carriently married or living as murital

- O serented
- C Annual
- . . .
- er saget til setter samtes

O don't know

Bowel Screening and Health

- Have you ever had a first for blood in your stool, called a smear first or a homocealt? This nest is frequently drue as part of a positive physical examination, or it can be drue at here.
 - 0.50
 - O m Proceeded'
 - O desiliers Plant panel?
- the. When del you first have the bod?"
 - are taken first today.

 - inclusion of the state of the state
 - O data t Laws
- (b). What were the reasons for your first test? Prove field of that see h.
 - O to muchigate a new problem.
 - O family bears of colors tologeners
 - O matinolycarly cummation or chack on
 - O Anterio openfia previous problem
 - O other:
 - O short know
- 6c How many times have you had a hemoscolic test?
 - taraber of hemocenic tests
 - Contract Laboration
- 64. If you have had a homewordt test more than once, when did you last have due to a "
 - provident has been been a
 - 1.11
 - A COLORED AND REAL
 - O GUI L'ANNA

- Have you ever had a signaldoscopy? Signeedoscopy involves looking treads the lower bowel and section with a lighted industrial. This examination is usually draw in a distant's software modest modes.
 - 0 yes 0 no 🛶 Plane perces
 - O dellan Boor print
- When shid you first have this tool?
 - and taken fired to and
 - 1.15
 - to car of faired heat
 - O destributes
- What were the reasons for your first departments over "Please to Loft that every
 - O the structure of a new problem.
 - O Samily history of anismotal capacity
 - O summelycals examination or check on
 - O follow agent a performe problem.
 - O relation and the
 - O desilines
- How many times have you had a significative every?
 - market of separate-copies
 - O dow'r karra
- If you have had a separation over they owner, when did you had have this test?
 - and solves have been a

 - year of first year
 - O den't know

 Have you even had a cohomoscopy? Colonoscopy is an oxamination of the antile large boxed using a long flexible instances. This examination is as early done under solution.

O. 100

O at - Physicanty

- Sa. When did you first have this test?
 - our when first total

1.27

- system for the states.
- O dettikner
- 3b. What were the reasons for your first
 - O to taxastimate a new could as
 - O formally history of redenound company
 - nontraclycarly containation or check up
 - O Sollerr-up of a mession moblem.
 - O other:
 - Charles Lanine
- Both areasy times have you had a co-fenescent.¹
 - matches of colonexcepte
 - O don't know.
- If you have had a colourscopy more than order, when did you knot have this test?
 - one when had tested
 - 1.107
 - yearse (law associate
 - O monthings.

. .

- Has a doctor ever hold you that you'liad polyposis your large board or colour or rectam? Dolypo are growths in the bining of the others which yary in size from a fing day to several inclus;
 - O 345
 - D BR Please print #10
 - O don't know ---- Please go to 410
- "b. When did your decror first tell you that you had polyps?"
 - one of first dramous
 - 104
 - pour of first disguests
 - O don't know
- Have you been told more than once that you had not res?
 - D
 - _

 - 0.00010000
- When did your doctor hist tell you that you had polyage?
 - and of Red discourses.
 - 100
 - year of host diagnosis
 - O date is known
- Da you know what kind of polypointey were? Ployer include all the separate times you over foll you had polypo. Ployer risk of that analy.
 - O hypers
 - O adepertations (pre-clinication)
 - O hyperplastic
 - O other:
 - Darmie Ma
 - O skoji ka s
- Oid you have the polyps removed div a procedure called a polypertury (*) this can be done during a signification py or colonger process.
 - 0.000
 - O an --- Please prove \$20
 - O deal know Please or
- [9] When did yant first have polygy non-over?"
 - and at first pulpperhours.
 - 11
 - year of first polypechony
 - O shee's know
- 22 Have you had polyps removed more than one of a
 - 10.000
 - 0.....
 - Charles Street
- If you have had polyps removed more than once, when did you fast have polyps.
 - low at last out-rectoring

 - year of last polypectories
 - O describeres
- 10: Has a doctor even told you that you had framilial adventionations polypoids, known about a FAP: This is a condition, sumethings security in facelic scin which interestions polypoints the mode of the large bouel or order.
 - 0.11
 - O to Planet printill
 - O dellars Phone page #11
- 10a. When did your doctor first tell you that you had FAP?
 - age at diagnosis.
 - 1.12
 - A CHARLES OF CONTRACTOR
 - O deal laser.

- Has a disclor even fold you that you had Crobin foldsware? This is where you have an inflammation that extends introthe deeper lasers of the integrated that disposite tract, including the investite, copliages, storesch, and anoth investion.
 - O yes
 - O at Phone per te HI
 - O don't have - Phone on to #17
- 11a. When did your doctor first tell you that you had Costaly discuss?
 - and a descension
- Has a doctor ever told you that you had advertative exhibits? This is an inflammatio and ulceration of the lining of the board.
 - tendon's and rectans. It is not a shomach alcer
 - Q. 345
 - O m Please privilli
 - O desition Phone passell
- 12a: When did your doctor first tell you that you had adcounter colors?
 - where an elements

 - hours of diagrammin
 - O deallass
- Has a closer even to di you that you had ir vitable howel spadreme? This is a dosoder of the boards feading to corruping, gassiness, bioaring and alternating diarthree and consequences. It is sometimes called HIS or queste colors.
 - 0.101
 - O m Plane pake #14
 - O den't know Please printil

- E3a. When did your doctor first tell you that you had irritable bornel spindrome?
- 14. Bits a dischargemental sourchargour had efforctional an discusse? This prays also be called direction/or or directional and 10 calcondation in relation the bowed may be over infected, and can be provide efforcing realistics with bowed budge.
 - 0.10
 - O mi _ Picere pake #15
 - Q desiring ____ Party enterthy
- 14a. When did your dector first fell you that you had decenterized as docum?
 - are at diameric
 - 1.10
 - year of despisois
 - O the Lines
- Have you ever had any of your large bookd or colon restored?
 - 0 w
 - O to Paul go to #15
 - O destines ---- Plane proverti
 - Was it completely networked, or was only part of it removed?
 - O completely remained
 - O meth arranged
 - O down Streets
- 15). When did you first have any of your bound or colour proposed?
 - and at first energies
 - 1.107
 - you of first ofcorper-
 - O doe't know

- D. .
- Here you had you
 - v po
 - O for Priver print #17

O in the Recorded

- 10s When did you have your palibladder renoved?
 - any of open-data
 - 100
 - year of operation
 - U den tiksen
- Haw a doctor exertability on that you had diabetes, also have no diabetes mellitary. Provide the fail hade diabetes which you had only always preparate;
 - 0.96
 - D in ---- Prove provelly
 - O don't know Plotter works h
- 17a. When the your doctor first nell you that you had diabetes?

 - Constant of American Street
 - O desiliare

			 Has a dattor even field you that you had high cholesterid? If your aise to each source was 			
0.00						
O derther			O no Please process?			
			0 dentities Phone procedure			
			155. When did your ductor first tall you that you had high choice-start? any it ductors is			
O don't bare						
			O as the flow prostly			
	Pills	Interfere	O don't know Home provided			
	1515	Involin				

	PIL	Inches	Dr. Box Jung, in total, have jointblender- moleculor?	
trainfer of months or			number of numbs or	

ferens of fait tellber than chalesterole in your blood, size called high might evening?	type of cancer?		
	O at Photo estad (1)		
	O destition - Province		
O no Hone yo keeps			
O dealthreat			
196 When did your doctor first tell you that you had by h top by enables?	2005. When this your disctor first totl you the had this type of cancer?		
O to Price petro 820			
O don't know water Please parts £20			
	21. Has a discher erer bild you that you had other nameer?		
	O an - Photo panels		
	O shall know - Phone on to		
198. About two years ops, were possibling it?	216. When did your doctor first tall you due had this type of earcer?		

- 21c. New you wested with radiation the understance and feedbal concerts
 - 0.44
 - . . .
 - O Amilian

	Medications		
	Have you over taken any of the following		
O m Phone proc KN	medications regularly (all heavt twice a		
O dor't know Pircer name #34	week for more than a month/?		
	 Asplein Oracle as Amarin, Buffrein, Bayer, Exercitia, Ecotrine 		
When did you doctor first tell you dut you that you that you	O as		
	O don't have an Plotter period?		
Were son treated with radiation therapy, stack therapy (for this concert)			
D to prove Principal Princ	205. About two years and more year token at		
O. derickane			
When did your doctor first tell you that you had not your			

Have you ever taken only of the following medications regularly (at least twice a week for more than a month)? common/c

- 25. Acctaminophen (such as Tylenol, Amarin-3, Passadol).
 - O yer
 - O tor ---- Phone print #20
- Advil, Motein, Naprin, Medipren, Indocid, Naprovyn, NSAIDS (NSAIDS are non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs)
 - A 362
 - O no Phone yo to #27
 - O desickness ---- Plane percent??
- 255. How others did you troubly take it when you were taking it regularly infantis, at loss twice a work for more than a month/? Polyne channer and of the fallowing.
 - times people av
 - times not work.
 - O they'l know

- 26a. How offers did you resultly take it when you were taking it regularly offset is, at least twice a week for energe than a month? Please choose one of the following.
 - titles per day av-
 - Littles per me
 - don't know
- 25b. About two years ago, were you taking it
 - family .
 - 2.17
 -
 - O dentikarra
- 25: How long, in total, how you taken this modication regularly? If you started and wegged and how started again, planne count with the start way serve taking after works that.
 - member of months or
 - member of users
 - O dan't kena

- O no
 - O den'timos
- Nr. How long, in total, have you taken this medication regularly? If to so started and stopyed and then storted approx, phase coust only the store our serve taking this medication.
 - and the second second second
 - mather of year
 - O dan't kanz

Have you ever taken any of the following medications regularly (at least twice a week for more than a month?) (continued

- Brill-forming briatives (such as Metamoril, Citracel, FiberCon, Neralise as Binne)
 - O so.
 - O desiliers ---- Pierr print?
- 27a. How office did your mutally take it when you wont taking of expelledly (that is, of feed twice a week for more flux), another their characterized of the following:
 - times per day or
 - Same per week
 - O des't know

- Other functions couch as Ex-Law, Convected, Dukodaw, Srankot, Colare, carber ell, cud fiber ell, minoral ell, milli el magnesia, lactabor, Eponn solts
 - 0.50

 - O don't know Ployer po to fi'd
- 25a. How offers did you usually take it when you were taking at asystuaty offset is, at least twisa work, for struct these a secretles? Please choose one of the following.
 - times per dati or i
 - times per work
 - O should have
- About two years eps, were you laking it repulsity?
 - O. 1124
 - C
 - O derilars
- 256 How long to total, have you taken this needs attorn regularly. "It your started and stryped and these started again, plasme restort only the lane true as as taking this mathematica."
 - masher of months or
 - mander of years.
 - O clear thrank

ngalady (Di yes O na

- O desiriares
- 26. How long, in total, have you taken this medication negatiatly? If you strated and support and then stored again, please court with the time converse taking flix medication.

mander of months or

monday of ager

O along't know

2.01

Have you ever taken any of the following medications regularly (at least twice a week for more than a month)? (convince)

Multivitamin supplements (such as One-A-Day, Therappani, Centram,	30. Folic acid or foliate pills or tablets			
Unicape (not indexidual vitamine)				
	O to			
O an - Phone press 30	O. den't know			
O dor't have 🛶 Please prioritie)				
	30a. How offen did you mushly take it when you			

291. How other did you resulty take it when you were taking it negotiary that is, at least twice a week for more than a month? These there only a did discuss.

times perday or

arnes per week.

O doo's know

In: How other did you musify take it when you were taking it regularly that is, at least twice a week for more than a monito? Please choose out of the pelineing.

times per day or

times per uce

O den'i know

 Sh. Meat two years ap, sere you taking it regularly?
 open and two years ap, sere you taking it regularly?

 O yes
 O yes

 O no
 O no

O dee's know

 How long, initially have you taken this methylation negatiatly? If you started and support and there is started again, plastic courexit, for time you note taking this methylation.

member of months or

. . . .

30: How long, in total, have you taken this medication regularly? If you stored and swepped and their stored again, phase costs with the time you near value this multi-ation.

manher of months or

manifer of years.

O don't know

Here you ever taken any of the following medications regularly (at least twice a week for more than a month)? (contained

- 31. Calcium pills or tablets
 - 0 10
 - O m --- Photo School
 - O don't know ------ Plone gowers?
- Ha. How often did yournaulty take it where you were taking it repeladly tiltur is, at least twice a week for more than a month? *Prove closue our of the following*.
 - times per day ov-
 - interpriseek:
 - O des't know
- About two years ago, were you taking it regulated.
 - 0.00
 - ×

 - CO DESCRIPTION
- 31c. Device long, in total, have you taken this medication regularly 5 () on observed and on previously drive sourced appen, please count and che that you even taking this medication.
 - parafect of months or
 - number of years
 - O des't knew

- Calcium-based attacids carch as Turns, Robids, Extra-strength Robids, Aller-Mints, Chevr. Antacid game
 - O to -- B Ufensle, plotte 50 to 10 U mele, alcone on to 10
- 33a. How other data som usually take it when you were taking it regularly other is, at least make a werk for more than a member. *Physic chemics on efficie taking ins*.
 - times per day or
 - firms per need.
 - O shart base
- 3(3) About two years apo, were you taking it needado?
 - 0.115
 - 6 m
 - O Arrithme
- 32c. How long, in total, have you taken this modification regularity? If your superior and support and here secured again, please cases only the two ways or re-inding align medication.
 - number of months or
 - mandate of some
 - O des i know
 - Men: alouse on to #44 on surve 13

Humey: Megre continue with #33 an more 13

12.1

Menstruation, Pregnancy, and Menopause

- - version of age O all of them
 - O den Ykoon muther of preparaties within the second second
 - O dan't know
 - the second of Second Contraction of Second

 - 0.....
 - How many times have you been property Please include monomoups with table, table prepare is card observer.
 - matches of precouncies.
 - O doubt Lana
- 14. How many times were you pregnant with more than one hally (twins, triplets or more)? *R you are program new plante doine?* (which, you compared on plante doine?)
 - O married
 - matches of propulscies, with more than one hole.
 - O show't know
- MIS These means of your preparatives leaded to maximize a longer? (Preparately soundly leade 0 membry size investige is about the statisstic today could survive i if your are preparations, about the survive is in the second second
 - O all of them
 - 6 months or larger
 - CO LEVEL I NUMBER

- Field Party and Party pass of the first his burn?
 - year of first birth
 - O decitizees
- How old were you at the last line. build?
 - age at last birth and
 - year of last birth
 - O data't know.
- Have you ever used birth counted pills or other homoral contractplines complete or injections for at least one year?
 - O 305
 - O m Theory to Cit.
 - O dellars __ Plan partie
 - any of these beamond contraceptives?
 - ape at time and
 - Server of the server look.
 - A 9481 FB44
- Usa. Were you still using hornwald
 - 0
 - 0 ----
 - O deal from

 In total, how long did yourials these intermedia contraceptions? If you showed and recepted and their standal sprain places court with the tour one serve taking these contraception.

tember of years

O Jan't Lynn.

 Hann yeer had a memotrical period in the last 12 member Phase include only memotrical blocking, and blocking their results from historic replic execut through (HBT) are programment, programme as withdrawed blocking).

O TOTAL Plente perior 832

- O. 18

- Have your periods stopped permanently or only temporarily due to preparity. Dreast dealing, or other conditions?

O pomutentic

- O suspends --- New yours)
- Here old some you when your periods sharped permanents?
 - and they shared
 - your they shareed
 - O destitions.
- Why did your menstruid periods dop.
 - O REPORT FRANK
 - O WHEN
 - O radiation or chromohorase
 - other reason
 Please specific
 - O shart have

Please complete the next few questions which ask about surgeries you may have had.

- . . .
- nemoted)
 - O m
 - O defiliant
 - and a star second second
 - iter mitter manning
 - O merikan
- 194. Dystructory with one ovary or part of an ovary restored.
 - O 10
 - 0.00
 - State and the second
 - and the removed of the
 - year when remeval
 - O then't have:
- 70. Hysterectures with both arcrites rentried
 - O . 105
 - O INT
 - Charlen Street
 - an age when removed to be rear when removed
 - O they have
- 9%. One every removed, completely or partly, without instancements
 - O 101
 - 12.
 - Ph. short's house
 - age when removed are year when removed
 - O don't know

29AU Both estatics removed without hydretectory

- (d). Were you still having measures portiols when you first took the horrowes?
- O den't know
- when 42b. Were you prescribed either an owno pill or patch couch as Premarini for
- ton or
- AN Y LEANS
- O never had radiation or chemothyrapy.
- If your periods stopped permanently, far any reason other than surgery, radiation or chronotherapy, when hid the score?
 - O other ranon Phone specifier
 - sear of our occurred or or of our of our of our or other occurred.
 - O view'i knew
 - O and applicate
- Decisits preserible had many replacement. Har may recommy various, including energy and symphons, surgical neuronal of the strates, interspective, and hyself theory prevention. (Meropanal symphons, include hat these supervises and interspective include that the supervises are also been supervised.)

Have you ever taken hormone replacement therapy prescribed by a dector and in the form of a pill or a parent?

Please do not include housing therapy that min presentary for briefly control, ingendary, housing themps alobe end to use those, with the themps alobe end ingensitivities, or beefort or on produces.

- O YES
- O no --- Berry marth
- O desit knew Plong water BL

- inclusion for homone replacement therapy about two years as C
 - 0 10
 - 0.00
 - O destructions
- -424. In total, how long dial you take

vertexpressedly tracelezation for hieranong replacement therapy " if your search and stopped and thera scatted oppoint places record only the time your over taking this second when

member of months or

- enrolley of years
- O dreitkner

43. Encyclement or projectite is frequently proceeded by discrete together well encycle for human explosional discrete Photogy, Ose offeren loand name is Photogy. Another one is Point times. Have you cover clean projections or programs together with entropying to information physicanomic theory?

- O. 305

O an ---- Please group \$4.5

O dent kare ---- Please or he #11

 How only using your references your first book programming or proposition together with estrogens.¹

> ope when first taken year when first taken

- O desiling
- Were you still using progestrone or progestic medication about two years and?
 - O 144
 - O 84
 - O destlars.
- 42g In total, here, long did post take projectome in properties topologic with estropologic P (1) or vector) and enzyped and their manual again, phone count of the time one serve taking the model on a

manber of months of

complex of years.

O the three

 Have you ever taken tainouten, inlowiene or other anti-estrigen medication (such as Lapton or Dego Provera).

- O MO

O to ---- Plene publiki

 O provebby - I have participated in a clinical trial for farmorites or other anti-sourcepon medication

O day't bere ----- Phone are set

 What anti-entropy is medication did you take? Press Web all ther apply.

estimate O

O relativerer

plane under

12a. How old were your obset you first, tool, tamevillen, ralooitone or other anneotogen medication?

approving the state of the second sec

carrietics first taken

C desthere

- Were you will taking tanonides, ratestlene re-other anti-estrogen modication about two years and?
 - 0.144
 - 0.00
 - O dor't have
- 136. In total, how long did you take tamovides, takenthese or other table estragen needleadow? If you served and wapped and their shored in pass, ployee count endy, the table you serve adore this work erson.

raxibly of months ov-

interfer of years

O destiliant

Dict

44. About two years ago, on average, how often did you git a piece or sense of fruit?

(A serving of finite is: 1 modium-stood field finit: 1/2 carp of chapped, cooked or cannot finit: 161 carps of shield finit: 6 surveys of finit, juice (3F) - 10F), pare jusce); (Parise classer one of the Solitowing,

- SUBJERS DOUGHY OF
- SUMPLY DELAND
- servings per month
- O net lane.
- (b) Mount issue spaces approve average, how others did you can a serving of segretables? Please include street selects, heater length, etc., and recursive dust metasory tensors, hince

also serving of negetables on Long raw leady regetables (12 kmp of other regetables, cooled re-

- sening opendas or
- serving commences or
- services per month.
- O dant know
- Obset two years upty on average, how often did year eat a serving of red meat trot chicken or fishe?

(Assessing of red meat is; 2.3 suncess of red meat to piece of meat about the size of a dack of cards). Red neart include: beef, shell, hardbarger prime lift, risk, beef hordogs, beef based processed meat, seal, peak, been, perk surcage, hard, hards senses.) *Prime channe work for tablactus*.

- servings per day or
- services per week or
- servings per month
- O didn't extrad ment ----- Please gate #17
- O deritions
- Hu, Alsoni two yangs ago, on svenge, how often did you of a serving of red ment that was cooled by brothing, grifting, harbceneing or purifying mut stir final or deep-finall? *Phane choice one of the Informatica*.
 - servings per day or
 - services per neck or
 - services per manufi

 - O don't know

.....

405. On average, when you see red must cooked by these methods, which of the following best doubles its approximate?

What was its outside appearance?	What was its inside approxime they well done it was?		

 About two years ago, on a creage, how often did you cat a service of chicken? Prove do not invited work: or any other beat.

(A serving of chicker is: 2-3 onness of chicken onest; I doonsticle 1 thigh; hill a breast; 2 wrigh; 3 margets a Plasme choose one of the following.

- sentimes per day or
- servings per week or
- services per month
- O didn't est chicken ---- Please or history
- O doritkow
- 43a. Advent two years upto on investige, here often dalayeri est a serving of chicken than was cooked by broking, pulling, budsecuring or participing unit sin tried or deep-field? Phase choice one of the pulloa area.
 - STUDES PETMAL OF
 - SCHIEZ- PCT Week or
 - servings per noeth
 - O diskrit cat structors that was evolved by these methods ----- Plense periodility
 - O dan't know

41b. On average, when you are chicken cooked by these methods, which of the following best describes

an discovery

- What was its entsitie accounter?
- O Tightly boward
- O mediam browned
- O thereits browned or blackcard
- O don't know

Physical Activity

We would like you to think back to when you were in your 20s and tementer the physical activities you participated in them.

 In your 20s, did you participate regularly in physical activity for a total of at least 30 minutes a week? Phone doe role user activates below.

		For how many years?	During these years. for how many mentlo per year?	During these months, on average, for how many minutes or hours per week?
Walking	0 10			
Bogging froming denser than a mile on 10 trensteet	0 10		nemls.	
Remaing framing faster than a mile in 10 minutes)	0 yn		north.	
Bicycling (including using at control bicyclin)	0 50			
Swimming Laps	0 50		neetle	
Tennis, squash racquethall	0 yo		seeth.	
Calisthenics, aerobics, vigorous dance recluding holicer using a reoring machine, fifting weights	0 50			
Frothall, soccer rughy, baskethall	0 10			
Heavy boundfull work technoples trong a new power moving heavy loa workforg fromst				

In your 20th did you do any other streamous activities? Streamous activity means scenething that readly increased your heart rate, multi you but, and caused you to sweat. Some examples are: sking, skining, beckey, hunting, skikking or subscenarios, sking without

tivity one specific		For how many years?	During theor years, for how many months per year?	During these months, on average, for how many minutes or hours per week?
	-			
	+			
	-		erest.	
	-			

 When you were in your 20% white was your unitd occupation? (We mean what you did for the longest incr. including any paid or angular englisyment, such achieving a shadert or housestile of builty more ployed.)

O desilare

If you see control e that says 10, please go as the next section (Messiel Consumption) on page 25, Othernesse, please continue with 450.

....

New, please think back, to your 30s and 40s.

 In your JW and 40s, did you periodpate regularity in physical activity for a total of at least JU minutes a week? Providentific your activities heles.

		For host many years?	During those years, for how many months per year?	During these months, on average, for how many minutes or hours per week?
Walking	*			
Jogging transmig dower thus a mole in 10 minutes	+			
Running stanning laster thus a mile in 10 minutes)	+			
Bicycling Orcholarg asing an exercise bicyclet				
Swimming laps	-			
Tennis, squash racquetball	-			
Callebraics, acrubics, vigorous dance tircloding belich using a rowing mechine, lifting weights	-			
Fastball, seccer rughy, basketbal				
Heavy honorhold work resempts, tweng a non-power messary beney low westing heavy low serribbing flowest	-		nonh-	

- 24

In your 3b and db, dd you do any offer streamen activities? Steeneos activity means sortering from mally increased your heart rare, male you hot, and cancel you to wneat. Some examples are, dring, detrug, heekey, huaring, dedding or tribegraning, wate object.

Activity please specify		For how many years?		During those years, for here many months per year?	During those months, on average, for how many minutes or hours per week?		
	-						
	-						
	-						
	-			and the			
	+			mentio			
	*			months			

 When you wave in your 200, and 200, what was your round ecception? (We mean what you did for the longest integline including any paid or sugaid employment, such as being a student or however/re or being you meglicych).

O dellars

or the second

If som are younger thomoge 31, please go in the next socion (Alcohol Consumption) on page 24. Observise, please continue with #22.

Now, please think back to since you turned 50,

 Since you turned 50 did you participate regularly in physical activity for a total of at least 30 minutes a week? Prove describe some activities below.

		For how many years?		During those months, caverage, for how many intecor hours per week?
Wolking	0 555			
Jogging craming slower than a trile at 10 minutes)	0 yes		mentis	
Ranning (mining faster than a mile in 10 mining of	0 yes		months	
Bicoding tincluding using an exercise hicycler	0 yo			
Swimming laps	0 101		rasults	
Tennis, squash racquethall	0 100			
Calisthenics, accobics, signorous dance unchaling bullet), using a rooting machine, lifting weights	0 300			
Football, soccer rugby, busketbal	0 90		months	
Heavy household work resamples using a non-porter movies, showeling moving heavy low sembling floorer			months	

-

Mine som burned 50, did you do any other dreennass aeticities? Stremans aeticity means seembling, that nully increased your hears nare, made you hot, and canad you to seem? Some examples are viving, diating, hockey, hunting, itedating or tobacconing, water aking.

Activity phone specify		Farbos maij years?	During those years. For host many months per year?	During those months, on average, for heav many minutes or hours per week?
	-		months	
	-		nuts	
	+		mently	
	-			
	-		ments	nomines per seerk, so hours per week
	- 81		ricelly.	

 Stare you turned 50, what was your usual receptive? (We mean what you did fee the longest time, including any goal or impaid employment, such as being a student or furnessific or being incombined it.

O sherri kana

Alcohol Consumption

We would like you to think back to when you were in your 20c.

 Increment 20s, that you ever construct any alcoholic benerages at least once a week for 6 months or hotger? Plyour describe tour consumption below.

		Far how many years?	Dring these years, how much did you typically consum?
Been hard eider on heast Micultulat	0 yo 0 m 0 defilian		
Wine	0 yrs 0 m 0 dor't inwr		
Solar, sherry, port	0 yrs 0 mi 0 denitirees		
Spirits, lapare mixed drinks, beamly, laparens			

 When you were in pour 20s, how many years in total did you consume at head one alcoholic here may of any type) a work?

TARK CONSISTS

O incorrecontenant about

56. Dri average, how many allealastic beeragges a week did year constant during those years? That is, how many of onese disease of wine are 12 onese cases at bettles of beer on hard caller, or 1 onese services of subs, does not also caller.

transfer of alcoholic heretraces a week.

O. INVECCENTRAL double

(f) som over transper than mp: 33. planne syster the next section (funding) on page 28. Otherwise, planne common with 452.

Now, please shash back to tour Mb and 4th,

 In your 30s and 40s, did you ever consume any alcoholic beverapes at least once a week for 6 months or longer (Please describe your companyation below).

		thany years?	During these years, how much fird you typically commune?
llicer, hard cider (at least	0 10	years consumed	
397 alcoholi	O dari kazz		
Wine	8 yrs		
	Q dwitknos		
Salar, sherry, port	0 jn		
Spirits, liquer reised drinks,		years consumed	mandser of 1 campy shot- business or spirits
liqueire			

 When you were in your bits and disc here many years in bital did you consume at heast one adjustuic hereirage off area type) is week?

YOAN CONSTRAINS

O never consumption dealed

(9). On average, how many distribute reversages a week did year consume during those years? That is, how many knowner glasses of sime rec12 source can see holder of here or hard cides, or 1 source settings of sales of size.

number of alcoholic becoming using to

never consumed alcohol.

If treasure senanger than age SL please go to the text section (Southing) on page 28. Otherwise, please continue with their

New, please thick back to since you turned 50.

50. Since you turned 50, did you ever consume any alcoholic betweepes at least once a work for 6 months or longer? Places describe tone concentration below.

		For how many years?	During those years, how much did you typically consume?
Been hard eider tat least	0 m		
3% photod)			
Wine	O ten		
Sake, shorry, peri	O no		
Spirits, liquor mixed drinks,			
brands,			
liquents			

 Since you tanied 50, how many years in total did you commune at least one alcoholic beverage foll any types a week?

very expanded

behavior commenced alcohol

62. University is how many adjoint to be reacting to work daily pair constants during those source? That is, how many distance gluones of mine or 12 states or bottles of beer of hard elder, or 1 sumce services of safety doesn't pair, or spirity mough dripts and creduals.

number of alcoholic betterates a stork.

O terrer consumed alcohol

- - O at Prove principal
 - O duithen ---- Theorem and

- - O treatment Phane states in its
 - O an --- Phone para Male

- - O an Please processo
 - O den't have Plane prov Mil

- - O and the Phone on to study

 Have you ever seroled at least one pipe a month for at least 5 months?

0.105

O == ---- Ploar go to Mri

O den't know ____ Ploner on to 100

60x. When did you first start smeking at least

opy at first use

Jean to the set

O den't know

 During periods when you sensled regularly, how many pipes did you typically sensle in a month?

pipes per month

65c. About two rears apy some you still surviving of least one more a growth?

0.505

0.00

O dep'time

653 Do you still smoke at least one pipe a month?

O your Photographilly

O to - More near port.

Charles Manual

65c. When did you stop sandking at least one pipe a month rise mean stop sandking promagnetici?

and of fast and the

pear of the nee

Contract Contract

(6) How writely years, in tend, did you smoke at least one ripp a month for Simonths or lenger? (I) you have stopped and researed at least on a court only the time when you were smoking y.

total number of year

O. BULLER PROVIDE

54

Height and Weight

 About how tall are you, without your shoes and

feet indice

contendico

O den't know

b) Photo minera and your weight alload. Even years app?

factory.

.....

 How much did you usigh when you were about 20 years old?

prend-

100

Adoptation .

O short's know.

Additional Information

 Previous to this study, have you and your relatives ever taken part in any family health studies?

O ICC

0.00

O desiring

Background Information

- too than 8 years 0 some college or aniversity
- Smillign
- 0
 - O desitions

County of birth sometimes affects disease tok. Please fill in country of birth for yoursall, your parents and your grandparents.

In addition, scientises have found that some genetic trains are more common or less common anong Action people of different ethin, hackgrounds. Please anotee the question about Jensili descent for each pension.

	Country of high			other	don't kern
		O yes			
Your in-ther		O per			
		O yes			
		O por O nor O doubles			
		O yrs			
		O per			
		O 50 O se O dell kan			

22. How many sears have you lived in Canada?

O all no life

---- renfscrof years

O desition

 Ethnolog and take sometimes affect disease risk. Scientisk have found that some generic traits are more common or less common among people of different backgrounds. We would like to know if this is true for gene-sometimely disclosered gener.

Phene fill in the background for yourself, your parents and your grandparents. Phene 15.6 of the analy-

Black, from North America				
Black, other				
White				
	0			
Other South East Asian 17 (Nictioniese)				

54 Which of the following categories best describes your total annual homehold income about true years and?

	O \$10,000 \$10,000
	O SHURL SHOW
	Q \$30,001 - \$39,099
	O SHORE in more
0 \$30,000 \$30,999	

17. In case we need to contact you in the fittuic and you have moved, could see have the name of someone who is not living with you to whom we might write or call for some new address?

Appendix B. Food frequency questionnaire used in Newfoundland and Labrador

<image><image><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><text><text><text>

If you have any questions about this form or the study, call our toll-free number, 1-888-938-4588.

The information given to us in this questionnairs will be kept confidential.

Thank you for your time and assistance.

© M Jain and J McLaughlin, 2002

HOW TO COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE

We would like to know how often you all certain foods about one year before diagnosis, and their amounts.

Section A (lists foods and portion sizes)

ounces stall, inches (1, precess (e.g., 1 apple) Imanpoons (figs). gans igni, tablessoore (basi, militres ini), gentimetres (cm)

Vie want to know the Portion Size of your USUAL SERVING. We have given an example of an everyone portion size. If your portion size was different than the average, you can indicate this by putting an X or Jim thus cicles for Smaller or Larger portion stess. Smaller than average is about 25% or less than the average conton size while Larger than average is should 25% or more than the average size. Leave the circle blank or your tokal portion size was average

Included with this questionnaire is a FOOD PHOTOGRAPH PAGE that shows small, medium and large portion sizes for vegetables, meat and chicken. Some questions ask you to refer to the photo page to help you choose your usual portion size.

Section 8 (asks about how often you are certain foods one year before diagnostic

For each food item lated, choose one column (Per Day, Per Week, Per Month, or Newr / Ranely) that bees For each node each state, choose one count (ref use, ref wave, ref wave, ref wave) to be been describes HOW OFTEN you also or drank that item. For example, if you also CREAM CHEESE 3 lines a month, during the year of interest, you would write (3) in the FER MOVING science. If you also SMEET POTATOES eachy 2 times during the year of interest, you can place a checkmark (1) in the NEVER OR RARELY column

Section C (To be completed only for seasonal floods) Some loods for example test trut and vegetables; are not available throughout the year. For floods that you do not set all year round (a in season only), indicate the number of months of the year that you ale them

Please complete each question as best you can. We know that it is difficult to recall exactly how often you are something. If you are not certain, thy to doe your best estimate

a	EXAMPLE Section A				70	Section C			
FOCO		Average Portion Size	Your Portion Size, if NOT Average					enly)	If Ate Food in Season Only
		Smaller	Larger	13 1	1111	NOVIN Inter-	RARELY 12408	Months per Year	
,	CHANC-EED	284324614	0	0	1.1	-4.0	3		
2	CANTELOUPE	15 x 1 site	0	0		1			4
э	SWEET POTATORS	1 million Trop	0	0		÷.,	1	1	

Dictary Questionnaire Information Sheet

This information short will assist you with some of the questions that may be unclear in the questionaiss. This study is being down in NavKundhard and Labrader and in Orderin. We want to be save people in Novefoundator and Labrador are conferentable with the questionaire and we know that the connects work's apply to everyone. We ask that you note the following the question.

- Question 86. Hotdog or wiener. This question refers to the meat portion only. If you cut wieners with a ban check the ban portion in the brand soction.
- Question 89. Bologna. Be sure to check your usual portion size in the question on cold cuts. In NewRoundland we often ext much thicker slices to you would tick "larger" portion size.
- Question 95. Pickled Ment. Newfoundland and Labrador solt beef should be ticked here. The subsidvided ment in question 94 is about beef jerky and those kinds of mants. Pickled fish in question 101 is asking about things like bottled pickled herring. <u>18</u> (4)
- Quention 154-155. Mayonnaise/Miracle Whip. Please consider both kinds as you complete this question. We know that root people use Miracle Whip as salad dressing and refer to it as mayonnaise but scene people may use real maveemaine.
- Question 158. Margarise and Butter. Be sure to keep separate the amount of margarine and better you eat. Again we know that many people use margarine although they may refer to it as butter.
- Question 164. Gensy. This taks about an average serving of % cup. Most of us in Newfoundland and Labrader use much more than this so you would tick the larger position here, so.
- You will also see that questions about fit or dairy products often separate out regular and light brands.
- Part Two If you take separate vitamina by themselves please look at the container to nee what "dosage" you are taking. It will be given in either mg or in.
- We are also interested in the amount of seasonal foods you out. If you only eat certain foods at certain times of the year, please indicate how many months of the year you ate these loads.

Thank-you

	Sect	ion A			YE		tion B	OBIB	Section
	F000	Average Portion Size	Por Size,	tion # NOT rage	(Car		OFTEN? e column	only)	If Ate Fee In Seeso Only
			Smale	Larger	-	-	status antes	NEVER S' RAAELY	Months Der Year
	Beverages	-	-			-	-		_
P.U	AND THE R.	1000	and a	100			100		116
2	2% MLX, 2% Evaporated milling, Fit canal & disks	1 mg/216 ml	0	0					
-	MIX BANK	1 mar 200 mil	0	0					181
-		-				_	_		
	COFFEE (no dearferated)	1 mgr 25k rd	0	0					
	ALL AND A DECK	ALGOLISTICS	100	10.00					
•	TEA (na hetal)	104725646	0	0					
ļ		ALC: NO.	112	11.7	1.00	100			and show
0	SUGAR (in the and collect	The or 1 cable	0	0					
ιđ	the second second second	dinaria	18.						175
12	DIET SOFT DRINKS	1 mgr 250 mi	0	0					
4	CRANCE & GRAPERIUT	Nog 13 m	0	0					in the
88	ATTE & OTAPE LICE	1755760	NOW	ELO[SOR	03910	0100	TRACE	STATUS IN
18	OTHER FRUIT AICES	Scar 15 et	0	0					
驟	COLORADO COLORADO	different of	99	193	1315	1885 C	100	CALL OF	MARGEN
	FRUIT DRINKS, ICED TEA	5 capi 175-at	0	0					
(E)	VEGTABLE JUNCES	Sep 12.	.01	0	7872	380	195-3	5000.0	State and
20	BEER or ALE	235 ed 1 holds	0	0					
1	WHITE WINE	184.74	0	0	202	80.1	19.00	DHAT	B START
12	RED WINE, SHERRY, PORT is the follet and	158-11-1 -1	0	0					
3	LUCIOR for surger, while a	4-415 e .	0	0	1000	15.2	10.920	5037	STAND.

Section A					Sector B YEAR BEFORE DIAGNOSIS				Seck	
	F000	Average Portion Portion Size, if NOT Size Average		NOT	HOW OFTEN? (Complete one column only)				If Ata Fr In Steam Only	
			Smaller	Lagar	13	-	-	RARELY IDARELY	N.	
-	Dairy Products									
.8	1250	Sec	24	1		1.4			1.0	
25	EGG (met scrantiset analiset	140	0	0					-	
10	A State of the second	the second second							30	
27	CHEESE Regular tol junti in chestia, Swite, promont)	1 ske 2 gile	0	0						
. 15	Concession of the local division of the loca	Contraction of the		3		1.00				
29	CHEESE, Uitra Light (He la	Take Xy'ta	0	0						
	Concernation of the local division of the lo									
31		184124	0	0						
-	or report	Concession of		-					-	
33	COFFEE WHITENER INF	184151	0	0						
-	NAME AND POST OFFICE ADDRESS OF	NAME OF TAXABLE	-		-	-	-	100	CONTRACT OF	
-	YOGURT, Light plan, less	Les Ine	0	0					1.1	
	THE REAL PROPERTY AND ADDRESS	The state of the s				-				
18	Contraction Participation					1.5			1	
37	YOGURT, Light (hut favoured or from, less than 2.4% fed	Singi 175 mi	0	0						
	Mixed Dishes									
	State of the local division of the	Sector M 8	884	2.1	100	日月日	100	22108	241.1	
19	SOUPS (non-presented)	1 cap/250 el	0	0						
ΠŔ	PEA BOLE STORE CON	1000	0.1	q	1223	PROVE I	Wesh	the second		
12	PASTA with read states (spagnet), languag	10g/281ml	0	0						
915	PASTA -D long along . 3	で現象		0	22.2	通行的	图例	\$R\$17	100	
0	MOFO DISHES with cheme in cheme (inscription) and cheme	1 say 250 mi	0	0						
•	PIZZA will case	-	10	σ.	127	1380	2177	100	2.4	
8	PIZZA we regulate uny	1 Weburt siks	0	0						

	Secto			YEA	Section (
	FOOD	Average Portion Size		Portion Size, if NOT		HOW OFTEN? (Complete one column only)			
			Snater	Larger	DAY Inter a	NEEK Inter a	MONTH (enter a number)	MEVER M RARELY Identi	Months per Year
先	and the second second	Sland of	1.5	17 int	LANEL		128.		Sille.
47	CHU with meat or Con Came	1 cup/250 mi	0	0					
	Vegetables								
2046	Statement and the statement	ALC: UNKNOWN	and the second	1000	TRACK!	COLUMN ST	NAC- ALC: N		-
43	FRENCH FRIES or FRIED POTATOES	1 cupr 250 mi	0	0					
瘤為		1 000/ 200-01			126		100		111
61	BROCCOU	1 cupr 250 H	0	0					
用約	Warner and worker and the	1995	11.1		静脉的		14910	1999	100
53	CAULIFLOWER	% cupit25 mi	0	0				1.1	
豐調 (5	PEAS or LIMA BEANS	N Digitized and	0	0	關於行動	Weit	BUILD BUILD	EPHONE I	開始開始
王 前 17	BEANS or LENTLS (based or bolied bears, iddrey bears, chickpes)	N capitis m Cooked	o	0	建 38	感引家	0.7.1%	院教会	
領法	and the second second second	State States	HANA	sk Bit	Real B	100565	its is the	625454	All she had
13120 14	GREEN SALAD (with Million)	1 cupi 250 ml	0	0	(Jan 194	101050	STAR S	829/49	10.70.01
繁裕 51	TOMATOES (hereit)	Treatment and the second	0	0	翻名法	新科教	161933	inna	新市市市市
8.	TOWATOES parent puters	N cop 125 m	.0		4.4	We go	to site	Malia	in Price
	OMONS (raw or cooked)	Seattled	0	0	1000				
	DESTE contest or passing	Inches'	.0	0	100				10 10 10
	TURNES & RUTABAGAS	36 cup/125 mi	0	0					
00	OTHER ROOT	% cup/125 el	0	0	-				
67	YELLOW SQUASH (wmar	25 rup/125 ml	0	0					

Section A				Section B YEAR BEFORE DIAGNOSIS			Section			
F000	Average Portion Size	Your Portion Size, if NOT Average		HOW OFTEN? (Complete one column only)				II Als Fec In Sesso Only		
		Snake		-	NUX INTER	allers States	NEVER W RANELY	Months per Year		
OL S RECEIPTING AND	Balanti Selli	3.3	20	Steel	14875	dista di	with a	infinite a		
EP GWEET PEPPER gran. mi	KogiQLei	0	0					-		
71 DEAN SPROUTS	A number of	0	0		14400	10000	S (A)			
TA AVOCADO LEN	No. of Concession, Name	0	0	1620	100			and a		
Maria and Fish	- Aug	8.4	31	THE.		23				
Walk and Pak	NIN OCO	8.0	8.1	292	- 163	1020	788	3381.3		
76 GROUND BEEF, Mature	1141m714	0	0					minume:		
		2.6		制限	新 注	品的	10 A	制制度		
TE ROAST BEEF	phote 3. medium	0	0							
N PORK CHOP	Cont and	0	0	K. (9)	85%	N7.5	0,1/5	對創作		
AT BANED HAM		0	0	di se	Mist	89-t	15-146	105.04		
W VEAL 414	201.25	9.5	0	E6 1	1.2.d	24	iv. 18	Man L.		
· LANG STATE STATE		0		12,0	100	10	12	1.50		
81 HOT DOG or WEINER (Drive Surginalis under New 118) 87 BAUENDE	1.000	0	0							
M COMED BEEF	1.000	0	0							
Nº COLDO/TE can seed	1 mil Ber Sty	0	0							
-	Sect	ion A			10		IO1 B	095	-Section (
-------	--	--	--------------	--------	--------------	--------------------	-------------	--------	----------------------------	--
	FOOD	Average Portion Size	Por Size,		(Cor		e column	only)	In Seesan Only criat	
			Smather	Larger	DAT DAT	WEEK	BORTH INTER	MEVER	Months per Year	
90	LMER	Hy)x	0	0				1.000		
19950	Contraction of the	ALC: NOTE: N	15		1					
92	CHICKEN/TURKEY	photo C, medium	0	0						
5										
94	SALTED/ DRIED MEAT	photo C, small	0	0						
1.00	20		10							
90	SHELLFISH annue stear, origi	IS g/2 st/ phase C, and	0	0						
10	FISH (saled at trated)	175 y 5 ml	0	0						
1000	NCR4000							-	1.00	
100	SMOKED FISH or LOX	M gr3 cs' phote C, unat	0	0		_				
-	ALCOLOGICAL ST				- Contractor	TOUR	100			
122	PICKLED FIBH	M-g/3 or/ phone C, small	0	0					-	
	States and states and	Marine .			reaso	-	100	OTORIA	20120241	
734	CANTRON MODE	phone C. small	0	0					Constant your	
10	and the second second	A STR	198 . 22	114.17	diam'r	SCORE .	ae.a	ulier.	No. ANICON	
	Careals and Grains			_						
1000	CONTRACTOR OF STREET	100	101.5		2184	8.1	100	1035		
107	WHOLE WHEAT CEREALS (such as shrelded	N cupt 125 mil 1 block	0	0						
1255	CORNER HOLE AND		10	12	582	MAN	187 - L	133	1.165	
109	HOT CEREALS for example.	N cupr 125 ml	õ	õ						
1	CEREALS		99	ng:	RON/	AND DESCRIPTION OF	HERE	制制	100	
111	OTHER BREAK/AST CEREALS	Kinar 128-ml	0	0						
112	SUGAR ON CEREAL	CMD: SEX	9	" C	100	1999	100.000	10000	Per 1 17.	

	Sect	ion A			YE		Ion B	osis	Section	
	FOOD	Average Portion Size	Po Size,	ntion If NOT If NOT	(Cor		e column		#Ate Fer In Seaso Only	
			Smathe	Larger	DAY DAY Instants	WEEK HERA	acter a	MEYER W RARELY (theo)	Months per Yea	
113	100% WHOLE GRAIN or DARK BREAD	1 siles	0	0				-		
116 116	WHITE BREAD	1 Mar	が開	0		AGER	常线	Barry Con	能 (物)	
117 117	WHOLE WHEAT ROLLS	1.4	0	0	1944	10-10	3864	1995	- Mario	
構設 119	BRANGAT MUFFIN	L manhan	0	0		WEB:		REO M	1993	
201 121	PANCARES, WATTLES		0	0	B HA	an a	建設		Silling	
編 編 12	RCE	Now coded	0	0	6 888	州份			ESPRE	
聯	Fruits	112703			認知。	2015	制作用	新印刷	States.	
福行	CITRUS FRUITS (marga	·西德前部	0	0	44/5455	B ahis	ise in the	R. 168	a lines in	
128	CAMES	Nog/ US ni		9	del to	10-H7	8963	2:48	etter (* 1938)	
30	PEADL PLUM	e de la composition de la comp	9	0	49.4	99	¢	1.3	ils ··· qu	
137	CANTRECUPE The	10 cr take	a	0	£		1	- e - 1		
132	HONEYDEW MELON	1 wedge 3" base 18 or 1 also	0	0						
	ромум	,	0	ō						
36	APPLESAUCE	1	0	0			· 1			

I

Secto	A 190	-		YE	Sec.	ION B	oss	Section
F000	Average Portion Size	Po Size,	tion # NOT	(Car	HOW 0	e column	only)	If Ato Foo In Seasor Only
		5-0-	Lager	-	-	-	RANELY	Month per Ye
State of the second	1000	101					1	-15.2
138 CANNED FRUIT	200.024	0	0					
STATEMENT OF STREET, STORE	1.00	100				100		21.0
Desserts and Sweets								
	1000	24	18 1		- 2	10	100	1
141 PIES and TARTS	Take	0	0					
and the state of the state	- letter (1.15		
143 COOKIES		0	0					
145 LIGHT of DET KEE OREAM	And State		0	80	1.60	1000	1915	SB
145 EGHT OF DIET ICE CHEAN	-		0		-	-		Contraction of the local division of the loc
142 CIET or LIGHT PLECING	Non-Game	0	0	208	199	1922	10075	1000
	and the s	-	1	1000	Deine 1	Rect	Brish.	162.68
149 POPSICLES FREEZIES	1 CONTRACT	0	0	10.04	and and	SB42E	Rest 21	002/02/200
*	INCRESS.	1. OK	200	85.65	REG	132.6	1245	BENKER
151 CANOY (when the late	1 carantel	0	0		10.00			
Miscellaneous 4		-			_	-	_	
IST TOPU TEMPEH	Torners.	0	0	1.35	horas 1	1.11	Sec	1. and the
153 RETCHUP	184	0	0					
MOP Repair to be seen	en a	0		1.14	19-1-1 1-1-1	des T	ê.g	
155 MAYONNAGE/ MIRACLE WHP LIGH increase value	104	0	0					
150 SALAD CRESSING,	-	0	0					
157 CIL (a country)	114	0	0					

I

	Section	n A			YE	Sec.	E DIAGN	osis	Section
	F000	Average Portion Size	Yo Por Siza, i Are	Sen I NOT	(Cor	only)	If Ate Foo In Season Only		
			Snake	Larger	131	1	BORTS (milers familiers	REVER TRARELY	enter Months Der Yea
	1								
158	MARCARINE in equation of	1941160	0	0					
284		and the second	100	100				-	
951	PEANUTS	29/14	0	0					
		1.1.1.1.1.1.1		12.2		1.2			
963	JAM, JELLY, HONEY, SYRUP, 412	184	0	0					
80	A			2.2		1.1	100	197	12
165	CHOCOLATE or STRAWBERRY SYRUP	184	0	0					
26	CONTRACTOR OF THE OWNER OF	10050	1.00	おい	205.0	1999年1	292	HOOR	LE FISHER
187	SAUCES while over Worked	Mini fari 284	0	0					
	WEAT BAN	100 100	0.9	0.0	1004-01	123	05.69	10.00	C Standy
180	WHEAT GEEN	184	0	0					

ı

1. About 1 year before diagnosis, how much of the visible fat on voor meet did you ear?	6 About 1 year before diagnosis, what type of oil did you use in other preparations (for example, in selied diresses)
O Most of #	
A O Some of it.	
3 O As little as possible	
+ O Do not eat ment	
2. About 1 year before diagnose, how often did you sat the plan or choken?	7 About 1 year before diagnosis, what type of live follow terms did you usually use? Please check one box per l
O Most of it.	Navonalas/Miracla Whip 7.10 #"
O Some of it.	Omader 20 MM 20 MM - Oma
1 O As ittle as possible	Crean chases (.5+7
-1 O Do not eat chicken	Oregular 20 kgH 30 both 4 O nore
 About 1 year before diagnosis, what kind of lat did you usually use for stripen laying? 	8. About 1 year before diagnosis, were you a (plotage city one box only)
O visatative of G4515	O Non-regelarian (sets all med, chicker, four)
O Viegetable shortening Subtrant Stra	2 O Party non-uncelarian lasts dishan hith on me
O Last auto for a conf 5 ft	O Vegan jeals no dairy, no eggs, no meal)
Other Set	- O Lado-vegetarian (w/s dairy, no eggs, no maac)
1. O Marganine Trefrene 613	C O Lacto evo vegetarian (sets dary & epps, no max
O Do not add by or of "2he t \$1.5	
O Other, please specify 547 (# 547	
 About 1 peak before diagnosis, what kind of fat did you usually use for deep frame? 	8 About 1 year before diagnosis, were you on a special dat?
O viewfathe of	0 0 No / O Yes
O Vegetable shortening	
O Land pork fail	If yes, what type of dec? (2.5.5.1.1.2.1.2.1.2.1.2.1.2.1.2.1.2.1.2.
O Butter	O To lose Weight O To lower cholestercl
O Margarine	O Dubetes O Heart disease
O Do not thy	O Hyperfersion O Dashto uker O Brassi dasasa O Line M
O Other, please specify	O Bowei disease O Low Mi
5 About 1 year before diagnose, what kind of fat did you see for baking? 15	O Other type:
O Butter	If yes, how long were you on the special dief?
O Margarine	- free of a set for a set of a
O Vegetable Oil	
O Vegetable shortening	
O Lave post fat	
O Do not have	

...

PART 2 - USE OF VITAMINS AND DIETARY SUPPLEMENTS

Now we would like to know about your use of vitamins and dietary supplements. <u>ABOUT ONE VEAR DEFORE CARCENDER</u>, did you take any of the following? If Yes, then seen'ty value lorand and amount and how incen you know them.

-	min C ,	Vilamin a	nd Amount	- fusel, •		How many pills did you take per week?	How forso had you taken them?
	O None	O Below 500	O 505-1000	O above 1300	~*	05	24
		at include mineral				(T)	
		O Yes: / Fyes, u	nual brand		-		
		o minerala					
		O Yes If yes. u	eual brand		_	···	
	empires vites						
183	O No	O Yes If yes, u	sual brand		-		
in th	e follows	ng items, DO NO	T INCLUDE	se of the abov	· MU	TIVITAMINS	
Viter	- X A -						
	O None	O Below 10000	O 10005-1508	0 O above 15000	N	14	nom.
Viter	10 C / a					weet	
	Otione	O Below 500	O 506-1900	O above 1000			north
Viter	in E /j						
	O None	O Beiow 400	O 430-800	O above 800	RJ	1m	mythe
Beta	carotene /						
	O None	C Beiow 10000	O 10080-15000	O above 15000	N		northe
Febr	acid /2				- 1		_
	O None	O Below 1.0	O10mg	O above 1.0	-12		nonthe
	11 10						
	O None	O Below 250	O 250-500	O above 500			northe
iron i					-		
	O None	O Below 100	O 105-200	O above 200	~ 1	pw.	more
Oter	distary su	yelements (e.g., ye Yes, specify type	ant, cod liver oil	(which			-
		the story of a			- 1	week	
					- 1		





THANK YOU VERY MUCH for your assistance in this research!

outry er		
Interviewer:	A CONTRACTOR OF	
Date comple	ted (D/M/Y):	

Appendix C. Food frequency questionnaire used in Ontario



These constant	-				-				
please til in the c								ARS AG	C For each lood greep, a about 2 years ago and
Most categories Remo. Some et? Rem.	s includ	o esam ds are s	ples. Tr fao list	ey are et. If yo	only su nu don't	ggestio recogn	ns, and ize the	yeu me neme, ye	y not eat all of the listed u probably don't eat that
For each item, dinners, bazen	please entrees	include vegeta	any fra	ah, tra aide di	ter, car		nd paice	laged for	oda you ale, such as TV
		en or i	-			than o	10.100	in dates	I in the circle in the first
For some categ serving size. Ple	parties, p nase not	ictures in that "	of food I cup" r	en a di elera to	nser på Lan B-ce	ite are i ince (24	nclude I0 mil.) r	t to help neasuring	yeu eatimate your usual g oup.
For EACH FOOD GROU	IP, 191 In	the cho	10 0 1	tut bee	a desar	bes HO	W OFT	IN YOU IN	n Dass lieros ABCV7 2
YEARS 400. Then III I	s the co	cle ())	ful bee	t desce	tes yr	IF USUA	LSER	ING SKE	
			RACE	USE AE	OUT 2	EARS.	00		
SOUPS, RAMON, AND JOCK	Heney Of Nardly Ever	once a menti	210.2 from 1 minth	Once 3 MINU	Z hu S times A week	4 to 6 times a wook	ores a day	2 or many firmes a dag	YOUR USUAL SERVING SIZE
Cream Soup or Chowder									CHOOSE CHE
									C Small bowl (about 1 cup) C C Large bowl (2 cups or most
Orled Bean or Pea (Legame) Seap (Utich at Portagante bean, soft pea)									CHOOSE ONE 1/2 big or lives OR Small bowl (about 1 page 0
Tamata or Venetable				1959	10.015	1-222	37/85	0.000	Charge bowl (2 cape or mon CHOOSE ONE
Soup they include mest, positry or their									1.2 rup or less OR Off Small bowl (about 1 sup) C Large bowl (2 sups or mon
Wise Soup									CHOOSE ONE 12 top or less Off 3mill bowl (about 1 cup) C Large bowl @ cups or more
Broth with Noodlea or Nibe (such as beef roodle or chicken toel						0			CHOOSE ONE U 12 top or less OR U Small bowl (about 1 cool 0
Mexican Meat Soup or Deev Jauch as menuta, alternings, cocida, recording			0	0		0		0	Clarge bool (2 cops or mov CHOOSE ONE 17 cop or less CR
Orientel Noodine with			10000					-	Charge bowl (2 cups or mer
Brath (such as saines, tames, won ton main-pr tong main)					0		0		Strait bow (allow 1 copt 0 Large bow (2 cops or new
June 1									CHOOSE CHI



Ē				90	- Story				Ś
^		AT	RAGE	USEAR	B	TARS	100		C
MOLED DISHES	Menor or hardly root	Ores 3 manih	2 to 3 times a month	Once #	2 to 5 times a week	4 12 6 firmers 3 10008	Circo a this	2 or more Briess a	YOUR USUAL SERVING SAZE
Stit-Fried East or Purk and Vegetables, or Pajkas (much as berd traccoll, pork take, child tury, tudgets)								0	CHOOSE ONE Preto A (1/2 may or less) OF Preto B (seevel 1 may OF)
Stir-Fried Chicken and Vegetables, or Fajles (1965) as calryde, replese (1966) fan calryde, replese (1966) fan jing (1961)									CHOOSE CME Photo A 11 (2 cups or here) Photo A 11 (2 cup or here) CM Photo B selecut 1 cup; CM Photo C (2 cups or here)
Stiv-Pried Sincings or Flain and Vegetables									CHIDOBE ONE Proto A 11 2 sup or least O Proto 81 about 1 sup OR Proto 0 2 bouts or most
Stix Prind Vegetables (Ne Neut)									CHOOSE ONE Proto A 112 map or lesso O Proto Brithhout 1 map OP Proto Brithhout 1 map OP
Park and Greens or Leuleus									CHOOSE CHE Plots A (12 cap or less) OI Plots B or 1 laulau OR Plots C or 2 laulau or was
Chill									CHOOSE CHE St2 cup or heat OR Small bank (1 cup) OR Large bank (2 cups or manic
Hamburgers (on a bur)									CHOOSE CHE 1 regular eice burger Off 1 guster pound burger Off 1 istor double burger
Chreathurgers (en a bur)									CHOOSE OAE Trigular size burger OR Toporter pound burger OR Targer resulte burger
Meat Load, Meathatis, or Patties (not fast-food hamburgers)									CHOOSE ONE 1 to 2 monitority ON 1 party or shoe or 3 monitority ON 1 party or shoe or 3 monitority ON
Para									CROOSE ONE 1 price or shore or less OR 2 to 3 prices OR 4 prices or news



	P			-	11				STA
Α					в			_	с
POLATEY AND FISH		AVI	ERAGE	USE AE	OUT 2	EARS	100		
INOT PART OF MIXED DISHES	Heres Br hardly cres	Croce a manth	2 to 2 times a match	Cruce B Netter	Z to 3 times a much	A bu di tomas A weak	Once day	2 or mare trace a des	YOUR USUAL SERVING SIZE
Prind Orloken. (ruludes kind chicken sandhrich; ruggets)									CHOOSE CHE Photo A for 1 deursation OR Photo B for 1 deursation OR 2 ettigs, or 1 services(OR 2 ettigs, or 1 services(OR 0 Photo 1 or 2 tesants or 4 tigs
Roasted, Baked, Grilled an Strend Chicken Includes griled (Felices sandwich)									CHOOSE ONE Photo A sid 1 domestick) OR Photo B sid 1 keesed, 2 theylor Photo B sid 1 keesed, 2 theylor Photo S strandwords OR Photo S dir 2 keesed, or 4 they
Turkey cincludes noast, pround, deb style, or sandwicks									CHOOSE ONE O Photo A (1 surves or less) 0 Photo B (3 surves) 08 O Photo C (5 surves or mean
Fried Shrings or Other Shellish circlades temporal feed celeman or space)									GHOOSE DIVE 1 to 3 terms Off 4 to 5 terms or 100 tog Off 6 terms or more
Cooked, Conned, or Real Shellitah Inich an Only, squid, shrings									CHOOSE CHE 5-6 shrings or 3.1 cup CH 1 cub or 1.2 cup CH 1 tuber of 1.2 cup CH
Fried Flab. Includes pan tried type transmitter tandwikter									CHOOSE CHE Press & about 1 curso)-DB Press & about 1 curso)-DB Press & d au or 1 curson DB
Baked, Drobed, Dobed an Rew Flah Inoch sa red anopper, salmon, saahurat									CHOOSE CHE Prote A (about 1 sunce) C Prote 8 (3 sunce) OR Prote 2 (5 sunces) or rear
Canned Tunatids (plain, sulast, or sandwich)									CHOOSE CAE 14 cup or 1/2 sandaich O 1/2 cup or 1 sandaich OR 1 cup or 2 sandaichea
Other Cansed Fish (such an salition, stackarel, sardinec)									CHOOSE ONE 5 Sector Sectors or 14 aug 0 10 rap feb of 1 ma feb or mag
Salled and Dried Fish much as ice, cutterios, mice									CHOOSE ONE T shoe or ship or pixos OF 2 shoes OF A shoes or more

PROCESSED MEATS		AVE	ERAGE	USE AB	OUT 2 Y	EARS A	460		
AND MEXICAN DISHES	Hever Handly Handly	Croce #	2 in 2 times a manifi	Once a NOSE	2 to 3 lines a mink	A SL-D times a week	once int	2 m nors times a data	YOUR USUAL SERVING SIZE
flacon Includes Canadian baconj									CHOORE ONE 1 Slick or strip or piece ON 2 Slices OR 3 Slices or man
Ingular Hel Gings Sold or parts									CHOOSE ONE 112 hot dag ON 1 hat dag ON
Shicken or Yarkey Net Dogs or Luncheon Asars									CHOOSE GNE
oern, Dolegna, Salami, Intrami or Other Incheon Meste									CHOOSE ONE CHOOSE ONE 1 short 1 some ar less) OF 2 short OF
existinge with all park, basil within, Pollah, Varvia, orkupuese, hot linkaj									CHCODE OVE 1 pace or tra OF 2 d paces or tra OF 2 d paces or tras or 1 path OF 4 paces or tras or news
cos, Testadas, tiopes. "Neco Salad ith buer or pork;									CHEOSE CHE 1 them of loss OH 2 thems Of 1 thems OH
roa, Tautadaa, Bapea, Taco Sulud Ith chickari(CHOODIAL Creet
not Barritan Includes beer and bean int other combinations)									CHEOSE CHE 1 fait-fait funite OR 1 medium bunite OR 1 medium bunite OR
opetable or Bean protos, Secos, or minidas (no minis)									CHOODEE CABL 1 Rem pr less CAR 2 Anna CAR 3 Rema CAR
nchilladaa with Chicken									CHOOSE ONE 1 Instituted or Isso Dill 2 Instituteda DII 2 Instituteda DII 3 Instituteda III
schiladas with Reef									CHOOSE ONE 1 antifikata or ress DR 2 antifikatas DR 3 antifikatas DR
schiladas with Choese, uesadillus, or Hachus Ith Choese									CHOOSE ONE Territols in unal question de 2 embrados or 1 serving radius D 2 embrados
makes									CHOOSE ONE 10 tamate or loss OR 11 tamate OR 2 tamate or more
uli Relenas									CHOOSE CIVE 12 chill relience or loss CRI 1 chill relience CRI 2 chill relience CRI

		AVI	PAGE	USE AB	OUT 2	EARS.	1.60		
RICE, POTATOES, TARD, AND POI	Hever or hardy own	once necti	219.3 Kraes 4 mercit	Ores s meck	2 lo 3 times a mask	A to 6 These wash	once dey	2 or more times a des	YOUR USUAL SERVING SIZE
White Rise (Indiades thus.br)									CHECKING CHEI CHECKING CHEI CHECKI
Sanhi or Banacuani									CHOCGE CME 17 pices or enal case de 34 pices or tage case or to cap del 160001 or tage more
Brown or Wild Rice									CHOOSE ONE C 100 C 10 C 10 C 10 C 10 C 10 C 10 C 1
Wexicon or Spanish Rice									CHOOSE ONE 52 cap or less OR 1 cap OR 2 cash or more
Fried Rice									CHOOSE CHE 52 cut or less OR 1 cup OB 2 cup or more
French-Fried, Math-Browned ar other Fried Polatoes									CHOOSE CARE Sol Not Small only or 1 rup DB. Sol Not medium order DB. Institute angle only or more
Meshed, Scalioped or Av Gratin Potatoes									CHOOSE CHE 12 (kp) tr 1 scrop or less OF 1 0 of tr 2 scorps OR 2 dups or more
Baked or Bollad White Petitices									CHOOSE CHE Tahalah 12 melum seles OR Timidan (about 5 inches) DR Timidan (about 5 inches) DR
Tellow-Onango Swaet Palaises or Tama									CHOOSE CHE I small or 10 medium srives CH I medium (stour 5 inches) CH I medium (stour 5 inches) CH
White or Purple Dweet Potations									CHOOSE ONE 1 small or 12 matum or less DR 1 medum jabout 5 inches) OR 1 hinde paties or mane
fare									CHOOSE ONE CHUCKE ONE
Ni									CHOOSE ONE 114 cup or less OR 112 cup OR

For EACH FOOD ORIGIN, 51 in the circle ______That best describes HOW OFTEN you also those items ABOUT 2 XEASS AGO. Then 53 in the circle ______That best describes your USUAL SERVING 825.

1				1	8A.				
0))		¢	Ì
		410	FRACE	-	B	TADS	100		c
SALAD ITEMS, EGGS, AND OTHER NON-MEAT ITEMS	100	0 ncm * 10 million	1103	0-1:0 *	2 to 2 titues at	111	0100 	200	C YOUR USUAL SERVING SIZE
Light Green Lettice or Toxeed Salad Ituch as Collery or head witcor)									CHOOSE ONE Officite A (1/2 cup or less) OR Proto B (stood 1 cup) OR Proto C (1-1/2 cups or more)
Derk Green Lettuce Such an romanie, ted. Inifier, mantis, ordiuor									CHOOSE ONE Proto A (1/2 cup or lines) OR Proto B (about 1 cup) OR Proto C (1/1/2 cups or movel
Tomatoes									CHOOSE CIVE C 2 situat iz wetges of 2 dway tomatoes or less OR C 4 situat or 100 meture tomato OR
Coleslaw									CHOOSE ONE CHOOSE ONE 114 cap-st loss OR 112 cap-on
.dw-Calierie or Diet besslings Added to lateds									CHOOSE ONE CHOOSE ONE C1 Tablespoor OR C1 Tablespoor OR C1 Tablespoor OR
Regular Selad Drossings e Maysmonise Added to Jalads									CHOOSE ONE CHOOSE ONE C2 Inspectro 5' less Off C1 Tablespectro 08 C2 Tablespectro 08
logis, Cooked or Row recluder egg saled									CHOOSE ONE 12 egg OR 1 egg or 1 sårebeigt OR
Ma. Plain or in Salada Implementation									CROOSE ONE CROOSE ONE Cables of 14 cap DR 14 block or 12 cap DR 10 block or more
View Tarlu Auch as has for pok, plain + stuffed)									CHOOSE CHE C12 cup CR
egetarian Meut Lout. Realballs or Paties									CHOOSE CHE CHOOSE che Che Choose che Choose

1	A			6	1			ŧ	
	7			V		V		1	
RAW OR COOKED			RACE						
VEGETABLES (NOT IN SOUPS OR MORED DISHES)		0100 *	21023 60400 8	0-10 *	-		0xca # 180	2 m 1000 0 600	YOUR USUAL SERVING SIZE
Braccosi (the or unched)									CHOOSE ONE Phote A (14 cap or lead) Phote B labout 12 cap 0 Phote C (1 cap or lead)
California Costh as head. Chinese or Nopa cabitege. Brusses seroute:									CHODGE DNE Photo A (14 cup to less) Photo E (about 12 cup) 0 Photo C (1 cup to react)
Bark Learly Graena (North as spinacit, colland, mostard of turning greens, bok chey, watercreas, chard)									CHOOSE ONE Prote A 118 cap or kinal Prote B paced 12 cap 0 Prote C (1 cap or cost)
Green Beans or Pass									CHOOSE ONE Prote A (14 cup or less) Prote B shout 1/2 cup (1 Prote C (1 cup or receil
Other drown tegetables thath as isostres, ontery, asparagus, grown pegger, skisj									CHEODSE DIVE
Casillawar									CHOOSE ONE Preto A (14 cup or less) Preto B jabout 1/2 cup of Preto C (1 cup or more)
Carrols prev or coshact									CHOOSE ONE Proce A or 45 store or less Proce 8 of 2 out-or mode Proce 8 of 2 out-or mode
Core (Treph. Notion, or canned)									CHOOSE ONE Phote:A (1 4 cop. or lens) E Phote:B (12 cop. or 1 cot) (Phote:C (1 cop. or more)
Pumphin or Yellow Grange Winter Squateh									CHOOSE CHE Photo & (114 cap or test) I Photo 6 cabeut 12 cap C Photo 6 cabeut 12 cap C
Other Vegetables (Such as while or summer squark), bests, oppsant)									CHOOLE CAR Photo & (14 cap or level) Photo 8 latered 12 cap (Photo 5 (1 cap or rema)

	AVERAGE USE ABOUT 2 YEARS AGO										
ORIED BEANS (NOT IN SOUPS OR MIXED DISHES)	Never 2 Tanto 2 San	01cm	210-2 00000 00000	-	216.3 0000	110.5 10140 *	Create All a	207	YOUR USUAL SERVING SIZE		
Rollind Bears (1911 In Durrillis of Exclusion)								0	CHOOLE ONE Photo A (14 sup or less) OF Photo B (strend 12 sup) OR		
Baked Beans or Pork and Beans								0	Photo C (1 sup or more) CHCASE Cree Photo A (14 sup or less) CM Photo B patient 312 sup) CM Photo D (15 sup) or less)		
Rolled Dried Beats or Heat Such as red, link, pris or try bears, black-syst pean. Splies de la alle:							0	0	OHDOTAL CARE Prote A (14 cup or less) DR Prote B Jahout 12 cup) OR Phote D (1 cup or more)		
			IRAGE		00721	CARS .	100				
FRUITS AND JUICES	Rever at Tardy ever	0148 *	2 to 2 10 to 2 10 to 2	Orea #	-	-	0mm # 000	2 m 1000	VOUR USUAL SERVING SIZE		
Granges								0	CHOODER ONE O 10 program 12 page or loss Off 1 program 11 page Of Program 11 page Off Program 11 page Off		
Tangerinas or Mandarin Oranges									C 1 tangentres at 12 cap activas DR C 2 tangentres at 1 cap DR C 2 tangentres at 1 cap DR		
Grapefruit or Parmata									CHOOSE ONE 14 days or less OR 10 grapehall or 19 day OR 1 bag or more		
Papeya									CHOOSE ONE 1.12 pagenys or less OR 1.2 pagenys OR 1.2 pagenys OR		
Perseptie Mach of Spread)									CHOOSE ONE 1 Sick of wedge of lass OR 10 cap of 2 sicks of wedges OF 1 cub of news		
Peaches Peach, canned, or cheely							0	0	CHOOSE ONE 12 years or law OR 13 years or 2 minut of 12 cap DR 2 method of 2 minut or 12 cap DR		
Apricess Presh, canned, or drived									CHEOREE CHE 1 aprilot in Texa OR 2 aprilots or 1/2 cup OR 1 aprilots or more		
Nears Nebh, canned, or draid)								0	CHOOSE ONE 0 12 pair of 12 cup OR 0 1 pair of 12 cup OR		

		AV.	ERAGE	USE AI	OUT 2	TEARS	A90		
FRUITS AND JUICES (continued)	Never Gr Fandly Ever	Once B Bailth	211-2 times a month	Croce a xxxh	2 to 2 times # W255	4 to 5 Differs # Hendik	Dince # SBU	2 or more times a fity	YOUR USUAL SERVING SIZE
Apples and Applesauce									CHOOSE ONE 1.2 apple ar 12 cup OR 1 apple or 1 cup OR
Baranas									CHOOSE OVE CHOOSE OVE 17 formana OF 1 bonana OF 2 bonana or more
Cantallupe (In season)									CHOOSE Cree 114 Contrationate or less OR 12 Contrationate OR 13 Contrationate or less
Watersteige In exagere									CHOOSE CHE 1 quarter shoe or 1.2 sup C 1 talf shoe or 1 sup CH 1 whole shoe or 1 sup CH
Mangoes (n season)									CHOOSE CHE 102 mp share Off 1 mediani or Prov or 1 mp 1 1 large or Happen or news
Anocados and Duscamolo									CHOOSE CHE 2 shows or 2 hitsheptons C 14 aviolatio or 13 cap OR 10 aviolatio or 13 cap or re-
Any Other Fruit (1990), canned, or drivid									CHOOSE ONE 112 DUD OF HISS DRY 115 DUD OF HISS DRY 115 DUD OF HISS DRY 2 Hubs or HISP
Orange or Grapethuit Julice Oral orange donks or Orange social									CHOOSE ONE Chinal jace glass (1.2 cup) C Leop glass (3 cunces) CH 12 cuposes an ar mess
Tamata or V-6 Julce									Orrose creat
Other Fruit Julces at Fruit Drinks									CHOOSE can briefs CHOOSE CHE Dentification place (1.2 cup) C Large gloss sit curross) CR 12-curce can brimose
		AVE	RAGE	755 A.9		EARS /	00		
BREAD ITEMS	Hever or hardy ever	-	210.3 times a month	Once #	2 to 3 United a	A to 6 times #	Ores a day	1 or more firmes a dep	YOUR USUAL SERVING SIZE
White Bread includer condexch, French, seurdough, pan duloe, Potuguece rawer bread						0		0	CHOOSE CHE C 5 shoe or less Off 2 shoes Off 1 shoes or some

	AIT	RAGE	ISE AB	OUT 21	EARS.	00		
entEAD (TEMS (continued)	 -	2 10 2 5000 2 00000	-	210-3 55mm *	-	0100 # 882	2 H 1000	YOUR USUAL SERVING SIZE
Whole Wheat or Hye Invad Includes pumpeniated, whole wheat pita (read)								CHOOSE CIVE 1 show or less OR 2 shows OR 3 stress OR
Other Bread Noch as mixed grain, gat Iran, ratein bread)								CHOCKE CHEI 1 size or less Off 2 sizes Off 3 sizes or more
Rolls, Burrs, Bisculta, or Rear Tortillas Includes hopels, English rollice)								CHOOSE ONE 1 Imm or less OR 2 Imms or 1 Taget or English multi-OR 3 Imms or one
Com Tartillas								CHOOSE ONE 1 Susta OR 2 Sustan DR 2 Sustan DR
Corn Martins, Combread, or Combread Stuffing								CHOOSE ONE 1 piece continued or 1/2 ou multing OR 1 multin or 1 oup stuffing OR 2 multim or 2 pieces combined or more
Sren, Blueberry or Other Buffins, Danana or Rengo Bread								CHOOSE CHE 1 regular multin or 1 date OF 1 large multin ar 2 dates OF 2 multins or 2 dates or man
Swoet Rolls, Croissants, Soughnuts, Daniah Peolity, or Coffee Cake								CHOOSE ONE 1 term or less OR 2 terms OR 3 terms OR
Incolve, Watties, or Vench Tossit								CHOCHE CHE
Regarine Added to Bread								D 3 terms of moxe CHOOSE CHE
Author Added to Broad								CHOOSE CHE
Inamul Butter Added to Inread Berry								CHOOSE ONE Served Inc. Served Inc. DR
are or Jelly Added to lead terms								CHOOSE ONE
Aryonnaise in andwiches								CHOOSE ONE or spread this OR or spread thick

BREAKFAST		A11	BRAGE	USE AE	OUT 21	CARS .	100		
BREAKPAST CEREALS, MEX, AND CHEESE	Hener St Jacoby EVER	onue sente	2 to 3 times a month	Once a mask	2 to 3 these A Real	4 to 0 tirees a ment	Onee # 1900	2 or more times a title	YOUR USUAL SERVING SIZE
Highly Fortilied Cereals (such as Product 15, Total, Most)									CHOOSE ONE 12 Dup or less DR 1 Dup or less DR 1 Dup or individual box DR 1-12 Dups or more
Bran er High Fiber Cereals									CHOOSE ONE 1 0.00 or lines DH 1 0.00 or lines DH 1 0.00 or lines DH 1 1/12 cp0 or move
Other Cold Cercels (Nuch as corrected) Cheerics, granetal									CHOOSE ONE 12 cap or less OR 1 cap or individual best OR 1-12 caps or more
Cooked Cereally (Such as calmoni, pream of wheel, core grac)									CHOOSE DIVE 12 cap or less DR 10 pp or finish DR 1-12 cap or more
Nonfat or Skim Milk or Butsensik (38 Severage or added to oneal)									CHOOSE CIVE 12 Cup or less CRI 1 Cup or half girl carter Off
Lowfat Milk (1% er 2%) can beverage or added to overal - includes factual and acidophilus milk)									CHOOSE CHE CHOOSE CHOOSE CHE CHOOSE CHE
Whale Milk (A beverage or added to carea)									CHOOSE CHE 0 12 cup or twee OR 1 cup or helf-pint center OF
Nagurt Includes lowfat and contait									CHOOSE ONE CHOOSE ONE 12 top of 44 cc. cartin C 1 cop of 8 cc. cartin CR
Chocelara Milk, Cocca, ar Oxalitre									CHOOSE DAE CHOOSE DAE 12 CLP OF INS. CR
Mikubakos or Mello									CHOOSE ONE CHOOSE ONE 12 milichaire or mail OR 1 milichaire or mail (12 az.) C
Cottogo Cheese Includes temera and Rota cheese)									CHOOSE ONE CHOOSE ONE C 14 cap or less OR 12 cap or 1 scosp OR
Lewist Cheese (Soch as Iswist American, Iswist Swiss, recoonding									CHOOSE ONE 12 silve ON 13 silve ON 2 silves I2 ounces) ON 2 silves I2 ounces) or more
Other Choose Issoft as American, cheidar, ontam cheose)								0	CHOOSE CHE 12 silves (2 surveys) or more CHOOSE CHE 12 silves (1 Tablespoon C 1 silves (1 survey) OR 2 silves (2 surveys) or more

		AVI	ERAGE	35E AD	OUT 21	EARS	100		
DEBSERTS AND SNACKS	Never Gi handip aver	Once a Inset0	2 to 3 times a month	Croce a xeeh	2 in 3 titans a 3995	d to 6 Drives a meet	Once # Sky	2 or more titles a filly	YOUR USUAL SERVING 8/28
									CHOOSE ONE
Ice Cream									1 Microso (110) ougle en Nees CM 2 Microso (110) ougle en Nees CM 2 Microso (110) ougle en 1 ben CM 5 Mic 4 Microso (110) on mone
ice Milk, Frozen Rogwit, or Sherbet									CHOOSE ONE 1 Sound (1 2 cop) or less OR 2 Sounds (1 cop) or 1 bar OR 3 to 4 sounds (1 pint) or more
Cookies, Brawnies, or Fruit Dars									CHOOSE ONE 1.5.2 annuge size stokes OR 3.5.4 annuge of 1 stokes OR obsets of 1 browns in hist bit OR
Cake									2 Jarge Horket or boardies of more CHROOSE CALE 1 Shall prever propose CBI 1 Average growers (TR2 of colles) CBI 2 Average growers (TR2 of colles) CBI 2 Dates, or more
Apple or Other Fruit Res. Tarts. Cabblers. or Furnosers									CHOOSE ONE CHOOSE ONE 1 small pice OR 1 pice (1.6 pic) or 1 mm OR 10 pice or more
Pumpilin, Sweet Polato, or Carnol Pies									CHOOSE ONE 1 small piece OR 1 average piece (16 pie) OR 1 average piece (16 pie) OR
Creat or Quatant Pas									CHOOSE ONE
fallairs, or Cream Putts									1 small piece OB 1 average piece or 1 text OR 14 pie or more
Puddings ar Custants includes flan)									CHOOSE CHE 1 smach size or 12 cup OR 2 smach size or 1 cup OR 3 smach size or 1 12 cups
									CHOOSE CHE
Chocolate Canyly									1 to 3 pects OR 1 regular size bar OR 1 giant size bar or more
Om Sum, soch as Bao in Manapua Chinnon bun with meal ind vegetabler.)									CHOOSE CHE Child State or less Off 1 bas Off Child State or new
Other Dim Sum									CHOOSE CHE
ee, hied won ton, eggistip									O 3 to 4 pieces OR O 5 pieces or more
Preckers and Pretaels such as social graham, appress rice ctuckers, rheat thire)									CHOOSE ONE + In 5 mol in Targe cacker BR - Ere III mol in 7 large cacker BR - Ere III mol in 7 large cacker BR - Ereze cackers in more
Neervots or Other Nuts									CHOOSE ONE 12 Julis of less OR 14 July OR



			ANERA	ICRE USE	ADOUT	2 YEA	RSAGO					
OTHER BEVERAGES	Herand ST Naridly EVEr	once a manth	2 to 3 times s	Once B MINE	23+3 times a wash	4 in 6 times # week	Once a day	210-3 0000	4 cr more times a time	WHL	SUALL ADD?	x x
Cappuscina - 1 cup or mug includes call as last, callo inter, call cus sedar									0	OBep	ALL TH	AT APPLY
Regular Callee - 1 cap or mug (treved or instant)								0		O Deli O Mili O Non O Sug	ALL THE	ile.
Decaffairstad ("Decaff) Colfse - 1 cup or mug (traved or instant)										O Creat O Min O Non	ALL TH	AT APPLY
Black Tea - 1 top or glass Institute Liphons, solarg, and teap										MAFK O Des O Mik O Non O Rep	ALL THE	AT APPLY
Inner Tea - I cap									0			
Portified Dist Browages - I glass or can much as Similard												
						٨	VERAD	E USE A	BOUT 2	TEARS	100	
HOW OFTEN DID YOU TEMS?	LEAT	HE FOL	OWING	2	Never of Fairby Ever	One B mont		17		4 to 8 times 2 meth	Druge Billing	2 cr mone Enten a Etty
Ainsiem Pickles or Relia	da (est)											
Olivea					0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Solaa or Hot Chill Puppe	en (red a	(preus)					0	0	0			
Into								0				
					0	0	0	0	0	0		
Primes .	tel Soliet er Pickled Negetables as salvd caldage or lealy greens, takwaan, kim steep											
Mandal Galleri or Public	d Regata											
Mandal Galleri or Public	heaty gro						0					

HOW OFTEN DID YOU ADD THE FOLLOW	ANG ITEMS	New	AV/		USE AL			AGO Care	200	
TO TOOR FOODS AT THE TABLE		of handly ever	month	a a mini		a mont	a meet	-	nco fines Site	
Set										
Shoyu (Say Saace) or Teriyaki Sauce										
Mustard	Mustard									
Cattop										
Sour Cream										
HOW OFTEN DID YOU EAT RED MEAT TH BEEN MARINETED IN	SAT HAD	Heust Of Northy ever	our 1 canh	2 in 3 firmen a	Coce a mode	2 to 2 times a	A TAL P TOTALS A WOOD	ores a day	2 m 1000 1000 100	
Detecue Sauce										
Teriyaki Sauce or Bhoys (Sey Sauce)										
HOW OFTEN DID YOU EAT CHICKEN THE BEEN MARINATED IN	Alboar Or Teacting Exter	Once a month	2 to 2 50455	Cheve witten	2 to 3 formers a work	4 10 8 Bimes B BOOK	Coce 2 day	2 04 1000 1000		
Fectorco Gauca										
Terlyski Sauce at Shops (Sey Seace)										
			AVE	RAGE	USE AD	OUT 2 1	EARS	100		
HOW OFTEN DID YOU EAT MEAT, CHICKE FISH COOKED WITH,	DN, OR	Arver ci handly and	Disce a month	2 N 2 times #	Gran J Meets	2103 firmes a meek	4 to 4 times a monte	Croce a Gag	1 or more times	
Vegetable Oil										
Solt Fork, Land, or Basser Fat										
Vegetable Shortwring (skel) as Crisco)										
Margarine										
Dutar										
ANSWER THE FOLLOWING FOR THE	TIME PERM	0 ABC	UT 2 Y	EARS	AGO:					
	WHEN YOU DID YOU EX Meet of Some 0 Niner o Don't w	THE Fo	NT)		NINEX YOU ATE CHICKEN, DID YOU EAT THE SKINE Must if the time State of the time Nexw of handly war Dot out failing war					
Propular Stock OR Ore or Spread OR	T KIND OF 8 ALLY USE? Regular OF Whipped O Contrace to Don't know	1R NDM			WHAT KIND OF VEGETABLE OIL DE YOU USUALLY USE? (mark only one) Displayers at one al OR Oilve of OR Garda of OR Any other oil Dent to one of the other one				L DID one)	

				BACE								
COOKING METHOD	FOOD	Nexar or hardly over	Ones B month	2 to 3 times Banth	Once #	2 to 3 times #858	A lo f Smes B BOOK	Ones dey	2 cr more times s day	HOW BROWN WAS THE OUTSIDE?		
PAN-FRED	Boel Steak									ight brown medium brown		
pre-heated trying pan or priddle1	Hamburger (Not Fast Faod)								0	 light brown medium brown dark brown 		
	Chicken									C light brown C medium brown		
	Gausage						0		0) light brown) medium brown) dark brown		
	Spam ar Ham									O figti brown O medium brown O dark brown		
	Bicon							0	0) light brown) medium brown) dark brown		
Ļ	Fish									C fight brown C medure between C dark brown		
VEN-BROILED	Beef Steak							0		 ight brown medium brown dark brown 		
"broll" setting)	Hamburger (Not Fast Food)									C light brown		
	Shortribs or Spareribs									C light brown C medium brown C dark brown		
	Chicken									Digit brown Predum brown Bark brown		
Ļ	Film						0	0	0	O light brown O medium brown O dark brown		
GRILLED OR BARBECUED	Beef Steak									O light brown O medium brown O deni brown		
cooked over charcoal or on an electric or	Hamburger (Not Past Food)								0	O light brown O modium brown O dark brown		
gan grif)	Short-Ibs er Opereriks						0	0		C light brown C medium brown C dark brown		
	Chickan					0	0	0	0	C light brown medium brown don teown		
	Seusope			0		0				O light brown O medium brown O dark prown		
1	Pish									O light brown O medium brown O dark brown		

DID YOU TAKE	NY OF THE PC	LLOWING HULTM	TAMINS	OF MULTIVITAME	IS WITH MINERALS ABOUT 2
YEARS AGO (#	least once a w			ARE N.T.	IF YES, HON MANY YEARS DED
		DED HCAU FA	9087		FOLITANE THEM?
		01003	Week (O 1 year or less
STRESS-TARS 1	21	47 04 00 6 i	a weak		C 2 to 4 years
STRESS-TARS	1116 01				O 5 years or more
		2 a da			
		Q30(1)	xe a day		
	0.	Q 110 3 i	i wook		C 1 year or less
THERAPEUTIC, THERAGRAN TO		ko → 0.4 to 6 a	WOOK,		2 2 to 4 years
TPETAGRANTI	PR	Ozada			O b years or more
			re a dax		
		01103	ALL A UAL		O 1 year or less
	0.				2 to 4 years
ONE-A-DAY TYP		va -> Otada			O 5 years or more
DID YOU TAKE A	INV OF THE FO	LLOWING VITAMEN	S OR MR	FRAIS BY ITSEL	F ADOUT 2 YEARS AGO /wf
Inhall conce a need	(A)7				
	1.0	IF YES, HOW MANY TABLETS DED		TES. HOW MANY_	
		YOSI TAKE?		ARS DID VCU	
		O 1 ha 2 a novel.	1.0	ISB. THEME	PER TABLET?
VITAMIN A	ONS	4 10 6 a week		1 year or less	O 5.000 HU resentation and Br h
APP (TSELF)	O Yes -	O I a day		2 to 4 yours	 6.000 to 10.000 LU. 11.000 to 24.000 LU.
		O 2 a day		5 years or rears	 25.000 LU, or reare
		O il primpre a da		a hana ai uana	C Don't know
					O 250 mp (milliptores) or less
	QNS			1 year or lans	O 300 to 500 mg.
VITAMIN C	O Yas mit		100 C	2 10 4 years -	+ 0 600 to 6.000 mg.
(BY ITSELF)				5 years or more	C 5.000 to 9.000 mg.
		O D of rooms a da	Y COL		C 10.000 mp. or more
					O Don't know
		○ 1 90 3 is week.			O 2001U, intervational trans of bit
VITAMN E	O No	4 to 6 a week		1 yokar or loss	C 250 to 600 LU.
(BY /TSELF)	○ Yes →		-	2 to 4 years -	
		Q 2 a day		5 years or more	1,250 LU. or reane
		O 3 or more a da			Q Port know
POLATE OR	ON	A to 6 in week			O 250 mog (micrograma) or la
FOLIC ACID	O Yes	Olacher	24.8	1 year or loss 2 to 4 years -	Q 400 to 600 mop.
(BY /TSELP)		Ozatha		5 years or more	 700 to 800 mop.
		O.3.or more a de		D YNWS OF THEFT.	O 1,000 mog. or mone
		O 1 to 3 a whole	. North Course		O 250 mg swillgrams) or less
CALCEUM	O No	O 4 to 6 a week		1 year or less	 200 to 600 mg.
(BY (TSELF)	O Yes ->		O	7 to 4 years -	 O 625 to 1,000 ma
		O 2 o day		5 years or more	O 1,250 mg, or mena
		Q 3 or more a sta			O Don't know
SELENUM	O No	Q4106.a.wook		1 year or less	
(BY ITSELF)	○ Yee →	Otaday	+ 0	210.4 years -	 O 200 to 225 mog.
		020.634		5 years or room	O 250 mop. or more
		O 3 or more a da			
	O No.	C 1 to 3 a week			O 50 mg. (milligsares) or loss
ITON	$\otimes^{N_2}_{Yes} \rightarrow$	0 4 to 6 a week		1 year or less	C 51 to 150 mg
(UY ITSELF)	·····	O 2 a day		2334 years -	
		O 2 a day O 3 or more a da		5 years or more	O Don't know







